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Eesti Energia
2019

4 business lines
•
•
•
•

customer services
renewable energy
large-scale energy production
network services

~ 5000 employees

2 times
less carbon emissions

~3 times
more renewable
energy

956 million euros
revenue for 2019

6 home markets
•
•
•
•
•
•

Estonia
Latvia
Lithuania
Poland
Finland
Sweden

23 million euros
net profit for 2019
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BUSINESS
LINES

LARGE-SCALE ENERGY PRODUCTION 1. Oil shale mines I 2. Thermal power plants I 3. Oil plants
RENEWABLE ENERGY 4. Hydro power plant I 5. Cogeneration plants I 6. Wind farms I 7. Solar power plants I 8. Pellet factory

NETWORK SERVICES 9. Electricity distribution network
CUSTOMER SERVICES 10. Sales of electricity and gas solutions

Chairman’s
letter
Almost three times more renewable energy
and two times less carbon emissions – in
2019 we made rapid progress towards
making the world a cleaner place.

HANDO SUTTER
Chairman of the
Management Board

Last year, for the first time, our electricity sales across our home markets exceeded our electricity output. We increased retail sales primarily
in Lithuania and Poland and began selling electricity to households in
Latvia, where we attracted 10,000 new customers.
In our energy production operations, renewable energy became the
driving force, its output growing over two and a half times. Consistent
with our growth plan, we acquired 20 solar parks in Poland and
entered the Polish renewable energy market.

We began selling household customers in Estonia and Latvia a solar
energy solution, which quickly gained popularity. Among other benefits,
it offers them an opportunity to participate in the reduction of the
ecological footprint. Also, during the year the number of households
that buy from us electricity produced solely from renewable sources
rose to around 25,000.
The share of electricity produced from renewable and alternative
sources increased to 36% of our total output, moving us closer to our
goal of reaching the 45% milestone by 2023.
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For the execution of further renewable energy development plans,
the owner has granted us permission to list a non-controlling stake in
the subsidiary Enefit Green on the stock exchange. We will announce
our next steps when the time is ripe. We have built a strong renewable
energy portfolio over the years and by realising it we wish to continue
to expand our renewable energy production in all our home markets.
In 2019, a key factor in our operating environment was the CO2
emission allowance price, which surged by almost 60% to 25 euros per
tonne on average. The high level of the carbon allowance price had a
positive effect on the profitability of renewable energy but undermined
the competitiveness of electricity produced from oil shale.

We reduced our CO2 emissions by around 50%.
Last year, the Baltic and Finnish electricity market was distorted by
increasing imports from third countries, which exceeded 15 TWh, setting
a new record. Electricity sourced from Russia and Belarus accounted
already for over 30% of the Baltic electricity consumption. Electricity
exempt from carbon tax constitutes a significant distortion of competition, which has a negative impact on the investment environment of
the energy sector and all producers that observe the environmental
regulations of the European Union.
The situation is a clear example of carbon leakage. The Estonian
government, the transmission system operator and the European
Commission are all aware of and acknowledge the market distortion
issue but have not been able to resolve or alleviate it. Instead, in 2019
the situation exacerbated.

In an environment where the average market prices of electricity were
lower and CO2 emission allowance prices higher than a year earlier,
we reduced the volume of electricity produced from oil shale at our
Estonian large-scale energy production units around two times.
Abrupt changes in the operating environment required swift restructuring – we had to adjust our mining and production volumes and
human resource to market conditions and our owner’s expectations.
On the other hand, our hybrid power plants were able to produce more
renewable energy from wood waste on market terms.
Through the progress made towards our strategic goals of reducing
the direct burning of oil shale in electricity production and increasing
the output of shale oil and renewable energy, in 2019 we reduced our
CO2 emissions by around 50%, helping Estonia move far ahead of the
European Union’s schedule for reducing carbon emissions.
Eesti Energia will remain on its chosen course: we will continue
increasing our renewable energy production capacities, expanding
shale oil production and developing the circular economy.
Last year our shale oil output broke a new record. Market forecasts
predicting a rise in liquid fuel consumption and improvements in
the reliability and availability of our existing oil plants have given us
confidence to build another Enefit technology-based oil plant by 2024.
By doing this, we will also meet the target of increasing the coproduction of oil, electricity and gas, as set out in the national development
plan for the energy sector, without breaching the European Union’s
climate policy.
Eesti Energia can use old tyres, which to date have been a major
environmental problem, as a raw material in shale oil production and
is exploring opportunities for using plastic waste in oil production.
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We are making every effort to become a regional leader in the
circular economy.
To supply the market with low-sulphur liquid fuels, we are planning to
build a shale oil pre-refining facility in partnership with other Estonian
oil producers. The project is currently in the preliminary design phase.
Eesti Energia’s long-term experience and extensive expertise in
adding value to oil shale attract international attention, which opens
up knowledge export opportunities. We have signed a licensing and
consulting services agreement for an Enefit280 oil plant with an Israeli
company. We are also conducting geological surveys and analyses
of Turkish oil shale at the request of Turkish state-owned enterprises,
which may result in the sale of a licence to the Enefit technology.

To create synergies with the electricity distribution network, we have
started building a high-speed internet network in Estonia. On the new
network, services will be provided by over ten telecommunication
operators. In the first year of construction, we made connection to the
telecommunication network available to more than 9,000 customers.
By 2023 we wish to make our high-speed internet network available to
around 200,000 households and corporate customers.
We are a recognised trend-setter in the field of digital network and
customer service solutions. For further development and export of our
digital energy and electricity network management solutions, we have
entered into a partnership with the global technology company Microsoft. Our main focus is on the development of the electricity distribution
network, convenient customer services and electromobility solutions.

A new focus area for our distribution network operator is integrated
management of multiple infrastructures, including the electricity,
telecommunication, electric vehicle charging and smart street lighting
networks. This enables us to offer our customers more convenient and
efficient services.

Customers have saved millions of euros on
network charges.

We acquired a public electric vehicle charging network in Estonia at
the end of 2019. We expect that the use of electric vehicles will grow
rapidly in the near future. Thus, we will offer fast chargers and will
develop a new user-friendly customer service environment. By supporting the development of electromobility, Eesti Energia helps reduce
the carbon emissions of the transportation sector.

The first application for which we wish to find an international market
is the digital electricity testing solution Elektritest. The solution enables
households and corporate customers to determine the load of the main
circuit breaker within minutes. The solution was launched in the global
sales channel at the end of 2019. Hence, we can say that we have
started offering software solutions, which are based on our expertise,
on a global scale.

For several years, we have reduced the price of the distribution
service. As a result, customers have saved tens of millions of euros
on network charges. We have been able to lower the price thanks to
Elektrilevi’s operating efficiency, a favourable interest rate environment
and general growth in economic activity, which has increased distribution volumes.

We systematically collect ideas and identify innovative business
opportunities through an idea bank. In 2019, we organised the second
international idea competition Enefit Idea Hub – The Pitch. The winning
idea was a remotely-controlled main circuit breaker that can, among
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other things, prevent and resolve the issue of additional network loads
caused by the increasing use of electric vehicles.
Electricity networks across the world are facing major challenges as
the growth in electric vehicles, heating equipment and other large
consumers requires them to find smart load regulation solutions.
To better achieve our strategic goals and speed up the decision-making
process, we set up a strategic management team in 2019. In addition to
the members of the management board it includes the directors and
heads of our business and functional units.
We now manage not only the customer experience but also the
employee experience in a more aware and systematic manner so as to
recruit and retain the best talent, remain competitive and up-to-date,
and offer attractive professional challenges.

We position ourselves increasingly as an energy solutions provider.
In 2020, we are planning to surprise customers with several new
services. We believe that as energy professionals we can offer the best
cutting-edge technological solutions in a rapidly changing world.
I am grateful to all our customers for their continued trust and to our
employees and management team for their hard work and relentless
commitment to Eesti Energia in a year full of change.

HANDO SUTTER
Chairman of the Management Board
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KEY FIGURES AND RATIOS
Total electricity sales*, of which
wholesale sales*
retail sales
Electricity distributed

2015

2016

2017

2018

2019

7,698

8,956

9,364

9,248

8,644

GWh

1,823

2,760

3,161

2,606

1,130

GWh

5,875

6,196

6,203

6,642

7,514

GWh

6,337

6,616

6,757

6,945

6,878

GWh

’000 tonnes

315

302

370

393

436

GWh

1,018

1,148

986

983

819

Average number of employees

No.

6,289

5,696

5,708

5,678

5,300

Revenue

m€

776.7

742.1

753.9

875.3

956.4

EBITDA

m€

265.8

327.3

264.2

283.2

259.8

Operating profit

m€

57.2

183.9

128.4

128.7

71.9

Net profit

m€

40.5

171.0

100.8

106.2

23.2

Investments

m€

245.6

140.7

144.0

194.6

136.0

Cash flow from operating activities

m€

307.7

200.3

268.8

166.3

147.6

FFO

m€

239.6

278.1

227.3

187.0

223.3

Non-current assets

m€

2,552.5

2,550.6

2,550.3

3,074.6

3,036.7

Equity

m€

1,571.9

1,698.0

1,763.9

1,859.6

1,801.6

Net debt

m€

792.0

716.6

582.4

1,048.1

1,101.2

Net debt / EBITDA

times

3.0

2.2

2.2

3.7

4.2

FFO / net debt

times

0.30

0.39

0.39

0.18

0.2

FFO / interest cover

times

6.4

7.7

6.6

5.1

6.5

EBITDA / interest cover

Shale oil sales
Heat sales

times

7.1

9.0

7.7

7.8

7.6

Leverage

%

33.5

29.7

24.8

36.0

37.9

ROIC

%

2.4

7.8

5.5

5.4

2.5

EBITDA margin

%

34.2

44.1

35.0

32.4

27.2

Operating profit margin

%

7.4

24.8

17.0

14.7

7.5

*In 2015-2018 the figure includes the Auvere power plant’s total sales volume (the Group’s revenue does not include the Auvere power plant’s variable electricity production costs and revenue
from the sale of electricity to the extent that these have been capitalised).

9

| Eesti Energia Annual Report | Key figures and ratios |

Operating
environment
Eesti Energia’s operations and performance are
affected by both global and regional factors. Above
all, our business is influenced by oil, electricity
and emission allowance prices, competition
in the energy and customer services
markets, regulations governing the
energy sector and the growing
competitiveness of renewable
energy technologies.
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In 2019, the following developments affected the profitability
of Eesti Energia’s core products:

Average electricity price (€/MWh)

2019

2018

Change

Estonia

45.9

47.1

-2.6%

• electricity prices decreased compared with 2018;
• emission allowance prices grew by around a half year on year;
• the world market prices of oil products decreased compared
with 2018.

Latvia

46.3

49.9

-7.2%

Lithuania

46.1

50.1

-7.7%

Poland

55.2

52.5

+5.9%

Finland

44.0

46.8

-5.9%

Sweden

38.5

44.8

-14.1%

Norway

38.9

43.6

-10.9%

Denmark

39.2

45.1

-13.2%

According to the International Monetary Fund, the world economy
grew by 3% in 2019.

Electricity prices predominantly
decreased
Our performance is affected the most by electricity prices in Estonia,
Latvia, Lithuania and Poland because in those countries we both
produce and sell electricity. In addition, we sell electricity in Finland and Sweden.
The electricity markets of Estonia and its neighbouring countries are
well connected via interconnectors. Therefore, electricity production
and prices are also affected by various factors outside our home
markets, such as water levels at Norwegian hydropower plants and
wind conditions in Denmark.

The main factors that influenced the electricity price in 2019 were
weather conditions and the resulting rise in the level of the Nordic
water reservoirs, unscheduled and scheduled power plant maintenance
in the Baltics, the price of CO2 emission allowances and transmission
capacity limitations between Norway and Sweden.
In 2019, the average level of the Nordic water reservoirs was 59.9% of
the maximum, i.e. 2.8% higher than in 2018. This caused a year-on-year
decline in electricity prices.
The average electricity prices in Latvia and Lithuania are higher
than those in Estonia and the Nordic countries because historically
Latvia and Lithuania have consumed more electricity than they
have produced and the capacity of their electricity interconnectors
is limited. After a long time, 2019 was the first year when Estonia
imported more electricity than it exported. Therefore, the gap between
the average electricity price in Estonia and those in Latvia and
Lithuania has narrowed.
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Eesti Energia’s clean spread (the margin between the electricity price
and CO2 costs) for the year was 20.7 €/MWh (-8.8 €/MWh compared
with 2018). The decrease in the clean spread reflects a rise in CO2 costs
(+7.6 €/MWh compared with 2018) and a decrease in electricity prices
(-1.2 €/MWh compared with 2018).
Eesti Energia’s clean dark spread (CDS) for 2019 was 2.0 €/MWh (-9.9
€/MWh compared with 2018).

Weekly levels of Nordic water reservoirs
% of maximum

100
80
60
40
20
0
1

6

11

16

21

Historical median (1997-2018)

26

31

Year 2018

36

41

46

51

Year 2019
Source: Nord Pool

Eesti Energias' carbon free spreads' and Clean Dark Spreads'
relation to Estonian electricity price
€/MWh

60
40
20
0
-20

2017
Estonian average
electricity price

2018
Clean spread

2019

2020

Clean Dark Spread
Source: Nord Pool, Eesti Energia
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in connection with attacks on Saudi Arabia’s oil facilities. At the end of
the year, the price of crude oil increased in connection with the trade
dispute between the US and China, the tensions between the US and
Iran and the likelihood that OPEC’s agreement to curb oil production
would be extended.
The average price of Brent crude oil was 64.1 USD/bbl in 2019, 10.6%
lower than in 2018 (-7.6 USD/bbl).

The world market prices of oil
products decreased
A widely-traded oil product that is closest to our shale oil is fuel oil
with 1% sulphur content whose price depends mainly on the price of
Brent crude oil.
At the beginning of 2019, the price of Brent crude oil rose, driven by the
easing of the trade war between the US and China, the agreement of
OPEC members to cut oil production by 1.2 million barrels per day and
the sanctions against Iran and Venezuela.
In the middle of the year, the price of Brent crude oil dropped in
response to expectations of growth in Russian and Norwegian exports
and a slowdown in economic growth.
In the second half of the year, the price of Brent crude oil dropped even
further due to growing US oil inventories. The price recovered slightly

In the second half of 2019, the market price of fuel oil with 1% sulphur
content increased, driven by the regulation of the International
Maritime Organization (IMO) that imposes a tighter cap on the sulphur
content of marine fuels as from 2020. The average price of fuel
oil with 1% sulphur content was 341.9 €/t in 2019, 2.7% (+9.0 €/t)
higher than in 2018.
Liquid fuels prices
USD/bbl

€/t

120

762

100

635

80

508

60

381

40

254

20

127

0

0

2017
Brent crude (USD/bbl)

2018

2019
Fuel oil 1% (€/t)

2020
Source: Platts
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CO2 emission allowance prices grew
by around a half

Prices of CO2 emission allowances
€/t

35
30

The price of CO2 emission allowances has a strong impact on the cost
of electricity produced by direct burning of oil shale, particularly in the
case of our older production facilities whose carbon intensity is higher.
Its impact on the competitiveness of our renewable energy production
units, however, is positive.
The upswing in the market price of CO2 emission allowances began
to slow in 2019. In the first quarter, the price dropped to 20 €/t due to
a decline in the price of natural gas, which reduced demand for CO2
emission allowances, and uncertainties surrounding Brexit and the
UK’s exit from the emissions trading system. Since Brexit did not take
place, the market price of CO2 emission allowances began to rise. A
warm summer increased demand for electricity and the low level of the
Nordic water reservoirs reduced the offering of more favourably priced
electricity. In an environment of high electricity prices, there was also
room in the market for more CO2 intensive production capacities and,
thus, in the third quarter the price of CO2 emission allowances rose to
almost 30 €/t. The price of carbon allowances stabilised at the end of
the year, remaining at around 25 €/t.
In 2019, the average CO2 emission allowance price was 24.9 €/t, 59.4%
higher than in 2018 (+9.3 €/t).

Renewable energy markets and
regulations are changing
Renewable energy auctions in our home markets, new environmental
regulations driving the transition to cleaner energy production and associated changes in taxation facilitate growth in renewable energy output.

25
20
15
10
5
0

2017

2018

2019

2020

Source: Intercontinental Exchange

Governments support renewable energy development mostly by
organising public reverse auctions. In 2019, Lithuania announced a
reverse auction for the production of 300 GWh of wind power per year
and Estonia the first reverse auction for the production of renewable
energy of up to 5 GWh per year by installations with a capacity of
50 kW to 1 MW. Poland arranged separate reverse auctions for the
production of 750 MW of renewable energy by installations with a
capacity of less than 1 MW and the production of 2200 MW by large
onshore wind farms. Finland announced the results of its first reverse
auction for procuring 1,400 GWh of electricity derived from renewable
sources per year. Finland has stated that according to plan in the future
renewable energy investments will be made without reverse auctions
organised by the state.
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Our long-term
plan
Our strategy is focused on the customer –
delivering useful, convenient and innovative
energy solutions as well as increasingly
higher-quality and reasonably-priced
network service.

The energy industry is undergoing the fastest transition in history.
Change is driven by new technologies and an understanding that the
environmental footprint of energy production must decrease. This means
reducing carbon emissions (CO2) as well as all other emissions and
environmental impacts. The process is accelerated by the integration of
regional energy markets and increasing competition.

To succeed in a changing environment, we have developed a strategy
that is focused on meeting our customers’ and owner’s expectations.
Eesti Energia’s ambition is to provide customers with innovative digital
energy solutions that allow consuming energy flexibly and sustainably.
At the same time, we produce energy in ways that are increasingly
cleaner. We believe that this is how we, along with our customers, can
contribute to making the world a cleaner place.

In updating our strategy, we used the following assumptions:
• Customers expect simplicity and convenience. Besides quality

service and a reasonable price, customers appreciate a personal approach – they seek products and services that meet their
consumption habits. The market and evolving technologies offer
customers increasingly more opportunities that can be harnessed
with a professional partner.
• The number of electricity producers is increasing. Customers

prioritise clean energy and look for opportunities to produce it
themselves. The emergence of producing consumers is a challenge not only for large electricity producers and traders but also
for the distribution network operator because historically distribution networks have not been developed with the expectation that
consumers would start selling electricity back to the network.

• Electrification is gaining momentum. Electrification is the

fastest way to reduce carbon emissions. We are preparing for a
surge in the number of electric vehicles. This will create demand
for new services, including battery charging facilities in public
car parks, homes and workplaces. The importance of electricity
in the provision of heating solutions is also going to increase
substantially.
• Renewable energy is becoming increasingly more competitive.

In energy production, we see the largest growth in the wind
and solar sectors. Soon it will be possible to expand renewable
energy production without subsidies, i.e. based on market prices.
Large consumers’ interest in purchasing renewable energy by
signing direct contracts with wind farm developers will increase.

16

| Eesti Energia Annual Report | Our long term plan |

Customer services

Renewable energy

Growing in the energy markets of the Baltic Sea region

Increasing production capacities several times

We will provide energy solutions to one million
customers in the Baltic Sea region, helping them use
energy more smartly and sustainably.

The share of electricity produced from renewable and
alternative sources will account for 45% of our output.
Wind energy will be the main source of growth.

Our key goals for 2023
Large-scale energy production
Reducing carbon emissions and building
the circular economy
The output of liquid fuels will grow one and a half times
while carbon emissions will decrease two times. We
will be the driving force behind the development of the
circular economy in the Baltic Sea region.

Network services
Improving network quality and widening
the range of services
The average duration of electricity supply
interruptions will decrease by a fourth.
A high-speed internet network will also be available
in Estonia’s sparsely populated areas.
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Customer
Services

FACTS

We sell electricity, heat, gas and energy solutions to
both household and corporate customers.
We offer customer services in Estonia, Latvia,
Lithuania, Poland, Finland and Sweden.
Our priority is to harness our extensive
customer base and market intelligence
to develop user-friendly and
efficient digital services.

• We have more than 610,000 customers
• In terms of electricity sales, our market
share is 60% in Estonia, 14% in Latvia
and 8% in Lithuania
• In Estonia, Latvia, Lithuania and
Poland, we also sell gas

5%

2019
share of
services

Solar power

Lighting solutions

We offer our customers the best solar
energy solutions. We help them produce
100% clean renewable energy, achieve
cost savings and grow the value of their
real estate.

We offer our business customers an
opportunity to modernise their lighting
systems and gain energy savings
without making an investment. We offer
street lighting service to local
governments.

Electromobility
We are developing electric vehicle
charging solutions that will take the
user-friendliness of the service to a new
level and foster wider implementation of
electric vehicles.

Heating and cooling
solutions
We develop services that
heat and cool our customers’
homes more smartly and efficiently.

95%

36%

2023
share of
services

64%

Electricity and gas
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Renewable energy
Our renewable energy production sources are
the most diverse in the Baltic Sea region.
We produce energy from wind, sun, biomass,
municipal waste and water.

FACTS
• 398 MW of wind power production capacity
• 26 MW of solar power production capacity
• 25 MW of electricity production capacity
in cogeneration plants
• 85 MW of heat production capacity
from renewable sources

• Development project
•
•
•
•
We see the strongest potential for developing renewable energy in Estonia,
Lithuania, Poland and Finland. We are planning to build at least three wind
farms in Finland and Lithuania in the next few years. In Estonia, we hope to
continue with the construction of the Tootsi wind farm.
To achieve our target, we plan to participate in renewable energy auctions and
sign electricity sale contracts with large consumers in the construction phase of
wind farms. This way, we will offer an opportunity to consume local renewable
energy and provide our customers with a long-term sense of security about
their electricity price. We wish to increase our solar power production capacity
to 74 MW in our home markets. We expect that a significant share of our solar
power production capacity will be located at the customers’ places of
consumption.
To carry out the planned development activities, the owner has granted
Eesti Energia permission to list a non-controlling stake in the Group’s
renewable energy entity on the stock exchange.

Solar power plants
Wind parks
Hydro power plant
Cogeneration plants

• Cogeneration plants
• Pellet factory
• Wind parks
• Solar power plants
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Large-scale energy
production

FACTS
Output 2019
• 4.2 TWh of electricity, incl 183 GWh
of renewable energy
• 442 thousand tonnes of liquid fuels
• 10 million tonnes of oil shale

Our large-scale energy production facilities are located in the
northeast part of Estonia, in Ida-Viru county, where we are
one of the largest employers. The business line comprises
three production entities: the mining entity Enefit
Kaevandused, the energy production entity Enefit
Energiatootmine and the technical solutions
provider Enefit Solutions.

H
In developing large-scale energy
production, in the near term we
will focus on increasing the
cogeneration of shale oil, gas and
electricity, developing the circular
economy and expanding the
production of renewable energy at
our thermal power plants.

We can produce energy not only
from oil shale but also biomass,
peat, oil shale gas, and tyre
chips. Our electricity production
operations, which can respond
flexibly to market conditions and
demand, add the necessary
dispatchability to the power
system.

We are planning to refine oil by
hydrotreatment, which allows
producing fuel that is five times
cleaner than required by
regulations. The planned
pre-refining facility will increase
the profitability of the state’s
important export item even further.

Through the circular economy, we can
also offer environmental solutions to
other sectors of the economy: oil shale
ash can be used in agriculture and
construction, limestone in major infrastructure projects, old tyres in the production of liquid fuels, and wood waste in
the production of renewable energy.
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Network services
Our distribution network operator Elektrilevi
ensures increasingly more reliable and
favourably priced service.

FACTS
• Our customers include 471,881 households and
34,765 companies
• We have 23,679 substations, 229 area and 215
distribution substations, 40,000 km of
weatherproof power lines and 20,000 km of
bare conductor lines
• 68% of our low- and medium-voltage network
is weatherproof
• Within 10 years, the number of supply
interruptions has decreased 3 times

100% smart network
61,000 km of lines
500,000 customers

We use data analytics in planning network
investments because this allows us to
improve the operational reliability of the
network for the largest number of customers. We also encourage customers to use
network capacity in line with their actual
needs.

We will make a modern high-speed internet
network available to 200,000 customers in
sparsely populated areas. In collaboration
with local governments, we will install tens
of thousands of energy efficient street lights.
We will build new fast charging points for
electric vehicles.

Through integrated management of multiple
infrastructures and the provision of new
services, we can continue to provide reasonably
priced distribution service to customers and
maintain the company’s profitability in a situation
where revenue from the electricity distribution
business is not growing.
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Eesti Energia’s
journey in 2019
The year was transformative and
challenging but we are confident that we can
offer our customers the best technological
solutions in a rapidly changing world.
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Et mõista veel paremini, mis kliendile korda läheb ja kus on meie
õpikohad, küsime korrapäraselt klientide tagasisidet. Kliendikogemust
mõõdame soovitusindeksi abil. Tagasiside põhjal on kodu- ja äriklientide rahulolu aastaga kasvanud. Ühtlasi kaasame kliente uute energiateenuste testimisse, et tagada teenuste vastavus klientide ootustele.
Customer experience (NPS) in Estonian market

2019

2018

NPS

50
38
25

Suurepärase kliendikogemuse tagab
lihtsus, mugavus ja personaalsus
Pakume lihtsaid ja mugavaid energialahendusi oma klientidele Eestis,
Lätis, Leedus, Poolas, Soomes ja Rootsis. Usume, et klientide hoidmisel ja uute juurde võitmisel on võtmeks suurepärane kliendikogemus.
2019. aastal alustasime elektri müüki Läti koduklientidele, enne
Exceptional
customer experience is
seda pakkusime seal elektrit ja energiateenuseid vaid äriklientidele. Võitsime kiiresti turuby
usalduse
– aasta lõpuks
oli meil Lätis ligi
underpinned
simple,
convenient
10 000 koduklienti.
and
personal service
We offer simple and convenient energy solutions to our customers
in Estonia, Latvia, Lithuania, Poland, Finland and Sweden. We believe
that exceptional customer experience is the key to winning and
retaining customers.
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In
2019, we
beganfarms
to sell electricity to household customers in
Growth
of solar
Latvia.
Previously,
we
offered electricity and energy services in that
MW
24.6
market
to corporate customers only. We quickly
gained market
26
confidence
– by the year-end we had around 10,000 household
19.5
customers
in
Latvia.
13
7

6.5better understand what matters to our customers and identify our
To
learning
points, we regularly request customer feedback. We measure
0
2019
customer experience with 2018
the Net Promoter
Score (NPS). According to
feedback, both household and corporate customers’ satisfaction with
our services has improved year-on-year. We also involve customers
in testing new energy services to make sure
that
our aastaaruanne
services meet
| Eesti
Energia
| Eesti energia teekond 2019. aastal |
customers’ expectations.
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Customer experience (NPS) in Estonian market

2018

2019

NPS

50

Green energy is attractive
Climate change was one of the hottest topics of public debate in 2019.
Social and political pressure for the European Union’s transition to a
low-carbon economy grew. Eesti Energia and its customers can be
trailblazers in this field.

Suurepärase kliendikogemuse tagab
lihtsus, mugavus ja personaalsus

Pakume lihtsaid ja mugavaid energialahendusi oma klientidele Eestis,
We are making our energy production cleaner and offer digital soluLätis, Leedus, Poolas, Soomes ja Rootsis. Usume, et klientide hoidmitions that help our customers reduce their environmental footprint.
sel ja uute juurde võitmisel on võtmeks suurepärane kliendikogemus.
In 2019, interest in solar power increased and the volume of solar
2019. aastal alustasime elektri müüki Läti koduklientidele, enne
energy produced by our customers grew substantially, rising to
seda pakkusime seal elektrit ja energiateenuseid vaid äriklienti8.6 GWh. A complete solar energy solution is a simple way for
dele. Võitsime kiiresti turu usalduse – aasta lõpuks oli meil Lätis ligi
households to produce green energy and consume it without paying
10 000 koduklienti.
network charges. We launched an instalment plan solution in 2019
so that customers would not have to make a massive outlay for the
installation of solar panels.
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Installation of solar panels on the roof of
Tasku Centre in Tartu
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fluctuations and power outages. The solution is based
on supercapacitors, batteries, a generator and automated
control. We offer the new service to hospitals, production
companies and other entities whose high-tech equipment is
sensitive even to the smallest voltage fluctuation.

Roheline energia on atraktiivne

Our new
digital
electricity
testing
solution Elektritest
enables Ühis2019.
aasta
üks olulisim
avalik
aruteluteema
oli kliimamuutused.
households
and corporate
customers
determinekiiremaks
the load of
the
kondlik
ja poliitiline
surve Euroopa
Liidutomajanduse
liikumimainvähese
circuit breaker
within minutes.
getkasvas.
recommendations
foron
seks
süsinikuheitmega
ajastuUsers
suunas
Eesti Energial
reducingühes
or increasing
the amperage
of their main
võimalik
oma klientidega
võtta eestvedaja
roll.circuit breaker and
ensuring a more even distribution of the load. By choosing the right
Muudame oma energiatootmist puhtamaks ja aitame digitaalsete
main circuit breaker, customers can avoid unexpected power outages
lahenduste abil ka oma klientidel keskkonnajalajälge vähendada.
and reduce their network charges.
Huvi päikeseelektri vastu suurenes 2019. aastal hüppeliselt ja meie
In 2019, the price of the distribution service decreased by 8.3% on
klientide toodetud päikeseelektri maht kasvas aastaga mitukümmend
average. As a result, customers paid 19 million euros less in network
korda 8,6 GWh-ni. Päikeseenergia terviklahendus on kodumajapicharges than in 2018. The price could be lowered thanks to a favourable interest rate environment and growth in distribution volumes.

Increasing the quality of our electricity
distribution service
Customers expect from our distribution network operator Elektrilevi
increasingly more reliable and favourably priced service. Due to low
population density, however, roughly 60% of the distribution network
caters to around 5% of consumption only. This is a serious challenge
for the efficiency of the distribution service.
Last year we built 1065 km of new power lines and 271 substations.
Elektrilevi continues to consistently renew its distribution network so
that by 2025 75% of the network would be weather-proof.
We have developed a solution for corporate customers that ensures
high-quality electricity supply in any weather and prevents voltage

damistele lihtne võ
tarbida. Et klient ei
suurt summat inve
maksulahendusega

Ka meie rohelise en
lientide arv, kes ost
toodetud elektrit, k

Average price of the distribution service
€/MWh

37.0

36.6

35.5
34.6
34.0
32.5
31.0

31.9

2017

2018

2019

25

| Eesti Energia aastaaruanne | Eesti energia teekond 2019. aastal |

infrastructure that incorporates all of the above network
services. We expect that in the future convenient integrated
management of multiple infrastructures will become standard
practice for both real estate developers and network operators.
In Estonia, we offer street lighting system operation and maintenance
service in the cities of Tallinn and Tartu. During the year we improved
the street lights of Tartu and the Lithuanian cities of Tauragė and
Kalvarija by replacing old light sources with new energy efficient LED
lights. The average energy cost saving is around 40%.

On our high-speed internet network, the
customer can choose the service provider.

Developing new services along with network
infrastructure
We have taken the next steps in developing new infrastructure
management services. Integrated management of multiple infrastructures, including the electricity, telecommunication, electric vehicle
charging and smart street lighting networks, means more convenient
and efficient services for our customers.
In 2019, we launched a pilot project in the Tiskreoja community near
Tallinn, where consumers can now benefit from the first integrated

To create synergies with the electricity distribution network, we
have started building a high-speed internet network that will make
high-speed data communication, which is a must in modern society,
available even in the most sparsely populated areas of Estonia. On
the new network, customer services will be provided by up to 12
telecommunication operators. In the first year of construction, we
made connection to the telecommunication network available to more
than 9,000 customers. By 2023 we wish to make our high-speed
internet network available to around 200,000 households and
corporate customers.
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Preparing for growth in the number of electric vehicles
By supporting the development of electromobility, i.e. the use of
electric vehicles, Eesti Energia helps reduce the carbon emissions
of the transportation sector. We expect that by 2025 the price of
conventional and electric cars will have equalised. It is forecast that
by 2040 already 55% of all new cars sold in the world will be electric
cars. We have started preparing for the future.
We acquired a public electric vehicle charging network in 2019. We
are planning to upgrade the network consisting of 167 charging points
by implementing fast and super-fast chargers and a new user-friendly
customer service environment.
We are also developing other innovative services aimed at owners of
electric vehicles. Customers may expect from us a two-way charging
solution, which will allow them to make money with their electric

vehicles. When weather conditions favour the production of wind and
solar energy, the electricity price is lower and charging the battery
more beneficial for the customer. When the supply of renewable
energy decreases and the electricity price goes up, renewable electricity stored in vehicle batteries can be supplied back to the network,
enabling the owner to benefit from electricity price fluctuations.

Widening the offering of off-grid solutions
We continued to offer off-grid solutions, which in sparsely populated
areas are a good alternative to the construction of power lines, which
is capital-intensive. An off-grid solution consisting of solar panels, a
battery bank, a smart management system and a back-up generator
produces the necessary electricity on the customer’s premises.
We offer off-grid solutions not only in Estonia but also in other
countries: for example, in 2019 we won a procurement of off-grid
solutions in Lithuania.
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II Energiatootmine muutub
puhtamaks
Eesti Energia on Baltimaade kõige mitmekesisema tootmisportfelliga
energiaettevõte. Toodame elektrit, vedelkütuseid ja soojust ning
kasutame selleks põlevkivi, põlevkivigaasi, tuult, vett, biomassi,
päikest, vanarehve ja jäätmeid. Võrreldes varasema aastaga tootsime 2019. aastal ligi 4 korda rohkem taastuvelektrit. Taastuvatest ja
alternatiivsetest allikatest toodetud elektri osakaal kasvas meie
kogutoodangus 35%-le.

Energy production is
Taastuvenergia üha suurenev toodang on põlevkivist toodetava
becoming
cleaner
elektri vähenemise
kõrval aidanud
oluliselt vähendada meie tootmi-

se süsinikujalajälge. Eesti Energia CO2 koguemissioon vähenes aasta
Eesti Energia has the most diverse range of energy production sources
varasemaga võrreldes 50% ehk 5 miljoni tonnini.
among Baltic energy companies. We produce electricity, shale oil and
heat from oil shale, oil shale gas, wind, water, biomass, sun, old tyres
Tänu väga kiiretele muutustele meie energiatootmises on Eesti riigist
and municipal
waste.süsinikuheite
In 2019 our renewable
saanud Euroopa
Liidu kiireim
vähendaja.electricity
Riigi CO2 output increased
almost
3
times
compared
to
2018.
The
share
of
koguemissioon vähenes 2019. aastal ligi veerandi võrra. electricity
Eesti on produced
from
renewable
alternative
36% of our total
juba lähiajal
täitmas
2030.and
aastaks
seatudsources
riiklikkuincreased
eesmärkitovähendada emissioone
võrreldes
1990.
aastaga
70%
võrra,
mis
on
Eurooelectricity output.
pa Liidus seatud 50–55% sihist kaugel ees.

Continuous growth in the output of renewable energy and a
decline in the output of electricity produced from oil shale have
helped us significantly reduce the carbon footprint of our production
operations. In 2019, Eesti Energia’s total CO2 emissions decreased by
50% year on year, dropping to 5.9 million tonnes.
Thanks to rapid changes in our energy production activities, Estonia has
become the fastest carbon emission reducer in the European Union. In
2019, the country’s total CO2 emissions decreased by almost a quarter.
Estonia is on track to meet its national target for 2030 already in the
near term. The target is to reduce emissions by 70% compared to 1990,
which is much more ambitious than the European Union’s target of
reducing emissions by 50–55%.

Eesti Energia CO2 emissions
thousand tons
per year
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Keskendume
taastuvenergia
Focusing
on the
developmentarendamisele
of renewable energy
Tuuleenergia tootmise suurendamine on üks meie võtme-eesmärke.
Increasing the production of wind energy is one of our key objectives.
Kõige kaugemale oleme jõudnud projektidega Soomes ja Leedus.
We have made the strongest progress with projects in Finland and
Leedus plaanib meie taastuvenergia ettevõte Enefit Green lähiaastatel
Lithuania. In Lithuania, our renewable energy entity Enefit Green
tootmisvõimsust kolmekordistada ligi 500 MW-ni.
is planning to grow its production capacity significantly in the
next
years.võimalusi tuuleparkide rajamiseks Risti ja KilinEestisfew
uurime
gi-Nõmme lähistele. Soovime jätkuvalt püstitada tuuleparki Tootsi
In Estonia, we are exploring opportunities for building wind farms near
Suursoo alale, kui realiseerub võimalus riigilt selleks vajalik maa
Risti and Kilingi-Nõmme. We are also interested in building a wind
enampakkumisel omandada.
farm on the area of the depleted Tootsi peat bog, assuming we can
acquire
the land
from edasi
the state
in a public
auction.
2019. aastal
liikusime
visiooniga
rajada
lähima kümnendi jooksul
Eestisse vähemalt üks meretuulepark. Avalikustasime Loode-Eesti
rannikumere tuulepargi keskkonnamõju hindamise aruande ning

In June, we signed a contract for the acquisition of 20
solar
with
a total
capacity
of 19 MW
in Poland.
Eestisfarms
toodeti
2018.
aastal
taastuvatest
allikates
elektrienergiat 1662
elektritoodangust

During the year, we moved on with the vision of building at least one
offshore wind farm in Estonia in the next decade. We published the
alustasime avalike diskussioonidega. Valitsuse otsus algatada Liivi
environmental impact assessment report of an offshore wind farm in
lahe meretuulepargi hoonestusloa menetlus võimaldab meil jätkata
North-West Estonia and launched relevant public discussions. The
uuringuid ja otsida partnereid Liivi lahte meretuulepargi rajamiseks.
government’s decision to start proceedings for granting the right to
build
offshore
windoma
farmIda-Virumaal
in the Gulf ofpaiknevates
Riga (a superficies
licence)
2019. an
aastal
tootsime
elektrijaamades
allows
us to170
continue
our research and
partners
for building
an
biomassist
GWh taastuvelektrit,
misseek
moodustas
kontserni
taasoffshore wind farm in the Gulf of Riga.

Renewable electricity produced by Eesti Energia
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In 2019, our power plants in Ida-Viru county produced 183 GWh of
renewable energy from biomass, the figure accounting for 14% of our
tuvelektri kogutoodangust 8%. Kasutatud biomassist enam kui 80%
total renewable energy output. Over 80% of the biomass was made
koosnes puidujäätmetest. Taastuvenergia tootmismahu kasvatamiseks
up of waste wood. To increase the production of renewable energy in
suurenergeetikas ehitasime Enefit Energiatootmise territooriumile
our large-scale energy production business, we built a waste wood
puidujäätmete purustamise ja metalli eemaldamise kompleksi. See
shredding and metal removal complex on the premises of our energy
võimaldab tulevikus puidujäätmete kasutust veelgi suurendada.
production entity Enefit Energiatootmine. This will allow us to further
increase
the2019.
use ofaastal
wastePoola
wood.taastuvenergia turule, kus omandasime
Sisenesime
20 päikeseparki koguvõimsusega 19 MW, ja suurendasime nii oma
During the year, we entered the Polish renewable energy market
päikeseelektri portfelli 26 MW-ni.
where we acquire 20 solar farms with a total capacity of 19 MW by
which we increase our total solar power portfolio to 26 MW.
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shale for electricity production to using it
for shale oil production will reduce the carbon
Eesti Energia installed
wind capacities
emissions
of energy(windparks)
production more than threeMW
fold. A favourable outlook has added viability to our
398280 oil plant, which
398
plan of building a new Enefit
should
400
be completed in 2024. We have entered into a partnership with
Estonia’s
largest shale oil producer Viru Keemia Grupp to build a
300
shale oil pre-refining facility in Estonia by 2024. In 2019, we reached
the
preliminary design of the facility.
200

Production fr
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Hydrotreatment
would take the value added created in the oil shale
100
industry to a new level and would allow producing fuel that is five
times
0 cleaner than required by international regulations. According
2018 increase Estonia’s
2019annual
to estimates, the2017
pre-refining facility would
export revenue by 225 million euros, ensuring the state treasury with
90 million euros of tax revenue per year.
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Eesti Energia oil shale production volume
thousand t

Producing a record quantity of shale oil
In 2019, our shale oil output set a new record, rising to 442 thousand
tonnes. Production volume grew thanks to the higher availability of
the Enefit 280 oil plant. In the next few years, the export opportunities
and profitability of Eesti Energia’s shale oil should continue to improve
through a tighter cap on the sulphur content of marine fuels, effective
from 2020, because our shale oil can be used to lower the sulphur
content of shipping fuels.
Long-term growth in global demand supports the expansion of shale
oil production. It should also be noted that the transition from using oil
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In June 2019, Eesti Energia started producing oil from old tyres.

Becoming a regional leader in the circular economy
There is no country in the Baltic Sea area that could create a fully
circular economy on its own because contemporary industrial reuse of
waste assumes major investments and international treaties to ensure
the security of supply.
Eesti Energia can offer reuse solutions for old tyres, limestone, waste
wood, oil shale ash and, in the future, potentially to plastic waste.
Further information on this is provided in the chapter Protecting
the environment.

In 2019, in close collaboration with the Ministry of the Environment, we
obtained an end-of-waste permit from the European Commission and
proved that we can process old tyres together with oil shale to produce
oil on an industrial scale. Next we will acquire a tyre shredding line,
which should be completed by the end of 2020. Our Enefit oil plants
can recycle up to 260,000 tonnes of old tyres per year. This means that
in principle we are able to solve the environmental issue of old tyres for
the entire region.
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Ensuring electricity supply that meets Estonia’s
average consumption

generating units that have been supplied with filters and meet all
applicable environmental requirements.

According to our owner’s expectations, Eesti Energia must maintain
an electricity production capacity of 1,000 MW until 2023. This would
meet Estonia’s average electricity consumption volume. In addition
to the new Auvere power plant and two generating units that were
renovated in the middle of 2000s, we keep in readiness two older

In 2019, we optimised the cost base of large-scale energy production
radically in response to a decrease in the competitiveness of
electricity produced from oil shale. We reviewed operating modes
and schedules and reduced the volume of oil shale mining by a third.
Due to changes in the market environment, we had to reduce the
workforce of all entities involved in large-scale energy production.

Creating new jobs through power plant
maintenance
Thanks to successful bidding, from 2020 we will take over
the maintenance and repair of power plant boilers and
turbines from General Electric. First and foremost, this will
mean greater responsibility and new jobs for our asset
management entity Enefit Solutions. The contract, which
has been signed for two years and amounts to 14 million
euros, will create over 100 new jobs in the Group.
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of our digital energy and electricity network
management solutions, we have entered into
a partnership with the global technology company
Microsoft. The main focus is on the development of
the electricity distribution network, convenient customer
services and electromobility solutions.
The first application for which Microsoft is helping to find an international market is the aforementioned electricity testing solution Elektritest. The solution was included in Microsoft’s global sales channel at the
end of 2019. This means that Eesti Energia has started to offer software
solutions, which are based on its expertise, on a global scale.
Another focus area for our research and development activities is the
entire value chain of oil shale energy: from mining to finding a practical
purpose for the by-products of the use of oil shale. We are exploring

By research and development we
secure the future
To achieve our strategic goals, we collaborate with universities, startups and other companies. Our research and development projects
carried out in cooperation with Tallinn University of Technology
(TalTech) and other Estonian universities are related to new services,
renewable energy, electricity networks and adding value to oil shale.
Eesti Energia is a recognised trend-setter in the field of digital network
and customer service solutions. For further development and export

The main focus is on the development of the
electricity distribution network, convenient
customer services and electromobility solutions.
opportunities for reducing or capturing the CO2 emissions of energy
production at a competitive price.
We are also exploring opportunities for implementing mining robots,
increasing the digitalisation of oil and electricity production operations
and using production waste. The projects include co-heating oil shale
and plastic waste to produce oil, finding different uses for crushed
limestone and using oil shale ash in agriculture as well as a building
material and a raw material in the chemicals industry.

33

| Eesti Energia Annual Report | Eesti Energia’s journey in 2019 |

Geological survey will determine whether
Turkish oil shale can be used for oil production.

gia is the lead partner in the geological survey and analysis undertaken to identify the properties and quality of the oil shale resource in
Turkey. The study involves drilling holes in the ground, taking samples
and analysing the composition of oil shale found at a laboratory.
The work will determine whether Turkish oil shale can be used for
oil production. Under the agreement, Eesti Energia will also act as an
expert in the follow-up activities, which include planning the mine,
designing the oil plant and granting a licence to the Enefit technology.
At the end of 2019, there were also positive developments in Israel
where we signed a licensing and consulting services agreement for an
Enefit 280 oil plant with Rotem Energy Mineral Partnership (REM).

Exporting our expertise
Eesti Energia’s extensive experience and expertise in adding value to
oil shale attract international interest. There are several countries in
the world that wish to survey and exploit their oil shale resources. This
provides us with an opportunity to export our Enefit shale oil production
technology. The value of our technology is increased by the additional
opportunities that it offers: the cogeneration of electricity, gas and shale
oil and the recycling of waste in the production of shale oil.
In 2019, we started close collaboration with the Turkish state-owned
companies Turkish Petroleum and Turkish Coal Enterprises. Eesti Ener-

Offering large consumers favourably priced electricity
in our technology parks
We have been offering large consumers an opportunity to operate
side by side with a power plant for around three years already. This is
an attractive option for companies whose operations require a lot of
electricity. A direct power line to a power plant means that the customer
does not have to pay network charges.
In the past two and a half years, the monthly electricity consumption
of the customers of our Iru and Narva technology parks has risen to 3
GWh. We wish to increase the number of our technology park customers at least three times.
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Jury of the idea competition with
the winner Sander Vahtras.

three broad categories: smart mobility, smart services and smart city.
Out of the 222 ideas submitted, the winner was MultiFuse – a smart
and remote controlled main circuit breaker, which allows selling more
energy and optimising the load of the network.

Raising hundreds of brilliant ideas via the
Enefit Idea Hub
To systematically collect ideas and identify innovative business opportunities, in 2015 we created an idea bank: Enefit Idea Hub. It is a place
where our employees, partners and all others interested in contributing
to the development of the energy sector can submit their ideas.
In 2019, we organised the second international idea competition Enefit
Idea Hub – The Pitch. The purpose was to find innovative ideas for the
development of new services and underlying technical solutions in

According to the author of the idea, Sander Vahtras, Multifuse allows
preventing and resolving the issue of additional network load, which
results from increasing use of electric vehicles. Electricity networks
across the world are facing serious challenges because rapid growth
in the number of electric vehicles, heat installations and other large
consumers has created a need for smart solutions that could regulate
network loads.
The winning idea of the first competition, an automated connection
platform for the distribution service, reached our customers at the
end of 2019. The first service that customers can use allows them to
automatically increase the amperage of their main circuit breaker.
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Protecting the
enviroment
We produce energy increasingly more
cleanly and sustainably and contribute
to the development of Estonia’s
circular economy.
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Increasing the use of limestone
The research carried out by TalTech in 2019 confirmed that limestone
extracted in the process of oil shale mining can be used as an
aggregate in railway and road construction. According to research,
crushed limestone that is a by-product of oil shale enrichment can
also be used in the construction of the Estonian section of the international rail network Rail Baltic. The places and volumes of use of the
material will be specified during the preparation of the main design
documentation.

Historically, the oil shale industry has had a significant impact on
Estonia’s environment. Today, the readings of a permanent ambient
air monitoring station reflect that air quality in Ida-Viru county, where
the facilities of the oil shale industry are located, is not below Estonia’s
overall good level.
Besides increasing the output of renewable energy several times, in
2019 we reduced the production of oil shale electricity by almost a
half. As a result, emissions to air, including CO2 emissions, decreased
by 50% year on year. Further information on this is provided in the
chapter Eesti Energia’s journey in 2019.
Consistent with the principles of the circular economy, we strive to
find the best use for the by-products of energy production.

We are going to build a solar farm on the depleted tunnels of the
Estonia mine, using limestone for the construction of its base structure. We will improve the efficiency indicators of the solar farm by
giving the base structure the necessary tilt angle. We are also planning to build another solar farm and a pumped storage hydropower
plant on the premises of the Estonia mine.

Researches confirm that our limestone can be used
as an aggregate in railway and road construction.

In 2019, we continued to build a theme park featuring various sports
and leisure activities on the limestone hill near the Estonia mine. By
doing this, we can give new life to a previously idle industrial area.

37

| Eesti Energia Annual Report | Protecting the enviroment |

Eesti Energia emissions to air through the years
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of oil shale ash for testing in Sicily’s largest tomato and
cucumber production farm. The condition and fertility of soil
improved but the partner informed us that they would prefer the
product in granulated form. In response to feedback obtained, we
have started working on the granulation of ash.

Increasing the capacity to use waste wood
To increase the renewable energy production capacity of our largescale energy production business line, we implemented a waste wood
shredding and metal removal complex.

Seeking export markets for oil shale ash
The circular use and export prospects of oil shale ash are
supported by a regulation issued by the ministry of the environment that excludes oil shale ashes from the list of hazardous
waste as from 2020.
Although some products made from oil shale ash were also standardised in the past, the removal of oil shale ash from the list of hazardous
waste allows using it more effectively and widely as a building
material, a fertilizer (in agriculture), a raw material for the chemical
industry and a road construction material.
In 2019, Eesti Energia, agricultural producers and scientists set up
an oil shale ash granulation project aimed at expanding the use of oil
shale ash as a fertilizer. We participate in the project as the owner and
potential supplier of the raw material. Last year we sent 35 tonnes

Last year the state announced that in the near term it will start
procuring additional renewable energy using reverse auctions.
According to draft legislation for the amendment of the Electricity
Act, the restriction imposed on Eesti Energia since 2012 will be
removed and provided that we win the procurement we will be able
to further increase our renewable energy output and reduce our
carbon emissions.

Supporting green and sustainable practices in office
buildings
We support and observe the Green Office principles which include
using natural resources efficiently and sustainably, minimising waste
and making the working environment healthier.
In 2019, a Green Office Certificate was awarded to the offices of our
oil plant at Auvere and our mines’ logistics unit at Kohtla-Järve. The
purpose of an environmentally sustainable green office is to continuously monitor and reduce the organisation’s environmental impacts.
As a result, the organisation achieves cost savings, natural resources
are used eco-efficiently, waste is reduced and the workplace
becomes healthier.
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KEY ENVIRONMENTAL FIGURES
2015

2016

2017

2018

2019

OUTPUT
Electricity

7,689

9,071

9,736

9,132

5,549

GWh

361

380

404

483

1,280

GWh

1,288

1,358

1,186

1,199

1,150

GWh

357

412

424

403

534

Liquid fuels

thousand
t

337

318

395

411

442

Oil shale gas

million
m3

95

91

112

108

111

Heat
incl. biomass and waste
energy

RESOURCES USED

2017

2018

2019

SO2

thousand
t

17.5

20.7

22.6

18.2

7.4

NOx

thousand
t

5.9

6.4

6.7

5.9

3.2

Particles

thousand t

3.5

2.3

2.5

2.1

1.1

CO2

million t

10.0

11.5

12.3

11.3

5.9

million t

6.3

7.0

7.2

7.2

4.1

million t

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.1

million t

6.6

5.0

4.2

4.2

3.7

million t

2.0

1.5

1.4

1.2

1.3

Suspended matter

thousand
t

0.6

1.0

0.9

0.7

0.5

Sulphates

thousand
t

60.1

71.1

86.2

59.1

65.1

Resource charges*

m€

28.1

1.3

15.3

25.0

20.8

Pollution charges

m€

30.4

30.3

28.7

27.4

14.7

SOLID WASTE
Oil shale fly and bottom
ash
incl. recycled

Oil shale

million t

13.7

15.2

16.6

15.6

9.2

Natural gas

million
m3

47.1

60.7

37.2

39.9

27.1

Biomass

million t

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.3

thousand
t

244.6

247.9

235.7

232.9

215.7

Cooling water

million
m3

1,365.1

1,481.9

1,486.7

1,348.8

711.8

Pumped mining water

million
m3

103.6

139.5

155.6

91.9

127.4

incl. water from
opencasts

million
m3

49.0

71.2

76.3

43.9

61.9

incl. water from
underground mines

million
m3

54.7

68.3

79.2

48.0

65.5

Municipal waste

2016

EMISSIONS TO AIR
GWh

incl. renewable energy

2015

Waste rock
incl. recycled
RELEASES TO WATER

ENVIRONMENTAL
CHARGES

* The resource charge figure for 2016 was influenced by retrospective reduction of the resource charge rate.
Excluding the impact of retrospective reduction, resource charges for 2016 would have amounted to 17.3 million euros.
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Our people
We strive to ensure the engagement of
each individual employee because people
who feel valued and supported are a critical
success factor in all our activities.
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To achieve the goal of happy employees, we monitor the experience
we provide. To successfully manage it, we transformed the former
human resource and administration department into an employee
experience unit, which deals with all aspects of the topic: from
recruitment and onboarding to creating an inspiring work environment
and offboarding.

We also request feedback on inter-departmental collaboration,
which is one of the cornerstones for providing exceptional employee
experience and achieving goals.

We manage employee experience in a more aware and
systematic manner to recruit and retain the best talent.

Dedicated employees are the bedrock of our success
Our employees’ engagement is closely related to their employee
experience. To obtain feedback, we carry out annual employee
engagement surveys. In 2018 already our employee engagement
indicators exceeded the average scores for the energy industry and
the manufacturing sector. We are pleased to report that we were able
to maintain the level in 2019.

The success of our efforts has also been recognised outside the
organisation. Based on the annual employers’ reputation survey,
we were named Estonia’s most preferred employer for the sixth
consecutive year already. Working for Eesti Energia is attractive for all
talented people because here they can implement change and do it
together with the best talent of different fields.
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guidelines for creating an organisational culture that allows
people to thrive and achieve outstanding results.
Our corporate culture favours internal mobility. We train and support
new leaders while helping people to move from one department or
job to another. Last year we filled 42% of vacancies through internal
mobility. We develop experts for our industry and arrange career
days, which support this.
Members of the
Management Board Raine
Pajo, Andri Avila and Chairman of
the Management Board Hando Sutter

Strategy implementation starts from managers
Implementing the corporate strategy and improving employee
experience requires skilful people management. We want our managers to be mindful and take proactive steps to ensure the wellbeing of
their team members.
We have done a lot of work to develop leaders and improve management quality. We built a strong foundation: there is an annual
management conference, summer academy and leaders’ development programme. To ensure a uniform management culture, we have
formulated around ten clear management principles, which serve as

We care about our employees
We consistently invest in the development and wellbeing of our
employees. At the same time, we also pay attention to employees that
leave the organisation.
Last year we had to adjust quickly to a new market situation. In
connection with restructuring, particularly in the large-scale energy
production business line, 743 jobs were cut across the Group in 2019.
Together with the Unemployment Insurance Fund, we informed the
employees we were forced to let go about the jobs and retraining
opportunities available in the region. In cooperation with the Virumaa
College of TalTech, we offer opportunities for continuing education
and further training.
Eesti Energia has set up a fund of around 2 million euros to support
employees that have been let go. The fund can be used to pay
company pensions and provide retraining grants.
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Giving back to
society
We follow the principles of responsible corporate
citizenship in all our activities and support
the social, economic and environmental
development of the societies and
communities we work in.
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In giving back to society, we have three main focus areas: young
people and ensuring future talent for our industry, promoting healthy
lifestyles, and pursuing sustainability and green thinking in our
everyday activities.
To ensure future talent for the industry, we offer internship opportunities. Every year, we provide around 200 young people with an
opportunity to gain valuable experience at the Group.
We offer internships in different areas, taking on students of IT,
engineering, finance, analytics, law, HR, communication, marketing,
environmental management, etc. Our mission is to help find, retain
an develop talented professionals that have the required personal
qualities, skillsets and knowledge.

We support young talent
Our large-scale energy production units are located in North-East
Estonia, Ida-Viru county. Therefore, we are committed to supporting
young people of the region. In cooperation with the Association of IdaViru Local Governments, Eesti Energia has set up Talented Young People’s Energy Fund, which has been providing grants since spring 2013.
Twice a year, we give grants to young people from Ida-Viru county
that have shown outstanding results in their studies or recreational
activities to support their education and recreational undertakings.
We collaborate with higher and vocational education establishments
to make sure we will continue to have specialists with the skills and
knowledge we need and to help develop the study processes. Our
employees visit schools as guest lecturers to share their professional
experience in the field of information technology and energy. In 2019,
Eesti Energia and the Virumaa College of TalTech developed a new
master’s degree programme, Smart Systems and Data Technologies,

Photo: Arno Mikkor

which will become available for enrolment in autumn 2020. The
programme supports the digitalisation of the energy industry and
will enable both young people and our own employees to obtain the
latest knowledge about industrial automation, data mining, machine
learning and analytics.
Last year, more than ten specialists and managers from Eesti Energia
participated in the development of university programmes, mostly
in the fields of engineering and technology. We are also planning
to contribute to the development of IT programmes. Our specialists
deliver, on average, 40-50 guest lectures per year. Since 2008
TalTech has been offering with our contribution a series of lectures,
“Strategic Development in the Energy Sector”, which is attended by
students, the employees of Eesti Energia and others interested in the
energy industry.
Every year, our production facilities are visited by over 1,500 pupils
and students. In line with best practice, every group is given a lecture
relevant to their specialty.
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Christmas donation that was started in 2017. In 2019, the Christmas
donation helped organise fun family days, which were attended by
over 160 families with four or more children.

We promote an active lifestyle

In 2020, Narva Energiajooks is
celebrating its 10th anniversary.

We collaborate with the Energy Discovery Centre
For years we have been working with the Energy Discovery Centre in
Tallinn to introduce children to the world of science and energy. The
Centre has over one hundred exhibits that allow exploring and testing
physical phenomena in a safe environment. The new permanent
exhibition “The Story of our Energy”, opened in 2019 to celebrate Eesti
Energia’s 80th anniversary, introduces different energy production
methods in an interactive way.
In partnership with the Energy Discovery Centre and the Estonian
Association of Large Families, we carry on the tradition of the

We have been contributing to the development of Estonian health
trails together with Swedbank and the construction group Merko for
14 years already. Together, we have built new and fixed old health
trails, upgraded snow production facilities and developed a network
of lighted trails. Today, there are more than 100 health trails across
Estonia which by 2019 had been visited more than four million times.

Health trails across Estonia have been visited more
than four million times.
In summer 2019, the running event Narva Energiajooks, organised by
Eesti Energia and non-profit association Spordiürituste Korraldamise
Klubi was attended by over 4,000 running enthusiasts. The track of
the most important sports event of Ida-Viru county is diverse, taking
the participants to the premises of the historical Kreenholm Manufacturing Company and passing through several streets and light traffic
roads of the city of Narva as well as the Pähklimäe health trails. In
2020, the event will take place for the tenth time already.
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Elektrilevi’s volunteers teach children to spot the hazards of electricity.

We organise safety camps for children
Our distribution network operator Elektrilevi promotes electrical
safety. Every year Elektrilevi’s employees, together with the representatives of the Estonian Rescue Board and other stakeholders, provide instruction at safety camps where children are taught to protect
themselves and help others. In 2019, Elektrilevi’s volunteers delivered
training at 16 camps, which were attended by over 2,300 children who
mostly gave high ratings to the safety instruction received. Altogether,
Elektrilevi’s employees spent around 500 working hours on teaching
children and young people how to prevent electrical incidents.

We arranged a climate change debate at the LAMPA
festival
Together with Riga Technical University (RTU), our Latvian entity
hosted more than 60 presentations and discussions about climate
change at the LAMPA conversation festival. The topics included: how
does climate change affect us, what resources do we have and how to
use them efficiently, and what are the likely future scenarios.
We built the stage for the presenters and discussion panels from
recycled window frames and produced the energy required on-site,
using solar panels.

47

| Eesti Energia Annual Report | Giving back to society |

Tax footprint
Our tax footprint reflects how we
contribute to society through the
taxes we pay.
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In our activities, we observe our tax risk management policy according to which we:
•
•
•
•
•
•

fulfil all our obligations under tax laws and regulations;
conduct all transactions at market prices and document them in accordance with relevant requirements;
submit to the tax administrator Country-by-Country Reporting (CbCR);
assess the tax consequences of new projects on the Group’s tax liabilities;
maintain open and trust-based relations with tax administrators; and
involve external advisers in projects where we lack in-house tax-technical competencies.

Our tax footprint
In disclosing our tax footprint, we present tax information by taxes
and countries.

Our tax footprint includes the taxes borne and collected in all
our home markets.

In calculating the tax footprint, we distinguish between taxes borne and
taxes collected:

In 2019, taxes borne and collected by us totalled 107.0 million euros
and 139.9 million euros respectively. Consequently, the Group’s tax
footprint amounted to 246.9 million euros.

• taxes borne are taxes directly borne by Eesti Energia;
• taxes collected are taxes for which Eesti Energia acts as an interme-

diary, i.e. we collect the taxes from consumers and employees and
transmit them to the tax administrator.

With 67.2 million euros, Eesti Energia group is the largest payer of
payroll taxes in Estonia.
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TAX FOOTPRINT:

Tax payments by Eesti Energia Group* (m€)
Estonia
2019

Estonia
2018

Latvia
2019

Latvia
2018

Lithuania
2019

Lithuania
2018

Poland
2019

Poland
2018

Finland
2019

Finland
2018

Sweden
2019

Sweden
2018

Total
2019

Total
2018

41.7

41.4

0.5

0.2

0.0

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

42.5

42.0

Environmental charges

46.1

50.9

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

46.1

50.9

Corporate income tax

15.9

11.6

0.8

0.1

0.8

0.3

0.0

0.1

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

17.5

12.0

Customs VAT

0.1

0.5

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.1

0.5

Land tax, real estate tax

0.3

0.4

0.0

0.0

0.5

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.8

0.4

104.1

104.8

1.3

0.2

1.3

0.4

0.1

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

107.0

105.8

TAXES BORNE
Payroll taxes borne by the employer

Total taxes borne
TAXES COLLECTED
Excise taxes

33

33.7

1.1

1.6

0.2

0.2

0.6

0.8

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

34.9

36.3

Employees payroll taxes

25.5

24.8

0.6

0.3

0.4

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

26.8

25.5

VAT (balance, i.e. sales VAT minus VAT
on purchases)

49.9

36.2

12.1

12.2

16.1

8.2

0.0

0.0

0.1

0.1

0.0

0.1

78.2

56.8

Total taxes collected

108.4

94.7

13.8

14.1

16.7

8.5

0.7

0.9

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.2

139.9

118.6

Total taxes

212.5

199.5

15.1

14.3

18.0

8.9

0.8

1.0

0.3

0.3

0.2

0.3

246.9

224.4

* Reported on a cash basis

The value Eesti Energia delivers to society, and it’s broke down
Economic value generated
by the Group in 2019
(i.e. revenue and other operating income)

535.0

1,018.5
million
euros

213.9
million
euros

Economic value retained
(before the deduction of depreciation,
amortisation and other finance income
and expenses)

118.8

116.6

Other operating expenses

Taxes to the state

Employee remuneration expenses

Interest expenses accrued

(operating expenses, expenses
on plant and equipment, other expenses
to suppliers)

(excise duty, payroll taxes,
environmental charges,
income tax)

(põhitasud, tulemustasud,

(within financial expenses,
excluding capitalised items)

million
euros

million
euros

million
euros

34.1
million
euros
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Corporate governance
report
Eesti Energia’s sole owner is the Republic of Estonia. The
owner’s representative is the minister of finance. The
objective of Eesti Energia’s supervisory board and
management board is to develop and manage
Eesti Energia so that we would be a positive
example for other companies in terms
of a clear strategy, good corporate
governance practices, operating
efficiency, financial performance
and collaboration with
stakeholders.
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Management principles
The objective of Eesti Energia’s supervisory board and management
board is to develop and manage Eesti Energia so that we would be
a positive example for other companies in terms of a clear strategy,
good corporate governance practices, operating efficiency, financial
performance and collaboration with stakeholders.
The management board and the supervisory board manage Eesti
Energia in line with the owner’s expectations, the Group’s strategy,
vision, values and applicable laws and regulations. We regard the
development of managers as the key tool for improving management
quality. Further information on managers’ development is provided in
the chapter Our people (see page 41).
To achieve our strategic goals, we need dedicated people. Ensuring
employee engagement and motivation is the responsibility of our
managers who observe the Group’s values and uniform people management principles. We keep our employees continuously informed
about the organisation’s goals and their achievement. We make sure
that our people have a safe working environment and high work ethic.
We pay our employees a competitive salary and notice and recognise
them. Eesti Energia’s people management policies are available to all
staff via our internal communication channels.

Organisational structure
It is important for us that Eesti Energia’s structure be simple and
aligned with the organisation’s goals and needs and take into account
changes in the business environment.
In 2019, the Group’s management structure was renewed: a strategic
management team was created and at the end of the year the supervisory board appointed the fifth member to the management board.

The strategic management team consists of members of the management board of Eesti Energia, the chairman of the management
board of Enefit Green, the chairman of the management board of
Elektrilevi, the marketing and communication director, the employee
experience director, the energy trading director and, as observers, the
heads of the risk management and internal audit department and the
legal department.
The purpose of setting up the strategic management team was to
enable the Group’s leadership to focus on reviewing and discussing
strategic matters (in depth where necessary) and monitoring the
implementation of the strategy.
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Eesti Energia’s governing bodies
The governing bodies of the Group’s parent, Eesti Energia AS, are the general meeting, the supervisory board and the management board.

GENERAL MEETING

SUPERVISORY BOARD

Eesti Energia’s highest governing body is the general
meeting, which decides (among other things):

The supervisory board is a governing body that
has the following main responsibilities:

• the establishment and acquisition of new companies;
• the liquidation of existing companies;
• the appointment and removal of members of the
supervisory board;
• major investments;
• the appointment of the auditor; and
• the approval of the results of the financial year.

• planning the Group’s activities;
• organising the Group’s management and supervising the
activities of the management board;
• approving the Group’s strategy and supervising the
implementation of the strategy; and
• adopting major strategic decisions.

Eesti Energia’s sole shareholder is the Republic of Estonia which is represented at the general meeting by the minister of finance. The annual
general meeting is convened once a year, within six months after the end of the Group’s financial year, at the time and in the place determined by
the management board.

The supervisory board communicates the results of its supervision
activities to the sole shareholder. Eesti Energia’s supervisory board has
6 to 8 members that are appointed by the resolution of the minister
of finance who represents the sole shareholder, taking into account
the proposals made by the nomination committee of the supervisory
board members of companies in which the state is a shareholder. The
supervisory board is headed by a chairman. The requirements and
expectations for members of the supervisory board are set out in the

Commercial Code and the State Assets Act. The supervisory board is
also guided by the articles of association of Eesti Energia AS and the
rules of procedure of the supervisory board.
At the end of 2019, the supervisory board of Eesti Energia comprised
the chairman of the supervisory board Väino Kaldoja and members of
the supervisory board Kaie Karniol, Danel Tuusis, Ants Pauls, Andres
Liinat, Ivo Palu and Einari Kisel.
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The remuneration of the members of Eesti Energia’s supervisory board
is regulated by the State Assets Act according to which the amount of
the remuneration and its payment procedure are at the discretion of the
sole shareholder. Taking into consideration the proposal made by the
nomination committee of the supervisory board members of companies
in which the state is a shareholder, the remuneration of the chairman
of the supervisory board and a member of the supervisory board is
2,000 euros and 1,000 euros per month respectively. Members of
the supervisory board are not entitled to any termination benefits or
additional remuneration. As a rule, the supervisory board meets once
a month, except during the summer months. In 2019, the supervisory
board held 11 meetings.

Management Board Members’ participation in
meetings and total remuneration paid

In addition to participating in meetings of the supervisory board,
members of the supervisory board actively support the activities of
Eesti Energia. They visit Eesti Energia’s entities and business units to
gain insights and meet the owner’s representatives, business partners
and other stakeholder groups where this is important for Eesti Energia.

Supervisory boards of subsidiaries and associates

In 2019, the legal adviser of the supervisory board was attorney at law
Sven Papp from law firm Ellex Raidla.

Participation
in meetings 2019

Total
remuneration 2019 (€)

Total
remuneration 2018 (€)

Väino Kaldoja

11

24,000

24,000

Danel Tuusis

10

12,000

12,000

Ants Pauls

11

12,000

12,000

Kaie Karniol

11

12,000

12,000

Andres Liinat

11

12,000

12,000

Ivo Palu

11

12,000

12,000

Einari Kisel

11

12,000

12,000

The powers and responsibilities of the members of the supervisory
boards of Eesti Energia’s subsidiaries and associates are set out in their
articles of association. Their supervisory boards consist of members of
Eesti Energia’s management board and strategic management team.
The meetings of the supervisory boards of subsidiaries and associates
take place according to need and in line with legal requirements.
Meetings are called in accordance with the Group’s rules, the subsidiary’s or associate’s articles of association, the law and agreements with
co-shareholders.
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Supervisory Board
as at 31 December 2019

VÄINO KALDOJA

DANEL TUUSIS

ANTS PAULS

KAIE KARNIOL

Chairman

Member

Member

Member

Beginning of term of office:
18 May 2017

Beginning of term of office:
12 June 2014

Beginning of term of office:
6 October 2015

Beginning of term of office:
12 May 2017

End of term of office:
11 May 2020

End of term of office:
11 May 2020

End of term of office:
11 May 2020

End of term of office:
11 May 2020

IVO PALU

EINARI KISEL

ANDRES LIINAT

Member

Member

Member

Beginning of term of office:
12 May 2017

Beginning of term of office:
12 May 2017

Beginning of term of office:
12 May 2017

End of term of office:
11 May 2020

End of term of office:
11 May 2020

End of term of office:
11 May 2020
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Management board
The Group’s executive management is the responsibility of Eesti
Energia’s management board. In managing the company, the management board follows the instructions of the supervisory board, relevant
guidelines, the owner’s expectations and the Group’s strategy that
has been approved by the supervisory board. The chairman of the
management board is appointed by the supervisory board. Members
of the management board are approved by the supervisory board
based on proposals made by the chairman of the management board.
The composition of Eesti Energia’s management board changed
in December 2019, following the appointment of Agnes Roos as a
management board member responsible for business and information
technology and customer services. At the year-end, the management
board of Eesti Energia comprised the chairman of the management
board Hando Sutter and members of the management board Andri
Avila, Raine Pajo, Margus Vals and Agnes Roos.
The remuneration of the members of Eesti Energia’s management
board is regulated by the State Assets Act. The amount of their remuneration is at the discretion of the supervisory board. Members of the
management board are remunerated for fulfilling their responsibilities
as members of the management board. Their remuneration is set
out in the contracts signed with them and it can be altered subject to
mutual agreement. Members of the management board may be paid
additional remuneration. The total amount of additional remuneration
paid during a financial year may not exceed fourfold average monthly
remuneration received by the member of the management board in
the previous financial year. The assignment of additional remuneration
must be justified and consistent with the Group’s performance, value
added and market position. Termination benefits may only be paid

when the supervisory board removes a member of the management
board on its initiative before the term of office expires and the amount
may not exceed the management board member’s remuneration
for three months.
As a rule, the management board meets once a week. Where necessary, meetings are held electronically. In 2019. 53 meetings were held,
of which 3 were conducted electronically.

Management Board Members’ participation in
meetings and total remuneration paid
Participation
in meetings 2019

Total
Total
remuneration 2019 (€) remuneration 2018 (€)

Hando Sutter

44

254,000

Raine Pajo

48

165,600

136,500

Margus Vals

48

154,800

135,000

Andri Avila

49

154,800

135,000

Agnes Roos

6

14,368

0

210,000

Differences applying to the management of the
distribution network operator Elektrilevi OÜ
Under the Electricity Market Act, Elektrilevi as the distribution network
operator has to ensure, among other things, that all market participants
are treated equally and that the network operator’s information is
protected. In line with the law and best practice, Eesti Energia has put
in place differences applying to the management of Elektrilevi, which
ensure the network operator’s independence in adopting investment
decisions, conducting procurements and maintaining the confidentiality of information pertaining to market participants and contracts
with customers.
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Management Board
as at 31 December 2019

HANDO SUTTER
Chairman of the
Management Board

ANDRI AVILA

MARGUS VALS

RAINE PAJO

AGNES ROOS

Member of the
Management Board

Member of the
Management Board

Member of the
Management Board

Member of the
Management Board

Beginning of term of office:
1 December 2014
End of term of office:
31 March 2023

Beginning of term of office:
1 March 2015
End of term of office:
31 March 2023

Beginning of term of office:
1 December 2014
End of term of office:
31 March 2023

Beginning of term of office:
1 December 2006
End of term of office:
31 March 2023

Beginning of term of office:
1 December 2019
End of term of office:
31 March 2023

PREVIOUS CAREER

PREVIOUS CAREER

PREVIOUS CAREER

PREVIOUS CAREER

PREVIOUS CAREER

• Nord Pool Spot AS: Regional
Market Manager, Estonia, Latvia,
Lithuania and Russia

• Premia Foods AS: Member of
the Management Board/Chief
Financial Officer

• Eesti Energia AS: Director of
Strategy

• Eesti Energia AS: Head of
Business Technology and IT

• US Invest AS: Development
Adviser

• Olympic Entertainment Group
AS: Chairman of the Management
Board

• Eesti Energia: Member of the
Management Board, Technical
Director, environment, electricity
and heat production, energy
trading, technology industry, oil
production

• Olympic Entertainment Group AS:
Chief Operating Officer
EDUCATION
• Estonian Business School, MBA
Course
• Tallinn University of Technology,
Mechanical Engineer

• Olympic Entertainment Group
AS: Member of the Management
Board/Chief Financial Officer/
Chief Operating Officer
EDUCATION
• Concordia International University
Estonia, International Business
Administration cum laude

• Eesti Energia AS: Director of
Energy Trading
EDUCATION
• London Business School, Master
of Research
• Tallinn University of Technology,
BA in Economics

• OÜ Põhivõrk (current name
Elering): Chairman of the
Supervisory Board, Member of
the Management Board, Head
of Development Department,
Director of Electrical Grid
Planning Division, Client Account
Manager
• Finnish Transmission System
Operator Fingrid Oy: Network
Planner
• AS Ecomatic: Product Manager
EDUCATION
• Tallinn University of Technology,
MA in Business Administration
• Tallinn University of Technology,
MSc and Doctor of Engineering

• Swedbank: Group Head of
Application Management Division
• Swedbank: Group Head of
Delivery Group Lending, Deposits
and Payments
• Swedbank: Baltic Head of IT
Application Management Baltic
delivery department
• Hansapank: Head of IT
Development
• Hansapank: Baltic Banking
Product area manager
EDUCATION
• University of Tartu, Economics
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Group structure
as at 31 December 2019

EAO
EAO
EAO
EAO
EAO

Real Estate Corp
Federal Lease LLC
State Leases LLC
Technology LLC
Orion LLC

EESTI ENERGIA AS

Elektrilevi OÜ

Enefit SIA
(Latvia)

Enefit Outotec
Technology OÜ

Orica Eesti OÜ

Enefit Kaevandused AS

Enefit UAB
(Lithuania)

Enefit Jordan BV

Narva Soojusvõrk AS

Enefit
Energiatootmine AS

Enefit Sp. z o.o
(Poland)

Jordan Oil Shale
Energy Company

Owned 100% by Eesti Energia
Enefit American Oil Co.

Attarat Power
Holding Company BV

Enefit US LLC

Enefit OY
(Finland)

Enefit Solutions AS

Enefit AB
(Sweden)

Attarat Holding OÜ

Enefit Green AS

Attarat Mining
Company BV

Attarat Operation
and Maintenance
Company BV

Controlled by Eesti Energia
Companies in which Eesti Energia has a strategic non-controlling interest

Enefit Wind OÜ
(Estonia)

Tootsi Tuulepark OÜ
Hiiumaa Offshore
Tuulepark OÜ
Enercom SIA

Enefit Power and
Heat Valka SIA
(Latvia)

Polish solar park
companies:
Cirrus sp. z o.o
Velum sp. z o.o.
Incus sp. z o.o.
Humilis sp. z o.o.
Enefit Green sp. z o.o
Energy Solar 15 sp. z o.o

SIA Pellet 4Energia
(Latvia)

Enefit Green UAB
(Lithuania)

SIA Technological
Solutions
(Latvia)

Enefit Wind UAB
(Lithuania)

Empower 4Wind OÜ
Team Paldiski OÜ
Wind Controller JV Oy

Šilalės vėjas UAB
UAB Šilutės vėjo parkas 2
UAB Šilutės vėjo parkas 3
UAB Energijos Žara
Vėjo Parkai UAB
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Reporting principles
Timely and reliable information is the key to quality management
decisions. We have implemented reporting processes for monitoring
our key performance indicators and other important metrics on a
weekly, monthly, quarterly and annual basis. Once a month, we
compare our results to the budget and the latest forecast. Once a
quarter, we review our action plan for the rest of the year and, where
necessary, adjust our business operations so that they are appropriate
in the current market situation. Once a year, we update the Group’s
five-year strategic action plan.
We have approved the principles for the Group’s key performance
indicators to make sure that the activities of all levels of management
are aligned with the Group’s main goals. We continuously share
information to adopt more effective performance indicators.
In 2017, we implemented the Tableau data analytics and reporting
software for the Group’s monthly reporting. Today, the Group as well as
its largest entities use Tableau for their weekly and monthly reporting.
Contemporary management information dashboards allow obtaining
feedback on our results more quickly and conveniently and in a
more interactive manner, helping us make higher-quality and faster
management decisions.
In addition to numerous reports submitted to the Statistical Office, three
times a year we release a thorough quarterly report and once a year

our annual report. To present our quarterly and annual results, we hold
a press conference and organise a conference call for investors. We
also share a detailed summary of our results with our employees.
We release information on the company’s operations that may affect
the price of the Eurobond in accordance with the rules of the London
Stock Exchange and, in the first place, via the information system of
the London Stock Exchange. We release other information which is
not expected to affect the price of the Eurobond via media channels.
In both cases, we disseminate information in line with the Group’s
rules for handling inside information, which are designed to protect
the interests of bondholders and ensure fair and orderly trade of the
bonds. All relevant information about Eesti Energia and its subsidiaries
must be available to all bondholders and potential investors in a timely,
consistent and equitable manner (to the same extent, at the same time
and in the same manner).

Supervision of the Group
The Group has implemented a multi-level process to ensure effective
supervision over the operation of the internal control system. Supervision is carried out by the Group’s supervisory board and management
board, the audit committee, the supervisory boards and management
boards of Group entities, the risk management and internal audit
department as well as other departments and units entrusted with
supervision such as the procurement and environmental services units.
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Ultimate responsibility for the implementation and proper
functioning of the Group’s risk management policies and internal
control system rests with the management board. To fulfil the
obligation, the management board, among other things:
• approves risk management principles and policies for individual
risk areas;
• develops a strategy and organises the preparation of a budget;
• manages the Group’s activities in a manner which ensures that the
Group implements the approved strategy and meets the budget;
• organises the development and approval of operational
agreements and requirements necessary for management;
• applies management measures to develop a risk-conscious
management culture; and
• monitors the Group’s current and expected level of risks so that it
would meet the Group’s risk appetite and risk tolerance.

The management board of a subsidiary is supervised by the subsidiary’s supervisory board, which consists of members of the Group’s
strategic management team. The chairman and members of a subsidiary’s management board inform the subsidiary’s supervisory board
about the subsidiary’s performance and outlook on a regular basis and
about all important risks and transactions promptly and completely
and in accordance with relevant procedures.
Documents regulating the Group’s activities generally also apply to
its subsidiaries and are, where necessary, officially adopted by the
subsidiaries. Any changes made to documents regulating the Group’s
activities also apply to the subsidiaries.
A member of a subsidiary’s management board has to participate in
the development of documents regulating the Group’s activities to

ensure that the documents take into account the subsidiary’s interests.
A subsidiary’s management board must immediately inform the subsidiary’s supervisory board if, and why, the subsidiary does not comply
with a document regulating the Group’s activities.

Audit committee and external auditor
The audit committee is a body set up by the Group’s supervisory
board, which is responsible for advising the supervisory board in
matters related to accounting, audit, risk management, internal control
and internal audit, supervision and budgeting, and legal and regulatory compliance.
The audit committee has four members. The composition and the chairman of the audit committee are determined by the Group’s supervisory
board. The audit committee meets according to an agreed schedule at
least once a quarter. In 2019, the committee had 11 ordinary meetings.
The audit committee submits its report to the supervisory board once a
year, before the supervisory board approves the Group’s annual report.
The audit committee statement is presented on page 62.
Eesti Energia’s financial statements are audited in accordance with
International Standards on Auditing. Under Eesti Energia’s articles of
association, the appointment of the auditor of the financial statements
is the responsibility of the general meeting. The general meeting has
appointed audit firm PricewaterhouseCoopers (PwC) as the auditor of
the financial statements for financial year 2019. The person authorised
to sign the auditor’s report depends on the country of incorporation of
the Group entity. The auditor responsible for the audit of the consolidated financial statements is certified public accountant Tiit Raimla.
Eesti Energia does not disclose the fee paid to the external auditor
because the Group believes that this could undermine the outcomes of
future procurements.
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PwC presented the results of the work related to the
reporting period in two stages:
1) interim audit results were presented at a meeting of the audit
committee in December 2019; and
2) year-end audit results were presented at a meeting of the audit
committee in February 2020.
The independent auditor’s report is presented on page 177.
The audit committee evaluates the independence of the external
auditor and carries out supervisory activities to prevent conflicts of
interest. For this, the audit committee has established a set of principles
to be followed when the auditor wishes to provide additional services
to Group entities.

In addition to auditing the financial statements, in 2019 PwC provided
the Group with tax and some other advisory services permitted by the
Estonian Auditors Activities Act.

Audit Committee Members’ participation in
meetings and total remuneration paid
Participation in
meetings 2019

Total remuneration
2019 (€)

Total remuneration
2018 (€)

Kaie Karniol

11

4,125

4,125

Danel Tuusis

10

2,500

2,750

Ants Pauls

11

2,750

2,750

Mait Palts

10

5,000

4,500

Audit Committee
as at 31 December 2019

KAIE KARNIOL

ANTS PAULS

DANEL TUUSIS

MAIT PALTS

Chairwoman

Member

Member

Member

Beginning of term of office:
16 June 2016

Beginning of term of office:
23 February 2017

Beginning of term of office:
1 November 2015

Beginning of term of office:
15 June 2017
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Internal audit
The work of the internal audit function is organised in accordance
with the Auditors Activities Act and related regulations as well as
the International Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal
Auditing. The role of the internal auditors is to contribute to improving
the internal control environment, risk management and business
management culture. The work of the internal audit function covers
the activities of the whole Group. Ensuring effective operation of the
internal audit function is the responsibility of the internal audit department. The department is accountable to the audit committee and the
supervisory board. The action plan of the internal audit department is
approved and evaluated by the audit committee. The internal auditors’
report on 2019 was submitted to the audit committee in February 2020.

AUDIT COMMITTEE STATEMENT
In 2019, the audit committee carried out its responsibilities in accordance with its approved statutes and action plan. No restrictions
were imposed on our activities and the Group’s representatives
made all the necessary information available to us. Well-defined
reporting lines ensured a fluent flow of relevant information to us.
We informed the Group’s supervisory board and the representatives
of the Group’s management board of the opinions we formed based
on our work and related suggestions.
We formed our opinion on the following activities of the Group in
fiscal year 2019:
• adherence to established accounting policies;
• operation of processes for the preparation and approval of budgets
and financial statements;
• arrangement of a sufficient and effective external audit and
assurance of its independence;

The Group has established a system for the declaration of economic
interests by which employees who may encounter conflicts of interest
in their work declare their economic interests and confirm their independence through regular self-assessment. To the knowledge of Eesti
Energia, the members of the Group’s management board did not have
any conflicts of interest in 2019 and they did not conduct any related
party transactions on terms different from market terms. In 2019, it
was established that a member of a subsidiary’s management board
was involved in a conflict of interest and the person was removed from
office due to loss of trust and confidence. An overview of related party
transactions conducted in 2019 is presented in the financial statements.

• development and operation of the internal control system;
• monitoring of the legal and regulatory compliance of the company;
• organisation of the internal audit function.

The audit committee finds that the activities of Eesti Energia
group do not involve any deficiencies of which the management is
unaware and/or which could have a material impact on the Group’s
annual report for 2019.
The audit committee submitted its activity report and assessments
along with this statement to the supervisory board of Eesti Energia
in February 2020.

Kaie Karniol
Chairwoman of the Audit Committee
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Risk management
The Group’s risk management is the responsibility
of the Group’s management board. Overseeing risk
management activities and processes to make sure
that they function properly is the responsibility
of the Group’s supervisory board, audit
committee and internal audit department.

The purpose of Eesti Energia’s risk management
activities is to:
•
•
•
•

support the implementation of Eesti Energia’s strategy;
help achieve the Group’s financial and operating targets;
identify potential opportunities;
prevent undesirable events.

Implementing a process for managing the risks which are inherent in
our operations and affect our performance is the responsibility of the
managers of Group entities and units.
The Group’s risk appetite is outlined in its strategy and expressed in
its budget. The Group’s risk tolerance is set out in Group-wide policies,
thresholds, limits and external regulatory requirements and permits.
We have established risk management mandates, limits and thresholds
for managing financial risks including the price risk of production
assets, counterparty credit risk and liquidity risk.

Risk management framework and organisation
Our risk management framework consists of risk management
principles and policies established by the Group’s management board,
which describe the risk management process, stakeholders’ roles
and responsibilities, and the principles and policies for managing the
main risks that may affect the achievement of the Group’s objectives.
In developing our risk management principles and policies, we rely
on international standards and best practice. Our risk management
measures are aimed at preventing the realisation of risks and we
update them based on changes in the Group’s strategy, activities and
organisational structure.

Risk profile
Our risk profile describes the risks which affect our business and
activities the most, such as strategic risk, financial risk (including market, credit, liquidity, interest rate and currency risk), technological and
technical risk, legal risk, compliance risk, environmental risk, working
environment and occupational safety risk, security and fire risk, tax risk,
IT risk, fraud risk, personnel risk and knowledge risk.
Assessing and updating the risk profile is part of our day-to-day
management activities. We assess the risks involved in both existing
activities and those under development.

Main risks and their mitigation
Risks that have a strong impact on the achievement of our objectives include market risk, which is part of financial risk, legal risk,
environmental risk, information technology (IT) risk and operational
risks. We pay a lot of attention to ensuring the continuity of vital and
business-critical operations, data protection and occupational safety.

Market and financial risks
Market risk is the risk that changes in the market (demand, the prices
of products and services) will expose the Group to changes in the
values of its assets or liabilities or the amount of income earned on its
assets and services.
Market risk has a significant impact on the revenue we earn from the
sale of our products and services and the purchase of the resources we
use in our production activities. The most significant market risk is price
risk, which is the risk of changes in the prices of electricity, liquid fuels
and emission allowances.
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We manage legal risk by monitoring trends
and developments in the legal environment,
participating actively in public discussions and the
development of new legislation and making sure that our
activities comply with laws and regulations.

Environmental risk
Our strategic goal is to limit adverse environmental impacts. Environmental risk arises in the situation where the Group’s activity or failure
to act causes more environmental damage than is allowed by the
environmental permits issued to us and jeopardises the achievement of
the Group’s goals. For proactive management of environmental risk, we
pay a lot of attention to using alternative and biofuels and increasing
the output of electricity produced from renewable sources.

To better mitigate financial risks, we carried out a project launched in
2018 for reviewing our financial risk management process, principles
and policies. Based on the outcomes of the project, we have adjusted
our risk management methods and processes to ensure their compliance with best practice. We also use derivative financial instruments to
hedge our financial risks (for further information, see page 109).

Legal risk
The Group’s operation is strongly influenced by treaties, conventions
and regulations adopted in our home markets, the European Union
and internationally. Legal risk arises from regulators’ activities and
political decisions and influences our day-to-day business activities.

We prevent adverse environmental impacts by implementing appropriate technological solutions, improving efficiency and applying circular
and reuse of materials. To control and reduce our environmental
impacts, we have implemented an environmental management system
that complies with the requirements of ISO 14001 and EMAS (the EU
Eco-Management and Audit Scheme).

IT risk
IT risk is the risk that a Group entity cannot meet its business goals due
to deficiencies in its IT solutions. The main IT risks are the failure of IT
systems and loss of data or data confidentiality.
We manage risk by carrying out the risk analyses of all vital and
business-critical activities and increasing our employees’ awareness
of information and cyber security risks. In October 2019, an additional
IT security awareness campaign was carried out in the framework of
which all employees had to take a digital test.
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Operational risks

Risk reporting

Operational risks result from inadequate or ineffective processes,
people, equipment, systems, or external events. Operational risks are
managed by applying policies, standards, management principles
and performance indicators. The impact of some operational risks is
mitigated by purchasing insurance cover.

The Group’s risk reporting and information exchange processes ensure
that risk-related information reaches all relevant stakeholders. We measure the success of our processes and activities and the achievement of our
goals and targets using key performance indicators (KPI).

We pay a lot of attention to mitigating occupational safety and working
environment risks. All our production entities have implemented an
occupational health and safety management system. We believe it is
important to include employees in identifying working environment
risks and implementing risk mitigation measures. Our goal is to work
without accidents and occupational diseases.

We measure the success of our processes and
activities and the achievement of our goals and
targets using key performance indicators.

Because of the scale and volume of the Group’s operations we pay a lot
of attention to managing fraud risk, which is one of the most important
operational risks. To mitigate the threat of the realisation of fraud risk
and resulting losses, we have improved the effectiveness of preventive
measures, we arrange staff days and training programmes and we
cooperate with law enforcement authorities.

The risks which have a significant impact on the achievement of the
Group’s goals and targets are regularly reported to the Group’s management teams, management board and audit committee. Management and
other relevant parties are notified without delay of any significant events
and changes in the Group’s risk profile.
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Financial results
In 2019, Eesti Energia’s revenue grew by 9%.
EBITDA and net profit, on the other hand,
decreased by 8% and 78%, respectively.
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Revenue and EBITDA

Group's sales revenue breakdown and change, m€

The Group’s revenue for 2019 amounted to 956 million euros, a 9%
improvement on 2018 (+81.2 million euros). Revenue growth was
driven by a higher sales price of electricity and larger shale oil sales
volume. In the segment of other products and services, revenue
growth was supported by revenue from the sales of natural gas and
pellets. Electricity distribution revenue decreased due to a lower
average sales price.

875
84
113

EBITDA decreased by 8% to 259.8 million euros (-23.4 million euros).

437

Net profit declined by 78% to 23.2 million euros (-83.1 million euros),
mainly due to growth in depreciation and amortisation as well as a
rise in income tax expense
In terms of the core products, the Group’s EBITDA was improved by
electricity EBITDA and shale oil EBITDA, which increased by 1.6 million euros and 2.2 million euros, respectively. The growth in electricity
EBITDA was mainly underpinned by a higher sales price whereas the
rise in shale oil EBITDA was supported by growth in sales volume.
Electricity distribution EBITDA decreased by 19.9 million euros due to
a decline in the average network charge.
EBITDA for other products and services decreased, mainly because in
2018 the Group recognised revenue from liquidated damages related
to the delay in the delivery of the Auvere power plant.

+81.2 (+9.3%)
+68.0

-21.3

+12.2

+22.3

125
219

241

Sales
revenue
2018

956
107

505

Electricity

Distribution

Shale oil

Other

Sales
revenue
2019

-7.2

260

Group's EBITDA breakdown and change, m€

-23.4 (-8.2%)
283

+1.6

-19.9

+2.2

44

46

100

80

131

133

EBITDA
2018

Electricity

Distribution

Shale oil

Other

EBITDA
2019
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Electricity

Share of electricity product in Group's sales revenue and EBITDA

Through the years, electricity has been the main source of Eesti
Energia’s revenue and profit. In 2019, we also earned the largest
share of our revenue from electricity sales. The electricity segment’s
result for 2019 includes gain on the sale of greenhouse gas emission
allowances. In the reporting period, Eesti Energia’s oil shale-fired power
plants produced 38% less electricity than planned. Because of the
decline in production volume, we sold the emission allowances that
had been planned for production, earning a profit of 49.8 million euros.

Electricity revenue
Revenue from electricity sales grew by 16% year on year, mostly
through higher sales prices. Growth was also supported by larger
realised gains on derivative transactions (+14.6 million euros) and
renewable energy subsidies (+13.5 million euros). Electricity revenue
for 2019 was 505.1 million euros (+16%, +68.0 million euros).

Average sales price, €/MWh
+6.0 (+12.6%)
47.4

53.4

Average electricity
sales price*

51%

% of sales revenues

% of EBITDA

45.9

NP Estonia
average electricity price

%

Share of shale oil product in Group's sales revenue and EBITDA

Electricity sales revenue, m€

-1.2 (-2.6%)
47.1

53%

Shar

Electricity sales volume, TWh

+68.0 (+15.6%)
437

Shar
sales

-0.3 (-3.1%)
505

416

470

2018

2019

13%

% of sales revenues

2018

Subsidies and waste gate fees

2019

Sales revenues (excl. subsidies and waste gate fees)

8,9
2.3
416
6.6

18%

8.6
1.1
470
7.5

2018
Retail sales

2019

% of EBITDA

Wholesale sales

* Total average sales price of electricity product (including retail sales and wholesale). Average sales price excludes sales and gain on derivatives, subsidies for renewable energy and municipal waste gate fees.

%
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Electricity sales volume and
Eesti Energia’s market share
In 2019, the Group’s overall electricity sales
decreased by 3.1%. Wholesale sales decreased
by 1,145 GWh (-50.3%) to 1,130 GWh while retail sales
grew by 872 GWh (+13.1%) to 7,514 GWh. Retail sales broke
down between the markets as follows: Estonia 4,330 GWh
(-175 GWh), Latvia 993 GWh (-128 GWh), Lithuania 1,196 GWh
(+432 GWh), Poland 930 GWh (+695 GWh), Finland 16 GWh
(+15 GWh) and Sweden 48 GWh (+43 GWh).
In terms of customers’ electricity consumption volumes, in 2019 Eesti
Energia’s market share in Estonia was 60.3% (+0.3 percentage points
up on 2018). Customers trust us: at the year-end when contracts
generally expire, 98.8% of our Estonian customers decided to extend
their electricity contract.
In 2019, Eesti Energia’s market shares in Latvia and Lithuania were
14.3% and 7.5%, respectively. Our total share of the Baltic retail electricity market was 25%, at the same level as in 2018. Our electricity sales
in Poland, Finland and Sweden are still in the start-up phase.

Average sales price of electricity
In 2019, the Group’s average sales price of electricity was
53.4 €/MWh, 13% (+6.0 €/MWh) higher than in 2018. The average
sales price excludes the effect of derivative transactions. Together with
the effect of derivative transactions, the average sales price would have
been 54.4 €/MWh, i.e. 16% (+7.7 €/MWh) higher than in 2018. Derivative
transactions produced a gain of 8.0 million euros (+14.6 million euros).

Electricity production volume
In 2019, we produced 5,549 GWh of electricity, 39.2% less than in 2018
(-3,582 GWh). The decrease was mainly attributable to higher production
costs: the market price of CO2 emission allowances rose by almost
50%. Output was also reduced by a high rate of emergency repairs and
prolonged large-scale maintenance (229 repair days in total) carried out
at the Auvere power plant, a higher than usual rate of unplanned outages
at our other, modernised circulating fluidised bed (CFB) generating units
and a lower market price of electricity.
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* Total average sales price of electricity product (including retail sales and wholesale). Average sales price excludes sales and gain on d

Our renewable energy output, however, was larger than ever: 1,280 GWh
(+166.4%), 1,023 GWh of which was produced by wind farms. Wind farms
were the main contributors to growth in renewable energy output thanks
to new wind farms acquired at the end of 2018, more favourable wind
conditions and higher operational reliability. Our wind energy output
grew by 717 GWh year on year (+235%). The output of electricity derived
from other renewable sources amounted to 258 GWh, most of which
was produced from biomass.
Renewable energy and efficient co-generation subsidies totalled 30.6
million euros (+13.5 million euros).

Key figures of the electricity product
Return on fixed assets
Electricity EBITDA

2019

2018

%

2.3

5.8

€/MWh

15.4

14.7

Electricity EBITDA
The impact of a higher margin was +9.0 million euros. Average electricity sales revenue per megawatt hour (excluding the impact of derivative
transactions) grew by 7.8 euros (impact: +67.0 million euros). Growth
in average variable costs had an impact of -58.0 million euros. Variable
costs grew mainly because of higher electricity purchase costs.

Electricity EBITDA development, m€
+1.6 (+1.2%)
131.2

EBITDA
2018

+9.0

-7.7

Margin
Volume
impact
impact
on EBITDA on EBITDA

+2.7

Change
in fixed
costs

+14.6

-17.0

Gain on
derivatives

Other

132.8

EBITDA
2019

Lower electricity sales volume reduced EBITDA by 7.7 million euros.
The change in fixed costs had an impact of +2.7 million euros. The
figure reflects, among other items, the impacts of changes in the fixed
costs of the renewable energy business line of -11.3 million euros, the
customer services unit of -4.7 million euros and the large-scale energy
production business line of +19.3 million euros.
Growth in realised gain on derivative transactions improved EBITDA by
14.6 million euros.
Other impacts of -17.0 million euros reflect mainly changes in the value
of derivative financial instruments (impact: -16.4 million euros).
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Distribution

Share of electricity product in Group's sales revenue and EBITDA

Share of distribution product in Group's sales revenue and EBITDA

Electricity distribution service is another major source of revenue and
profit for Eesti Energia.

Distribution revenue, sales volume and price
In 2019, electricity distribution revenue decreased by 8.9% to 219.3
53%
million
euros (-21.3 million euros) and51%
sales volume declined by
1.0% to 6,878 GWh (-67 GWh). Sales volume decreased because
the ambient air temperature in February, March and December was
considerably higher than the year before, electricity consumption in
major business sectors such as the wood, construction and mining
%industries
of sales revenues
% of EBITDA
decreased; and on-site electricity
production (where output
is consumed locally and does not pass through the distribution
network) increased.
The average price of the distribution service was 31.9 €/MWh
(-2.8 €/MWh, -8.0%). The decrease in distribution revenue and the
Share of shale oil product in Group's sales revenue and EBITDA
average price of the distribution service is mainly attributable to the
reduction of network charges from the beginning of 2019.
Average sales price, €/MWh

13%
34.6

2018
% of sales revenues

23%

31%

% of sales revenues

% of EBITDA

Share of other products and services in Group's
sales revenue and EBITDA

Distribution sales revenue, m€

18%

-2.8 (-8.0%)

-21.3 (-8.9%)

31.9

240.6

2019
% of EBITDA

2018

Distribution volume, TWh

1%

-0.1 (-1.0%)

11%
219.3

% 2019
of sales revenues

6.9

6.9

2018

% of EBITDA

2019
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Distribution losses
Electricity distribution losses totalled 298.3 GWh, i.e. 4.1% of electricity
entering the network. Compared to 2018, distribution losses decreased
by almost 7%. This is mainly due to the implementation of smart
metering, which allows more precise measuring and continuous
monitoring of electricity consumption.
Supply interruptions
In 2019, the average duration of unplanned interruptions was 260.7
minutes per customer (2018: 141.8 minutes), of which 91.1 minutes fell in
the period of stormy weather in October and December. The average
duration of planned interruptions was 71.8 minutes per customer (2018:
90.0 minutes). The duration of planned supply interruptions depends on
the volume of scheduled network maintenance and renewal as well as
the complexity and location of the work.
The number and duration of unplanned supply interruptions is primarily
affected by the weather, which in 2019 was more unfavourable for
electricity networks than usual. As a result, the number of unplanned

supply interruptions increased by 468 (12,376 interruptions, including
721 during the period of stormy weather in October and December).
Power outages can be reduced by replacing bare conductors with
weatherproof cables. At the end of 2019, 90% of Elektrilevi’s low-voltage
distribution network and 40% of its medium-voltage distribution network
was weatherproof. Out of the entire low- and medium-voltage network,
68.2% was weatherproof.

Key figures of the distribution product
2019

2018

%

3.3

5.7

Distribution losses

GWh

298.3

319.2

SAIFI

index

2.4

2.0

SAIDI (unplanned)

index

260.7

141.8

SAIDI (planned)

index

71.8

90.0

m€

809.9

792.5

Return on fixed assets

Adjusted RAB
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Distribution EBITDA

Distribution EBITDA development, m€

In 2019, distribution EBITDA decreased by 20.0% to 79.7 million euros
(-19.9 million euros).
The decline in distribution EBITDA was mainly attributable to a
decrease in the average sales price of the distribution service. Margin
change had an impact of -16.7 million euros, the figure reflecting the
impacts of a lower sales price of -19.0 million euros and lower variable
costs of +2.3 million euros.
Sales volume decreased by 1.0%, which had a -1.4 million euro impact
on distribution EBITDA.

-19.9 (-20.0%)

99.6

-16.7

EBITDA
2018

Margin
impact
on EBITDA

-1.4

-1.8

79.7

Volume
impact
on EBITDA

Change
in fixed
costs

EBITDA
2019

Fixed electricity distribution costs grew by 1.8 million euros. The figure
includes, among other items, a rise in repair costs, which increased by
3.3 million euros, mostly because unfavourable weather conditions
increased the number of network failures.
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% of sales revenues

Shale oil

% of EBITDA

% o

Share of shale oil product in Group's sales revenue and EBITDA

Share
sales r

Shale oil production is a business line that has great potential because
Eesti Energia has the best available technology for processing oil shale
into shale oil. Moreover, international forecasts reflect that liquid fuel
consumption will continue to grow for at least two decades.

13%

18%

% of sales revenues

% of EBITDA

Shale oil revenue and sales volume
In 2019, Eesti Energia sold 435.8 thousand tonnes of shale oil, which
generated revenue of 125.3 million euros. Compared to 2018, shale oil
revenue grew by 10.8% (+12.2 million euros) and shale oil sales volume
increased by 11% (+43.1 thousand tonnes). Shale oil sales volume and
revenue improved thanks to growth in output and a rise in the market
prices of low-sulphur products.

Average shale oil sales price, €/t
+17.3 (+5.2%)
330

348

Average shale oil
sales price
2018

Shale oil sales revenue, m€

+9.0 (+2.7%)
333

342

Average price
of heavy fuel oil (1%)

Shale oil sales volume, '000 tonnes

+12.2 (+10.8%)
113.1

2018

% o

+43.1 (+11.0%)
125.3

2019

393

436

2018

2019

2019
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+2.2 (+5.0%)

Average shale oil
sales price
2018

Average price
of heavy fuel oil (1%)

2018

2019

Shale oil price

Shale oil EBITDA

In 2019, the average sales price of shale oil (excluding the impact of
derivative transactions) increased by 5.2% to 347.8 €/t (+17.3 €/t),
mainly through higher prices in the global liquid fuels market.

Shale oil EBITDA grew by 5.0% to 45.8 million euros in 2019 (+2.2
million euros).

Derivative transactions of the year resulted in a loss of 60.2 €/t.
Derivative transactions of 2018 gave rise to a loss of 42.3 €/t. In 2019,
the average sales price of shale oil, including the impact of derivative
transactions, was 287.5 €/t (-0.2%, -0.6 €/t). The world market price
of the reference product, fuel oil with 1% sulphur content, increased by
2.7% year on year.

Shale oil production volume
In 2019, we produced 442.4 thousand tonnes of shale oil, 7.8% (+31.9
thousand tonnes) more than in 2018. The rise in output is attributable to
the increased reliability and availability of our oil plants.

Key figures of the shale oil product
Return on fixed assets
Shale oil EBITDA

2019

2018

%

9.2

9.9

€/t

105.1

111.0

2019

Shale oil EBITDA development, m€
+2.2 (+5.0%)

43.6

EBITDA
2018

+9.4

+10.1

Volume
Margin
impact
impact
on EBITDA on EBITDA

-8.6

Change
in fixed
costs

-9.6

Gain on
derivatives

+0.9

45.8

Other

EBITDA
2019

Margin increase had an impact of +9.4 million euros (+21.6 €/t). The
figure includes, among other items, the impacts of a higher average
sales price of +7.6 million euros and lower average variable costs of
+1.9 million euros.
Larger loss on derivative transactions lowered shale oil EBITDA by 9.6
million euros: the loss on derivative transactions amounted to 26.2
million euros in 2019 and 16.6 million euros in 2018.
The impact of growth in shale oil sales volume was +10.1 million euros.
The change in fixed costs had an impact of -8.6 million euros. The
figure includes growth in labour costs, which had an impact of
-6.2 million euros.
The impact of other items on shale oil EBITDA was +0.9 million euros.
The largest items were the changes in environmental provisions
(impact: +1.1 million euros) and the value of derivative financial instruments (impact: -0.2 million euros).
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EBITDA

BITDA

Other products and services

Sales revenue from other products and services, m€

The segment of other products and services comprises the sales of
Share of distribution product in Group's sales revenue and EBITDA
heat, natural gas and industrial equipment. The impacts of one-off
transactions are also recognised in this segment.

+22.3 (+26.4%)
107
Other sales

Revenue from the sale of other products and services
In 2019, revenue from the sale of other products and services
totalled 106.7 million euros, a 26.4% improvement on 2018 (+22.3
million euros).

23%

% of sales revenues

18

31%

Revenue from the sale of heat decreased by 6.4 million euros due
to a decline in sales volume. The volume of heat sold to customers
decreased by 163 GWh (-16.6%).
% of EBITDA

Share of other products and services in Group's
sales revenue and EBITDA

11%

1%

% of sales revenues

% of EBITDA

Othe

Sales of pellets
Sales of mining products
Enefit Solutions' products sales revenue
Sales of natural gas
Sales of heat

84
20
16

4
2

8

7

5

16

24

39
32

2018

2019
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Revenue
from products
the sale of
natural
gas grew
Sales revenue
from other
and
services,
m€ by 7.5 million euros. In 2019,
Eesti Energia’s retail sales of natural gas totalled 308 GWh in Estonia,
(+26.4%)
339+22.3
GWh
in Latvia, 91 GWh in Lithuania and 187 GWh in Poland.
107 by the pellet factory improved the segment’s
Revenue generated
Other sales
revenue by 15.8 million euros. Revenue
from the sale of mining prodSales of pellets
ucts grew by 2.9 million euros: in 2019
Eesti
Energia sold 292 thousand
Sales of mining products
18
tonnes of oil shale to external customers.
Enefit Solutions' products sales revenue
Sales of natural gas
Sales of heat

84
20
16

4
2

8

7

5

16

24

39
32

2018

2019

Other EBITDA development, m€
-7.2 (-82.6%)
8.7

-3.2
-6.0

EBITDA
2018

Heat

Auvere liquidated
damages

+1.9

1.5

Other

EBITDA
2019

EBITDA on other products and services
EBITDA on other products and services decreased by 7.2 million euros
to 1.5 million euros.
The impact of liquidated damages received for the delay in the delivery
of the Auvere power plant had an impact of -6.0 million euros. The
damages agreed with the builder were recognised monthly until
the delivery of the power plant in the summer of 2018. The amount
recognised in 2018 was 6 million euros, in 2019 no liquidated damages
were recognised.
EBITDA on the sale of heat decreased by 3.2 million euros, mainly
because of a decline in sales volume. Other impacts improved EBITDA
by +1.9 million euros. The figure reflects, among other items, growth
in EBITDA on the sale of Enefit Solutions’s products, mining products and pellets.
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Cash flows
Net operating cash flow for 2019 was 147.6
million euros, 43.2% (112.2 million euros)
lower than EBITDA, which amounted to
259.8 million euros.

79
| Eesti Energia Annual Report | Cash flows |

Movements in working capital reduced net operating cash flow relative
to EBITDA by 67.9 million euros. Working capital was influenced by
increases in current receivables and inventories of 12.8 million euros and
20.5 million euros, respectively, and a decrease in current liabilities of
27.5 million euros.
SalesSales
revenues
revenues
EBITDA
EBITDA
Growth*
Growth*
increased
operating
related to CO2 emission allowancesm€
m€ Settlements
m€
m€
cash flow relative to EBITDA by 19.4 million euros.
1,250 1,250

500

500

The impact of derivative financial
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400 400
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754euros, including the impacts of electricity
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300 300
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200 and
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The
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0
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Interest
paid
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decline decline
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>5% >5%

Income tax paid in 2019 amounted to 17.2 million euros.
Other impacts totalled -14.1 million euros, including the impacts of the
recognition of connection fees of -9.1 million euros and fixed asset sales
of -4.4 million euros.

EBITDA
EBITDA
to operating
to operating
cash cash
flowsflows
development,
development,
m€ m€

Compared to 2018, net operating cash flow decreased by 11.3%
(-18.7 million euros).
Changes in working capital had an impact of -46.1 million euros relative
to 2018. The figure includes, among other items, the impacts of a change
in current receivables of -5.3 million euros, a change in inventories of -3.5
Investments
Investments
Growth*
Growth*
Growth*
Growth*
million euros and a change
in current liabilities of -29.6 million euros.
m€
m€
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700 700
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million
euros
larger
than
2018.

Interest paid on borrowings was 6.2 million euros lower than in 2018.
Other impacts totalled -2.1 million euros, including the impact of fixed
asset sales of -3.3 million euros.
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Investment
Our capital expenditure for 2019 was
136.0 million euros (-30%, -58.6 million
euros year on year). Expenditure on the
distribution network amounted to 83.2
million euros (+2.0%, +1.6 million euros)
and maintenance and repair expenditures
(excluding the distribution network)
totalled 35.0 million euros (‑20.7%,
-9.1 million euros).
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Large-scale energy production
At the energy production subsidiary Enefit Energiatootmine, we performed the overhaul of generating unit 5 of the Eesti power plant. The
work, which cost 5.2 million euros, improved the safety and operational
reliability of the boilers and the turbine.
We completed the construction of the waste wood shredding and metal
removal complex that we started to build on the premises of the Balti
power plant in 2018. Expenditures of 2019 amounted to 3.3 million
euros, raising the total cost of the complex to 3.6 million euros. The
project is strongly aligned with the target of increasing the share of
alternative fuels in our production processes and reducing the carbon
footprint of our electricity production operations.
Capex
breakdown
by projects,
Capex
breakdown
by projects,
m€ m€

We invested 1.3 million euros in increasing the electricity supply of the
technology park operating on the premises of the Balti power plant. In
2019, the park had, on average, four customers.
At the mining subsidiary Enefit Kaevandused, we spent 3.1 million euros
on the acquisition of 19 new items of plant and equipment, including
mining dump trucks, drilling tools and telehandlers.
We invested 0.8 million euros in upgrading the enrichment plant of the
Estonia mine with a view to improving its daily throughput capacity.
Increasing the productivity of the enrichment plant helps prevent
forced idle time at the Estonia mine.
Investment
breakdown
by products,
Investment
breakdown
by products,
m€ m€
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Maintenance
investments
Capitalised
interest
Capitalised
interest

44

136

136

Electricity
network
Electricity
network

195

195

11

11

Electricity
Electricity
87

87

44
35

13

13

82

82

2018 2018

83

Other Other
Shale oil
Shale oil
Distribution
Distribution
136

136

8

8

85

85

36

36

35

83

2019 2019

91

91

2018 2018

82

2019 2019

| Eesti Energia Annual Report | Investment |

Renewable energy

Network services

In 2019, we invested 4.4 million euros in wind energy development
activities in Estonia and Lithuania.

Investments made to maintain and continuously improve the quality
of the distribution service in 2019 totalled 79.3 million euros, of which
28.5 million euros was invested in network connections (2018: 81.6
million euros).

We also moved on with our solar farm development activities in Estonia
and Poland. During the year, we invested 0.5 million euros in the
development of solar farms in Estonia. In June, we entered the Polish
renewable energy market by acquiring solar parks in Poland.

During the year, we built 275 new substations and 1,065 km of network
(2018: 270 new substations and 1,556 km of network).
At the end of 2019, 90% of Elektrilevi’s low-voltage network was
weatherproof (2018: 88%).
Compared to 2018, the weatherproof network increased by 940 km and
the bare conductor network decreased by 1,006 km
At the year-end, 68.2% of our total low- and medium-voltage network
was weatherproof.
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Financing
Developments in the energy sector
are generally capital intensive. Our
available funds are not always sufficient
for building new production facilities
or making significant expansions. To
carry out major development projects,
we therefore raise debt capital from
the market.
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In adopting financing decisions, we observe Eesti Energia’s financing
policy, which has been approved by the Group’s management board
and sets out our financing principles as well as the permitted debt
ratio and sources of debt financing. In line with the policy, Eesti Energia
should generally keep its net debt to EBITDA ratio below 3.5 (the
ceiling may be exceeded for a short term when major investments or
acquisitions are made).
We have raised debt financing from the international bond market and,
in the form of loans, from the European Investment Bank (EIB) and
commercial banks. Besides long-term loans, we use liquidity loans with
flexible repayment options.

Borrowings and credit ratings
At the end of 2019, the Group’s borrowings totalled 1,170.9 million euros
at nominal value (at the end of 2018: 1,157.4 million euros) and 1,135.8
million euros at amortised cost (at the end of 2018: 1,109.5 million
euros). Long-term borrowings as at the reporting date comprised
Eurobonds listed on the London Stock Exchange of 606.3 million
euros, loans from the EIB and commercial banks of 138.8 million euros
and 423.1 million euros, respectively, and long-term lease liabilities
for right-of-use assets of 2.5 million euros (all nominal amounts).
Long-term lease liabilities for right-of-use assets were recognised in
2019 in connection with the adoption of IFRS 16. At the end of 2019,
Eesti Energia’s undrawn loans totalled 425 million euros, consisting of
liquidity loans of 250 million euros and long-term loans of 175 million
euros. Out of the liquidity loan balance, 150 million euros will mature
in July 2020 and 100 million euros in June 2021. Long-term loans
comprised a loan of 175 million euros raised from the EIB under an
agreement signed in December 2019, which at the date of release of
this report has not been drawn down.

At the reporting date, the Group had taken out a liquidity loan of 50 million euros provided by SEB, which is reported within current liabilities.
During the year, we made regular loan repayments of 18 million euros
to the EIB. In addition, in the first quarter of 2019 we completed the
refinancing of the bank loans and finance lease liabilities taken over
on the acquisition of Nelja Energia AS, using the loan agreements of
260 million euros signed by Enefit Green with SEB (200 million euros)
and Swedbank (60 million euros) in December 2018. The refinancing
involved repaying Nelja Energia’s loans of 163 million euros and
raising new loans of 260 million euros for Enefit Green. Out of the new
loans, 37 million euros was repaid in 2019 in line with the contractual
settlement schedules.
At the end of 2019, the weighted average interest rate of Eesti Energia’s
borrowings was 1.99% (2.18% at the end of 2018). The weighted average
interest rate of borrowings has decreased because in 2019 the Group

Liquidity de

Debt maturity, m€
629

211
106
2020

235
150
2021

500
55
2022

2023

12

12

12

2024

2025

2026

EIB (Eesti Energia AS)
Eurobond (Eesti Energia AS)
Other (Eesti Energia AS)
Other (Enefit Green)

Loan breakdown by interest rates and borrowers

61.5

Cash and
cash equivalen
31 December 2
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Net debt/EB

Liquidity development in 2019, m€

Debt maturity, m€
629

repaid Nelja Energia’s loans, which had higher interest rates, and drew
down new loans, which had lower interest rates.
211

235

500

At the year-end, borrowings of 745 million euros had fixed base rates
55
150
12
12
106
and borrowings
of 423 million euros had floating
base rates.
At the12
end of2020
2018, borrowings
of2022
897 million
had fixed base
rates2026
2023euros 2024
2021
2025
and borrowings of 261 million euros had floating base rates. All of the
Group’s
EIBborrowings
(Eesti Energia are
AS) denominated in euros.

-26.9 (-43.7%)

In August 2019, the rating agency Standard and Poor’s decided to lower
Eesti Energia’s credit rating+147.6
to BBB-. At the
end of 2019, the Group’s
-128.0
credit ratings were BBB- (Standard and Poor’s, outlook stable) and
Baa3 (Moody’s, outlook stable). In January 2020, the rating agency
-46.5
61.5 the Baa3 rating for Eesti Energia with stable outlook.
Moody’s retained
34.6
Eesti Energia’s financing policy is aimed at maintaining investment
grade creditCash
ratings
rating
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Net debt/EBITDA
Financial leverage, %
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34%
+147.6

Financial leverage, %

-26.9 (-43.7%)
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32%

Other (Eesti Energia AS)
Other (Enefit Green)

Equity and financial ratios

Loan breakdown by interest rates and borrowers

At the end of 2019, the Group’s equity stood at 1,801.6 million euros.
Eesti Energia’s sole shareholder is the Republic of Estonia. In 2019, the
Group paid the shareholder a net dividend of 57 million euros.
36%

36%

The Group’s net debt amounted to 1,101.2 million euros at the end of
2019 (1,048.1 million euros at the end of 2018).
52%

Net debt/EBITDA
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date, the net debt to EBITDA ratio was 4.2 (3.7 at
the end of 2018).
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Outlook for 2020
According to our current projections, in 2020 our
revenue and capital expenditures will increase
compared to 2019.
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Capital expenditures will grow compared to 2019. The largest
development investments will be made in new wind and solar farms.
We are also planning to start with the investments required for the
construction of a new oil plant.

We expect that electricity revenue and EBITDA will be supported by
growth in the sales volume and a rise in the average sales price of
electricity. However, the positive effect of an uptrend in electricity
prices will be reduced by a rise in CO2 emission allowance prices.
We also forecast growth in shale oil revenue. We expect that shale
oil revenue and EBITDA will be supported by growing demand for
our products, which will increase the average sales price of shale oil.
Electricity distribution revenue and EBITDA are expected to remain at
the level of 2019. Revenue growth will be supported by the sale of new
ancillary services.

Sales revenues

We are planning to pay the owner a dividend of 23.2 million euros for
2019, which will give rise to income tax up to 5.8 million euros. The final
amount of the dividend distribution is at the discretion of the owner.

EBITDA

Growth*

Growth*

Investments

m€

m€

m€

1,250
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956
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327

560
264

283

420

260
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200

280

250

100

140

0

0
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Growth*

246
141

144

2016

2017

195

136

0
2015

2016

2017

2018

2019

2020

2015

2018

2019

2020

*Slight growth/slight decline until 5%, growth/decline >5%

EBITDA to operating cash flows development, m€
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Operating cash flow changes, mln €
-18,7 (-11,3%)

-112.2 (-43.2%)
259.8

-67.9
+19.4

-7.9

-24.7

166,3
-17.2

-14.1

147.6

+18,4

-46,1

+33,7

-23,4

+6,2
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Consolidated income statement
in million EUR
Revenue
Other operating income
Change in inventories of finished goods and work-in-progress

1 JANUARY - 31 DECEMBER

Note

2019

2018

956.4

875.3

5,25

62.1

22.3

26

14.1

11.2

11

(551.5)

(424.9)

27

Payroll expenses

(158.4)

(155.6)

28

Depreciation and amortisation

(188.0)

(154.5)

5,6,8,32

(62.7)

(45.1)

29

71.9

128.7

Raw materials and consumables used

Other operating expenses
OPERATING PROFIT
Financial income

0.1

0.4

30

Financial expenses

(36.9)

(25.1)

30

Net financial income (expense)

(36.8)

(24.7)

5,30

(0.1)

6.6

5,9,32

PROFIT BEFORE TAX

34.9

110.6

5

Corporate income tax expense

(11.8)

(4.4)

31

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

23.2

106.2

22.4

106.0

0.7

0.2

Basic earnings per share (euros)

0.04

0.17

34

Diluted earnings per share (euros)

0.04

0.17

34

Profit (loss) from associates using equity method

PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO:
Equity holder of the Parent Company
Non-controlling interest
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
in million EUR

1 JANUARY - 31 DECEMBER
2019

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

Note

2018

23.2

106.2

(23.7)

3.4

20

0.7

1.0

20

Other comprehensive income
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
Revaluation of hedging instruments
Currency translation differences attributable to foreign subsidiaries
Other comprehensive income for the year
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO:
Equity holder of the Parent Company
Non-controlling interest

(23.0)

4.4

0.2

110.6

(0.5)

110.4

0.7

0.2

93
The notes on pages 97-176 are an integral part of these consolidated
financial statements.
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Consolidated statement of financial position
in million EUR
ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Right-use-of assets
Intangible assets
Deferred tax assets
Derivative financial instruments
Investments in associates
Long-term receivables
Total non-current assets
Current assets
Inventories
Current intangible assets
Trade and other receivables
Derivative financial instruments
Cash and cash equivalents
Total current assets
Total assets
EQUITY
Capital and reserves attributable to equity
holder of the Parent Company
Share capital
Share premium
Statutory reserve capital
Hedge reserve
Unrealised exchange rate differences
Retained earnings
Total equity and reserves attributable to
equity holder of the Parent Company
Non-controlling interest
Total equity

31 DECEMBER
2019
2018

2,913.4
2.7
69.2
1.8
4.3
43.5
1.8
3,036.7

2,955.4
61.3
0.6
11.5
44.2
1.6
3,074.6

Note

6
8
12,14,15
5,9
13

111.0
76.1
199.7
10.0
34.6
431.4
3,468.1

90.5
126.4
167.0
39.1
61.5
484.5
3,559.1

11
16
13
12,14,15
12,15,17

621.6
259.8
62.1
(32.5)
10.3
879.1

621.6
259.8
62.1
(8.8)
9.6
913.7

18

1,800.4

1,858.0

1.2
1,801.6

1.6
1,859.6

The notes on pages 97-176 are an integral part of these consolidated
financial statements.

in million EUR
LIABILITIES
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings
Deferred tax liabilities
Other payables
Derivate financial instruments
Deferred income
Provisions
Total non-current liabilities
Current liabilities
Borrowings
Trade and other payables
Derivative financial instruments
Deferred income
Provisions
Total current liabilities
Total liabilities
Total liabilities and equity

31 DECEMBER
2019
2018

Note

924.1
12.2
0.5
6.1
234.7
29.9
1,207.5

12,21

211.7
147.5
24.1
75.7
459.0
1,666.5
3,468.1

966.8
12.9
1.6
2.8
213.0
31.4
1,228.5
142.7
212.6
20.5
0.3
94.9
471.0
1,699.5
3,559.1

22
12,14
23
24

12,21
22
12,14
23
24

5

18
20
20
18
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Consolidated statement of cash flows
in million EUR

1 JANUARY - 31 DECEMBER

Note

2019

2018

Cash generated from operations

189.3

208.5

Interest and loan fees paid

(24.7)

(30.9)

0.2

0.3

Cash flows from operating activities

Interest received
Corporate income tax paid

(17.2)

(11.6)

Net cash generated from operating activities

147.6

166.3

32

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets

(143.4)

(169.9)

Proceeds from connection and other fees

22.3

23.3

23

Proceeds from grants of property, plant and equipment

(0.1)

0.2

23,26
6,26

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment

6.1

2.1

Dividends received from associates

3.9

2.6

Contribution to the share capital of associates

(4.2)

(3.2)

Acquisiton of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired

(13.8)

(249.9)

0.6

-

Repayments of loans granted
Proceeds from sale of shares of associate
Net cash used in investing activities

0.6

-

(128.0)

(394.8)

35
36

Cash flows from financing activities
Loans received
Redeemed bonds
Repayments of bank loans
Repayments of financial leases
Dividends paid
Acquisition of non-controlling interest in a subsidiary
Net cash used in financing activities
Net cash flows

490.0

270.0

-

(200.5)

21

(468.2)

(60.2)

21

(11.2)

(0.5)

21

(57.0)

(15.8)

19,31

(0.1)

(1.7)

10

(46.5)

(8.7)

(26.9)

(237.2)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period

61.5

298.7

12,15,17

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period

34.5

61.5

12,15,17

(26.9)

(237.2)

Net increase/(-)decrease in cash and cash equivalents

The notes on pages 97-176 are an integral part of these consolidated
financial statements.

95

| Eesti Energia Annual Report | Consolidated financial statements |

Consolidated statement of changes in equity
in million EUR
Share capital

Share
premium

Statutory
reserve
capital

Other
reserves

Retained
earnings

Total

Noncontrolling
interest

Total equity

621.6

259.8

62.1

(3.6)

823.6

1,763.5

0.4

1,763.9

Profit for the year

-

-

-

-

106.0

106.0

0.2

106.2

Other comprehensive income for the year

-

-

-

4.4

-

4.4

-

4.4

Total comprehensive income for the year

-

-

-

4.4

106.0

110.4

0.2

110.6

Dividends paid

-

-

-

-

(15.8)

(15.8)

-

(15.8)

Increase of non-controlling interest due to
acquisition of subsidiary

-

-

-

-

-

-

2.7

2.7

36

Acquisition of non-controlling interest of subsidiary

-

-

-

-

-

-

(1.7)

(1.7)

10

Total contributions by and distributions to owners
of the company, recognised directly in equity

-

-

-

-

(15.8)

(15.8)

1.0

(14.8)

621.6

259.8

62.1

0.8

913.7

1,858.0

1.6

1,859.6

Profit for the year

-

-

-

-

22.4

22.4

0.7

23.2

Other comprehensive income for the year

-

-

-

(23.0)

-

(23.0)

-

(23.0)

Total comprehensive income for the year

-

-

-

(23.0)

22.4

(0.6)

0.7

0.1

Dividends paid

-

-

-

-

(57.0)

(57.0)

-

(57.0)

19,31

Acquisition of non-controlling interest of subsidiary

-

-

-

-

(0.1)

(0.1)

-

(0.1)

10

-

-

-

-

-

(1.1)

(1.1)

36

-

-

-

-

(57.1)

(57.1)

(1.1)

(58.2)

621.6

259.8

62.1

(22.2)

879.1

1,800.4

1.2

1,801.6

Equity as at 31 December 2017

Equity as at 31 December 2018

Decrease of non-controlling interest due to sale of
subsidiary
Total contributions by and distributions to owners of
the company, recognised directly in equity
Equity as at 31 December 2019

Additional information about equity is disclosed in Note 18.

The notes on pages 97-176 are an integral part of these consolidated
financial statements.

Note

20

20
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
1. General information
The consolidated financial statements of Eesti Energia Group for
the year ended 31 December 2019 include the financial information
concerning Eesti Energia AS (parent company, legal form: public limited
company) and its subsidiaries (the Group) and the Group’s participation
in associated entities.
Eesti Energia is an international energy company that operates in the
electricity and gas markets of the Baltic countries, Finland, Sweden
and Poland, also in the international liquid fuels market. Eesti Energia
is engaged in mining oil shale, production of power, heat and oil,
development of oil shale refining know-how and technologies as well
as provision of services and products to customers. The company’s
objective is to enhance Estonia’s primary natural resource in the most
efficient manner possible and to reduce the ecological footprint of
the oil shale-based energy sector. Besides oil shale, electricity is also
generated from sun, wind, water, mixed household waste and biomass.
Outside Estonia, Eesti Energia operates under the Enefit trademark. The
Group has investments in associates which operate in Jordan.
The registered address of the Parent Company is Lelle 22, Tallinn 11318,
Republic of Estonia.
The sole shareholder of Eesti Energia AS is the Republic of Estonia.
The bonds of Eesti Energia AS are listed on London Stock Exchange.
These consolidated financial statements of the Group were authorised
for issue by the Management Board on 21 February 2020. Under the
Commercial Code of the Republic of Estonia, the annual report must

additionally be approved by the Supervisory Board of the Parent Company and authorised for issue by the General Meeting of Shareholders..

2. Summary of significant accounting policies
The principal accounting policies used in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements are set out below. These accounting
policies have been consistently used for all reporting periods presented, unless otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation
The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared
in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRS) and International Financial Reporting Interpritations Committee
(IFRIC) Interpretations, as adopted by the European Union.
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under
the historical cost convention, except financial assets and liabilities
(including derivative financial instruments) at fair value through
profit and loss.
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS
requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires
management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the
Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of
judgement and where assumptions and estimates are significant to the
consolidated financial statements are disclosed in Note 4.
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2.2 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures
(a) Adoption of New or Revised Standards and Interpretations
The following new or revised standards and interpretations became
effective for the Group from 1 January 2019:
- IFRS 9, Financial Instruments – hedge accounting. IFRS 9
became effective from 1 January 2018. The standard offered
entities an accounting policy choice on initial application: whether
to apply the hedge accounting requirements of IFRS 9 or to
continue to apply the hedge accounting requirements of IAS 39
to all hedging instruments as the standard does not currently
provide guidance on macro hedge accounting. The accounting
policy may be changed from the beginning of each new reporting
period. The Group applied the hedge accounting principles of IAS
39 in 2018 and adopted the hedge accounting principles of IFRS 9
from 1 January 2019.
- IFRS 16, Leases. The new standard sets out the principles for the
recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases.
All leases result in the lessee obtaining the right to use an asset
at the start of the lease and, if lease payments are made over
time, also obtaining financing. Accordingly, IFRS 16 eliminates the
classification of leases as either operating leases or finance leases
as is required by IAS 17 and, instead, introduces a single lessee
accounting model.

The impact of the standards that first came into effect on 1 January
2019 is disclosed in Note 2.3.
There are no other new or revised standards or interpretations that
are effective for the first time for the financial year beginning on
or after 1 January 2019 that would be expected to have a material
impact to the Group.
(b) New standards and interpretations not yet adopted
Certain new or revised standards and interpretations have been issued
that are mandatory for the Group’s annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2020, and which the Group has not early adopted:
- Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture - Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS
28 These amendments address an inconsistency between the
requirements in IFRS 10 and those in IAS 28 in dealing with the
sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture. The main consequence of the amendments is
that a full gain or loss is recognised when a transaction involves
a business. A partial gain or loss is recognised when a transaction
involves assets that do not constitute a business, even if these
assets are held by a subsidiary and the shares of the subsidiary
are transferred during the transaction. The amendments may
have an impact on the recognition of the Group’s transactions
with associates.
Definition of materiality – Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8: The
amendments clarify the definition of material and how it should
be applied by including in the definition guidance that until now
has featured elsewhere in IFRS. In addition, the explanations
accompanying the definition have been improved. Finally, the
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amendments ensure that the definition of material is consistent
across all IFRS Standards. Information is material if omitting, misstating or obscuring it could reasonably be expected to influence
the decisions that the primary users of general purpose financial
statements make on the basis of those financial statements, which
provide financial information about a specific reporting entity. The
amendments may have an effect on the extent of the information
disclosed by the Group.
There are no other new or revised standards or interpretations
that are not yet effective that would be expected to have a material
impact on the Group.

2.3 Changes in accounting policies
This note explains the impact of the adoption of IFRS 9 Financial
Instruments and IFRS 16 Leases on the Group’s financial statements.
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments – hedge accounting

The Group’s financial risk management strategy and hedge documentation are aligned with the requirements of IFRS 9. Derivatives related
to the purchase and sale of electricity and the sale of shale oil, designated as hedging instruments as at 31 December 2018 also qualified as
cash flow hedges under IFRS 9 requirements. Consequently, the Group
continued to account for them as continuing hedge relationships under
IFRS 9 from 1 January 2019.
According to IFRS 9, under certain circumstances the risk component
of a highly probable forecast transaction may be designated as
a hedged item. Under IAS 39, the entire cash flow from a highly
probable forecast transaction could be designated as a hedged item.
Accordingly, from 1 January 2019 the Group has also designated
individual risk components as hedged items. Further information on this
is disclosed in Note 3.1.

As a result of the application of IFRS 9 hedge accounting principles, the
Group did not recognise any adjustments to its financial statements as
at 1 January 2019. Hedge accounting policies are disclosed in Note 2.14.
IFRS 16 Leases

The Group has adopted IFRS 16 “Leases” retrospectively from 1 January
2019, but has not restated comparatives for the 2018 reporting period,
as permitted under the specific transition provisions in the standard.
Therefore, the information about the comparatives for the 2018
reporting period are presented under the previous leasing standard IAS
17 and respective interpretations. Additionally, the disclosure requirements in IFRS 16 have not been applied to comparative information.
On initial application the Group recognised right-to-use asset in
relation to leases which had previously been classified as ‘operating
leases’ under the principles of IAS 17 Leases. The Group measured the
lease liabilities at the present value of the remaining lease payments,
discounted using the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate as at the
date of initial application, i.e. 1 of January 2019. On initial application, the
weighted average of lessee’s incremental borrowing rates which were
applied to the lease liabilities was 5%.
In applying IFRS 16 for the first time, the Group has used the following
practical expedients permitted by the standard for leases previously
classified as operating leases:
• applying a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases with reasonably
similar characteristics
• the accounting for operating leases with a remaining lease term of less
than 12 months as at 1 January 2019 as short-term leases
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• the exclusion of initial direct costs for the measurement of the right-ofuse asset at the date of initial application, and

The lease liabilities recognised in the statement of financial position at
the date of initial application is as follows:

• the use of hindsight in determining the lease term where the contract
contains options to extend or terminate the lease.

in million EUR
Future minimum lease payments in relation to non-cancellable
operating leases as at 31 December 2018

29,9

The implementation of IFRS 16 has an impact on almost all commonly
used financial ratios and measures of effectiveness. This is related to the
fact that the operating lease costs, which were previously settled above
EBITDA, were replaced by depreciation costs of assets under the right
of use. In addition, the financial costs include interest on discounted leasing liabilities. The application of IFRS 16 requires the Group to analyze
data and make estimates and calculations that affect the measurement
of lease liabilities and the valuation of assets under the right of use. They
include: assessing whether the contract includes leasing in accordance
with IFRS 16 and determining the period of validity. The Group performs
a detailed analysis of the duration of its contracts, in particular in terms
of the extension options that it is entitled to in selected contracts.

Discounted using the Group’s incremental borrowing rate of 5.0%

(1.4)

The Group has ground leases for the next 20-99 years for plots of land
under certain wind parks. Expenses related to the use of leased assets,
previously included in the operating costs in the „lease” item, are now
presented in operating costs as depreciation and finance costs as interest expenses. The valuation of the lease liability is periodically settled
with the lease payments. Assets due to the right of use are amortised on
a straight-line basis, while liabilities under lease agreements are settled
effective interest rate.

Contracts not assessed as lease contracts

(25.6)

Lease liability recognised in the statement of financial position
as at 1 January 2019

2.9

On initial application, the Group has measured the associated right-ofuse asset at the amount equal to the lease liability. Volume of assets
and liabilities increased by EUR 2.9 million in the consolidated statement of financial position. In 2019 increase in interest expense is EUR
0.1 million and in depreciation EUR 0.2 million. Decrease in operating
expenses is EUR 0.2 million.
The impact of the lease standards that first came into effect on 1
January 2019 is disclosed in Note 2.28.

2.4 Consolidation
(a) Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Group has control. The
Group controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to,
variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the entity. Subsidiaries
are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to
the Group and are de-consolidated from the date that control ceases..
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The Group applies the acquisition method to account for business
combinations. The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a
subsidiary is the fair values of the assets transferred, the liabilities
incurred to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests
issued by the Group. The consideration transferred includes the fair
value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration
arrangement. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent
liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially
at their fair values at the acquisition date. The Group recognises
any non-controlling interest in the acquiree on an acquisition-by
acquisition basis, either at fair value or at the non-controlling
interest’s proportionate share of the recognised amounts of acquiree’s
identifiable net assets.

over the net identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If
the consideration is lower than the fair value of the net assets of the
subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognized in profit or loss.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

(b) Changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries
without change of control

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date
carrying value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in
the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date; any
gains or losses arising from such re-measurement are recognised in
profit or loss.
Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the Group is
recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Subsequent changes to
the fair value of the contingent consideration that is deemed to be an
asset or liability is recognised in accordance with IAS 39 either in profit
or loss or as a change to other comprehensive income. Contingent
consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured, and its
subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity.
Goodwill is initially measured as the excess of the aggregate of the
consideration transferred and the fair value of non-controlling interest

In preparation of consolidated financial statements, the financial statements of the Parent Company and its subsidiaries are consolidated on
a line-by-line basis. In preparation of consolidated financial statements,
inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between Group companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses
are also eliminated. When necessary, amounts reported by subsidiaries
have been adjusted to conform with the Group’s accounting policies.
In the Parent Company’s separate financial statements the investments
in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less impairment.

Transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in
loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions – that is, as
transactions with the owners in their capacity as owners. The difference between fair value of any consideration paid and the relevant
share acquired of the carrying value of net assets of the subsidiary is
recorded in equity. Gains and losses on disposals to non-controlling
interests are also recorded in equity.
(c) Disposal of subsidiaries

When the Group ceases to have control any retained interest in the
entity is remeasured to its fair value at the date when the control is lost,
with the change in carrying amount recognised in profit or loss. The fair
value is the initial carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently
accounting for the retained interest as an associate, joint venture or
financial asset. In addition, any amounts previously recognised in other
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comprehensive income in respect of that entity are accounted for as if
the Group had directly disposed of the related assets and liabilities. This
may mean that amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income are reclassified to profit or loss.

this is the case, the Group calculates the amount of impairment as the
difference between the recoverable amount of the associate and is
carrying value and recognises the amount adjacent to “Share of other
profit/loss of the associates” in the income statement.

(d) Associates

Profits and losses resulting from upstream and downstream transactions between the Group and its associate are recognised in the Group’s
financial statements only to the extent of unrelated investor’s interests
in the associates. Unrealised losses are eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.
Accounting policies of associates have been changed where necessary
to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Associates are all entities over which the Group has significant
influence but not control, generally accompanying a shareholding of
between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. Investments in associates
are accounted for using the equity method of accounting and are
initially recognised at cost, and the carrying amount is increased or
decreased to recognise the investor’s share of the profit or loss of
the investee after the date of acquisition. The Group’s investment in
associates includes goodwill identified on acquisition.

2.5 Segment reporting

If the ownership interest in an associate is reduced but significant
influence is retained, only a proportionate share of the amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified to
profit or loss where appropriate.

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the
internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-maker.
The chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating
resources and assessing performance of the operating segments, is the
Management Board of the Parent Company.

The Group’s share of its associates’ post-acquisition profits or losses is
recognised in the income statement and its share of post-acquisition
movements in the associates’ other comprehensive income is recognised directly in other comprehensive income with a corresponding
adjustment to the carrying amount of the investment. When the
Group’s share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest
in the associate, including any other unsecured receivables, the Group
does not recognise any further losses, unless it has incurred legal or
constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.
The Group determines at each reporting date whether there is any
objective evidence that the investment in the associate is impaired. If

2.6 Foreign currency translation
(a) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s
entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (‘the functional currency’).
The consolidated financial statements are presented in euros, which
is the functional currency of the parent company and presentation
currency of the Group. The financial statements have been rounded to
the nearest million, unless stated otherwise.

102
| Eesti Energia Annual Report | Consolidated financial statements |

(b) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional
currency using the official exchange rates of the European Central
Bank prevailing at the dates of the transactions or valuation where
items are re-measured. When the European Central Bank does not
quote a particular currency, the official exchange rate against the Euro
of the central bank issuing the currency is used as the basis. Foreign
exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such
transactions are recognised in the income statement. Monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated using
the official exchange rate of the European Central Bank prevailing at
the balance sheet date or on the basis of the official exchange rate of
the central bank of the country issuing the foreign currency when the
European Central Bank does not quote the particular currency. Foreign
exchange gains and losses from translation are recognised in the
income statement, except for gains and losses from the revaluation of
cash flow hedging instruments recognised as effective hedges, which
are recognised in other comprehensive income. Foreign exchange gains
and losses that relate to borrowings and cash and cash equivalents
are presented as finance income and costs; other foreign exchange
gains and losses are presented as other operating income or other
operating expenses.
(c ) Group companies

The results and financial position of the subsidiaries that have a functional currency different from the presentation currency are translated
into the presentation currency as follows:
- assets and liabilities are translated at the closing rate of the
European Central Bank at the date of that balance sheet;

- income and expenses are translated at average exchange
rates of the period (unless this average is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on
the transaction dates, in which case income and expenses are
translated at the rate on the dates of the transactions); and
- all resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income.
Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a
foreign subsidiary are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign
subsidiary and translated at the closing rate. Exchange differences
arising are recognised in other comprehensive income.
None of the subsidiaries in the Group operates in a hyper-inflationary economy.

2.7 Classification of assets and liabilities as
current or non-current
Assets and liabilities are classified in the statement of financial position
as current or non-current. Assets expected to be disposed of during
the next financial year or during the normal operating cycle of the
Group are considered as current. Liabilities whose due date is during
the next financial year or that are expected to be settled during the
next financial year or during the normal operating cycle of the Group
are considered as current. All other assets and liabilities are classified
as non-current.

2.8 Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment (PPE) are tangible items that are used
in the operating activities of the Group with an expected useful life of
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over one year. Property, plant and equipment are presented in the
statement of financial position at historical cost less any accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses. Historical cost includes
expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.
The cost of purchased non-current assets comprises the purchase
price, transportation costs, installation, and other direct expenses
related to the acquisition or implementation of the asset. The cost of the
self-constructed items of property, plant and equipment includes the
cost of materials, services and payroll expenses.
If an item of property, plant and equipment consists of components
with significantly different useful lives, these components are depreciated as separate items of property, plant and equipment.
When the construction of an item of property, plant and equipment
lasts for a substantial period of time and is funded with a loan or
other debt instrument, the related borrowing costs (interest) are
capitalised in the cost of the item being constructed. Borrowing costs
are capitalised if the borrowing costs and expenditures for the asset
have been incurred and the construction of the asset has commenced.
Capitalisation of borrowing costs is ceased when the construction of
the asset is completed or when the construction has been suspended
for an extended period of time.
Subsequent expenditures incurred for items of property, plant and
equipment are included in the carrying amount of the item of property,
plant and equipment or are recognised as a separate asset only when
it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the assets
will flow to the Group and the cost of the asset can be measured
reliably. The replaced component or proportion of the replaced item
of PPE is de-recognised. Costs related to ongoing maintenance and
repairs are charged to the income statement.

Land is not depreciated. Depreciation on other asses is calculated using
the straight-line method to allocate their cost to their residual values
over their estimated useful lives, as follows:
Buildings

30–40 years

Facilities, including
electricity lines

12.5–50 years

other facilities

10–60 years

Machinery and equipment, including
transmission equipment

5–45 years

power plant equipment

7–32 years

other machinery and equipment

3–30 years

Other property, plant and equipment

3–10 years

The expected useful lives of items of property, plant and equipment
are reviewed during the annual stocktaking, when subsequent
expenditures are recognised and in the case of significant changes in
development plans. When the estimated useful life of an asset differs
significantly from the previous estimate, it is treated as a change in
the accounting estimate, and the remaining useful life of the asset is
changed, as a result of which the depreciation charge of the following
periods also changes.
An asset’s carrying amount is written down to its recoverable amount
if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable
amount (Note 2.10).
To determine the gains and losses from the sale of property, plant
and equipment, the carrying amount of the assets sold is subtracted
from the proceeds. The resulting gains and losses are recognised in
the income statement items under “Other operating income” or “Other
operating expenses” respectively.

104

| Eesti Energia Annual Report | Consolidated financial statements |

2.9 Intangible assets
Intangible assets are recognised in the statement of financial position
only if the following conditions are met:
- the asset is controlled by the Group;
- it is probable that the future economic benefits that are
attributable to the asset will flow to the Group;
- the cost of the asset can be measured reliably.
Intangible assets (except for goodwill) are amortised using the straightline method over the useful life of the asset.
Intangible assets are tested for impairment if there are any impairment
indicators, similarly to the testing of impairment for items of property,
plant and equipment (except for goodwill). Intangible assets with
indefinite useful lives and intangible assets not yet available for use are
tested for impairment annually by comparing their carrying amount
with their recoverable amount.
(a) Goodwill

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is not subject to
amortisation. Instead, for the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is
allocated to cash-generating units and an impairment test is performed
at the end of each reporting period (or more frequently if an event or
change in circumstances demands it). The allocation is made to those
cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the synergies
of the business combination in which the goodwill arose. Goodwill is
allocated to a cash generating unit or a group of units, not larger than
an operating segment. Goodwill is written down to its recoverable
amount when this is lower than the carrying amount. Impairment
losses on goodwill are not subsequently reversed. Goodwill is reported

in the statement of financial position at the carrying amount (cost
less any impairment losses) (Note 2.10). When determining gains and
losses on the disposal of a subsidiary, the carrying amount of goodwill
relating to the entity sold is regarded as part of the carrying amount of
the subsidiary.
(b) Development costs

Development costs are costs that are incurred in applying research
findings for the development of specific new products or processes.
Development costs are capitalised if all of the criteria for recognition
specified in IAS 38 have been met. Capitalised development costs are
amortised over the period during which the products are expected to
be used. Expenses related to starting up a new business unity, research
carried out for collecting new scientific or technical information and
training costs are not capitalised.
(c ) Contractual rights

Contractual rights acquired in a business combination are recognised at
fair value on acquisition and are subsequently carried at cost less any
accumulated amortisation. Contractual rights are amortised using the
straight-line basis over the expected duration of the contractual right.
(d) Computer software

Costs associated with the ongoing maintenance of computer software
programs are recognised as an expense as incurred. Acquired computer software which is not an integral part of the related hardware is
recognised as an intangible asset. Development costs that are directly
attributable to the design and testing of identifiable software products
controlled by the Group are recognised as intangible assets when the
following criteria are met:
- it is technically feasible to complete the software product so that
it will be available for use;
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- management intends to complete the software
product and use it;
- there is an ability to use the software product;
- it can be demonstrated how the software product will generate
probable future economic benefits;
- adequate technical, financial and other resources for completing
the development and using the software product are available;
- the expenditure attributable to the software product during its
development can be reliably measured.
Capitalised software development costs include payroll expenses
and an appropriate portion of related overheads. Other development
expenditures that do not meet these criteria are recognised as an
expense as incurred. Development costs previously recognised as an
expense are not recognised as an asset in a subsequent period. Computer software development costs are amortised over their estimated
useful lives (not exceeding 15 years) using the straight-line method.
(e) Right of use of land

Payments made for rights of superficies and servitudes meeting the
criteria for recognition as intangible assets are recognised as intangible
assets. The costs related to rights of use of land are depreciated
according to the contract period, not exceeding 99 years.
(f) Greenhouse gas emission allowances

Greenhouse gas emission allowances controllable by the Group are
accounted for as current asset. Greenhouse gas emission allowances
received from the state free of charge are recognised at zero cost. Any
additionally purchased allowances are recognised at purchase cost or

based on the revaluation method, if the Group has acquired the greenhouse gas emission allowances more than presumably needed and the
Group has a plan to sell the allowances. The provision for greenhouse
gas emissions is set up in the average price of the greenhouse gas
emission allowances that are owned by the Group or that will be
allocated to the Group free of charge (Note 2.24).
(g) Exploration and evaluation assets of mineral resources

Expenditures that are included in the initial measurement of exploration
and evaluation assets include the acquisition of rights to explore;
topographical, geological, geochemical and geophysical studies;
exploratory drilling; sampling and activities related to evaluation
of the technical feasibility and economic viability of extracting a
mineral resource.
Exploration and evaluation assets are initially recognised at cost.
Depending on the nature of the asset, the exploration and evaluation
assets are classified as intangible assets or items of property, plant
and equipment. Expenditure on the construction, installation and
completion of infrastructure facilities is capitalised within items of
property, plant and equipment, other exploration and evaluation assets
are recognised as intangible assets. After initial recognition, exploration
and evaluation assets are measured using the cost model. Exploration
and evaluation assets are tested for impairment (Note 2.12) when one
or more of the following circumstances are present:
– the period for which the Group has the right to explore in the
specific area has expired during the period or will expire in the
near future, and is not expected to be renewed;
– substantive expenditure on future exploration for and
evaluation of mineral resources in the specific area is neither
budgeted nor planned;
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– exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources in the
specific area have not led to the discovery of commercially viable
quantities of mineral resources and the Group has decided to
discontinue such activities in the specific area;

If the fair value of the asset less costs to sell cannot be determined
reliably, the recoverable amount of the asset is its value in use. The
value in use is calculated by discounting the expected future cash
flows generated by the asset to their present value.

– sufficient data exist to indicate that, although a development in
the specific area is likely to proceed, the carrying amount of the
exploration and evaluation asset is unlikely to be recovered in full
from successful development or by sale.

An impairment test is carried out if any of the following indicators of
impairment exist:

(h) Mining rights

Mining rights controllable by the Group are accounted for as current
or non-current intangible assets depending on the expected realisation
period. Mining rights received from the state free of charge are recognised at zero cost. The fee for extracted natural resources that is paid
according to the volume of natural resources extracted is recognised in
expenses as incurred (Note 2.22).

2.10 Impairment of non-financial assets
Assets that have indefinite useful lives (for example goodwill or intangible assets not ready to use) are not subject to amortisation but are
tested annually for impairment. Assets that are subject to amortisation/
depreciation and land are reviewed for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not
be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by
which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s:
- fair value less costs of disposal; and
- value in use.

– the market value of similar assets has decreased;
– the general economic environment and the market situation
have worsened, and therefore it is likely that the future cash flows
generated by assets will decrease;
– market interest rates have increased;
– the physical condition of the assets has considerably deteriorated;
– revenue generated by assets is lower than expected;
– results of some operating areas are worse than expected;
–the activities of a certain cash generating unit are planned
to be terminated.
If the Group identifies any other evidence of impairment, an impairment
test is performed.
Impairment tests are performed either for an individual asset or group
of assets (cash-generating unit). A cash-generating unit is the smallest
identifiable group of assets that generates cash inflows from continuing
use that are largely independent of the cash inflows generated by
other assets or groups of assets. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately as an expense in the income statement.
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At the end of each reporting period, it is assessed whether there is
any indication that the impairment loss recognised in the prior periods
for an asset other than goodwill may no longer exist or may have
decreased. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount is
estimated. According to the results of the estimate, the impairment loss
can be partially or wholly reversed. An impairment loss recognised for
goodwill shall not be reversed in a subsequent period.

2.11 Non-current assets (or disposal groups) held for sale
Non-current assets (or disposal groups) are classified as assets held
for sale when their carrying amount is to be recovered principally
through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use, and
a sale is considered highly probable. They are stated at the lower of
carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell.

2.12 Financial assets
2.12.1 Classification
The Group classifies its financial assets in the following measurement categories:
• those to be measured subsequently at fair value (either through OCI
or through profit or loss), and
• those to be measured at amortised cost.
The classification depends on the Group’s business model for managing
the financial assets and the contractual terms of the cash flows.

2.12.2 Recognition and derecognition
Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised
on trade-date, the date on which the Group commits to purchase or
sell the asset.

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash
flows from the financial assets have expired or have been transferred
and the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership.

2.12.3 Measurement
At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at its fair
value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit
or loss (FVPL), transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs of financial assets
carried at FVPL are expensed in profit or loss.

2.12.4 Debt instruments
Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the Group’s
business model for managing the asset and the cash flow characteristics of the asset.
All Group’s debt instruments are classified in amortised cost measurement category

2.12.5 Amortised cost
Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where
those cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest
are measured at amortised cost. Interest income from these financial
assets is included in finance income using the effective interest rate
method. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition is recognised directly
in profit or loss and presented in other income/(expenses). Foreign
exchange gains and losses and impairment losses are presented as
separate line items in the statement of profit or loss.
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2.12.6 Equity instruments

2.13 Offsetting financial instruments

The Group has no investments in equity instruments.

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in
the balance sheet when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis
or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. The legally
enforceable right must not be contingent on future events and must
be enforceable in the normal course of business and in the event of
default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the company or the counterparty.

2.12.7 Derivative financial instruments
Derivative financial instruments are carried at their fair value. All
derivative instruments are carried as assets when fair value is positive
and as liabilities when fair value is negative. Changes in the fair value
of derivative instruments are included in profit or loss for the year.
The Group applies hedge accounting. Accounting principles for hedge
accounting are disclosed in Note 2.14.

2.12.8 Impairment
The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis the expected credit
losses (“ECL”) associated with its debt instruments carried at amortised
cost. The impairment methodology applied depends on whether there
has been a significant increase in credit risk.
The measurement of ECL reflects: (i) an unbiased and probability
weighted amount that is determined by evaluating a range of possible
outcomes, (ii) time value of money and (iii) all reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost and effort at the
end of each reporting period about past events, current conditions and
forecasts of future conditions.
For trade receivables without a significant financing component the
Group applies a simplified approach permitted by IFRS 9 and measures
the allowance for impairment losses at expected lifetime credit losses
from initial recognition of the receivables. The Group uses a provision
matrix in which allowance for impairment losses is calculated for trade
receivables falling into different ageing or overdue periods.

2.14 Derivative financial instruments and
hedging activities
Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date a derivative
contract is entered into and are subsequently re-measured at their fair
value. The method for recognising the resulting gain or loss depends
on whether the derivative is designated as a hedging instrument, and
if it is, the nature of the item being hedged. The Group uses cash flow
hedging instruments in order to hedge the risk of changes of the prices
of shale oil and electricity.
The Group documents at the inception of the transaction the relationship between hedging instruments and hedged items, and also its risk
management objectives and strategy for undertaking various hedge
transactions. The Group also documents its assessment and tests, both
at hedge inception and on an ongoing basis, of whether the derivatives
that are used in hedging transactions are highly effective in offsetting
changes in the cash flows of the hedged items.
The fair values of derivative financial instruments used for hedging
purposes are disclosed in Note 14. Movements on the hedge reserve
in other comprehensive income are disclosed in Note 20. The full
fair value of hedging derivatives is classified as a non-current asset
or liability when the remaining maturity of the hedged item is more
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than 12 months and as a current asset or liability when the remaining
maturity of the hedged item is less than 12 months. Derivatives held for
trading are classified as current assets or liabilities.
(a) Cash flow hedge

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives (for
options only the intrinsic value) that are designated and qualify as cash
flow hedges is recognised in other comprehensive income. The gain or
loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in the
income statement as a net amount within other operating income or
operating expenses.
Amounts accumulated in equity are reclassified to profit or loss in the
periods when the hedged item affects profit or loss (for instance, when
the forecast sale that is hedged takes place).
When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, or when a hedge no
longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, any cumulative gain or
loss existing in equity at that time remains in equity and is recognised
when the forecast transaction is ultimately recognised in the income
statement. When a forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur,
the cumulative gain or loss that was reported in equity is immediately
recognised as other operating income or operating expenses in the
income statement.
Hedging instruments, which are combined from various components
of derivative instruments, are recognised at fair value with changes
through profit or loss until the acquisition of all components.

from changes in the fair value of such derivatives are included within
other operating income or operating expenses in the income statement.
(c )Derivatives at own use

Derivative contracts that are entered into use and continue to be
held for the purpose of the receipt of the underlying commodity in
accordance with the Group’s expected purchase requirements are
accounted for as regular purchases of underlying commodities. For
example, any futures contracts for buying greenhouse gas emissions
allowances that are necessary for the Group’s electricity production
purposes are not recognised as derivatives on the balance sheet; the
emissions allowances purchased are recognised as intangible assets
when settlement of future contract occurs and emissions allowances
are transferred to the Group. Any payments made to the counterparty
before the settlement date are recognised as prepayments for
intangible assets.
If the terms of the contracts permit either party to settle it net in cash
or another financial instrument or the commodity that is the subject of
the contracts is readily convertible to cash, the contracts are evaluated
to see if they qualify for own use treatment. Contracts that do not
qualify for own use treatment, are accounted for as derivatives as
described above

2.15 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include bank account balances and cash in
transit as well as short-term highly liquid investments in banks.

(b) Derivatives at fair value through profit or loss

Derivatives which are not designated as hedging instruments are
carried at fair value through profit or loss. The gains and losses arising
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2.16 Trade receivables
Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for merchandise
sold or services performed in the ordinary course of business.
Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method,
less provision for impairment. A provision for the impairment of trade
receivables is established when there is objective evidence that the
Group will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the
original terms of receivables. Significant financial difficulties of the
debtor, the probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or financial
reorganisation, and default or delinquency in payments (more than 90
days overdue) are considered indicators that the trade receivable is
impaired. Material receivables are assessed individually. The rest of the
receivables are collectively assessed for impairment, using previous
years’ experience of impairment which is adjusted to take account
of current conditions. The amount of the provision is the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of
estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest
rate. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of
an allowance account, and the amount of the loss is recognised in the
income statement within other operating expenses. When a receivable
is classified as uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance
account for trade receivables. Subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously written off are credited in the income statement against
other operating expenses.
If collection is expected within one year or less, the receivables are
classified as current assets. If not, they are presented as non-current
assets. Long-term receivables from customers are recognised at the
present value of the collectible amount. The difference between the

nominal value and the present value of the collectible receivable is
recognised as interest income during the period remaining until the
maturity date using the effective interest rate.

2.17 Inventories
Inventories are stated in the statement of financial position at the lower
of cost or net realisable value. The weighted average method is used to
expense inventories. The cost of finished goods and work in progress
comprises raw materials, direct labour, other direct costs and related
production overheads (based on normal operating capacity), but it
excludes borrowing costs. The cost of raw and other materials consists
of the purchase price, expenditure on transportation and other costs
directly related to the purchase.
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course
of business, less applicable variable selling expenses.

2.18 Share capital and statutory reserve capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. No preference shares have
been issued. Unavoidable incremental costs directly attributable to the
issue of new ordinary shares are shown in equity as a deduction from
the proceeds. Shares approved at the General Meeting but not yet
registered in the Commercial Registry are recognised in the equity line
“Unregistered share capital”.
The Commercial Code requires the Parent Company to set up statutory
reserve capital from annual net profit allocations, the minimum amount
of which is 1/10 of share capital. The amount of allocation to annual
statutory reserve capital is 1/20 of the net profit of the financial year until
the reserve reaches the limit set for reserve capital. Reserve capital may
be used to cover a loss that cannot be covered from distributable equity,
or to increase share capital.
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2.19 Trade payables
Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that have
been acquired in the ordinary course of business from suppliers.
Accounts payables are classified as current liabilities if payment is
due within one year or less. If not, they are presented as non-current
liabilities. Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific
borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted
from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.
All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they are incurred.
The capitalised borrowing costs are recognised in the statement of
cash flows under item “Interest and loan fees paid”.

2.20 Borrowings

2.22 Taxation

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs
incurred, and are subsequently carried at amortised cost. Any difference
between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption
value is recognised in the income statement over the period of the
borrowing using the effective interest method.

(a) Corporate income tax on dividends in Estonia

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised as
transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is probable that some or
all of the facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred and
treated as a transaction cost when the draw-down occurs.
Borrowings are recognised as current liabilities unless the Group has an
unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least 12
months after the end of reporting period.

2.21 Borrowing costs
General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which
are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those
assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale.

Under the Income Tax Act, the annual profit earned by entities is not
taxed in Estonia. Corporate income tax is paid on dividends, fringe
benefits, gifts, donations, costs of entertaining guests, non-business
related disbursements and adjustments of the transfer price. The
tax rate on the net dividends paid out of retained earnings is 20/80.
From 2019, dividend distributions may be eligible to a 14% tax rate,
calculated as 14/86 of the net distribution. The more favourable tax rate
can be applied to a dividend distribution that amounts to up to three
preceding years’ average dividend distribution that has been taxed
at 20%, calculated as 20/80 of the net distribution. In calculating the
three preceding years’ average dividend distribution, 2018 is the first
year that is taken into account. In certain circumstances, it is possible
to distribute dividends without any additional income tax expense.
The corporate income tax arising from the payment of dividends is
accounted for as a liability and expense in the period in which dividends
are declared, regardless of the actual payment date or the period for
which the dividends are paid. The income tax liability is due on the 10th
day of the month following the payment of dividends.
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Due to the nature of the taxation system, the entities registered in
Estonia do not have any differences between the tax bases of assets
and their carrying amounts and hence, no deferred income tax assets
and liabilities arise. A contingent income tax liability which would arise
upon the payment of dividends is not recognised in the statement
of financial position. The maximum income tax liability which would
accompany the distribution of retained earnings is disclosed in the
notes to the financial statement.

(b) Other taxes in Estonia

The following taxes had an effect on the Group’s expenses:
Tax

Tax rate

Social security tax

33% of the payroll paid to employees and of fringe benefits

Unemployment insurance
tax

0.8% of the payroll paid to employees

Fringe benefit income tax

20/80 of fringe benefits paid to employees

Pollution charges

Paid for contamination of the air, water, ground water, soil
and waste storage, and based on tonnage and type of
waste. Pollution charge rates for emmission of pollutants
into the air have remained unchanged since 2015: the tax
rate per tonne upon emission of pollutants into the ambient
air is 7.70-1278 (except mercaptans 31 785 euros), emission
of pollutants into water bodies or groundwater 7.09-24 326
euros, emission of waste disposal 0.63-29.84 euros per
tonne.

Fee for extraction right for
oil shale

0.275-2.21 euros per tonne of oil shale extracted (in 2018
0.275-2.21 euros per tonne of oil shale extracted)

Water utilisation charges

1.65-175.24 euros per 1000 m3 of pond or ground water
used (in 2018 1.64-173.5 euros per 1000 m3 of pond or
ground water used).

Land tax

0.1–2.5% on taxable value of land per annum

Tax on heavy trucks

3.50 – 232.60 euros per truck per quarter

Excise tax on electricity

0.5-4.47 euros per MWh of electricity

Excise tax on natural gas

63.31 euros per 1000 m3 of natural gas (in 2018 50.65 euros
per 1000 m3 of natural gas)

Excise tax on shale oil

57.0 euros per 1000 kg of shale oil

Excise tax on oil shale

0.93 euros per giga-joule

Corporate income tax
on non-business related
expenses

20/80 upon distribution of profits (including hidden profit
distributions); 14/86 upon regularly distributed dividends
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(c) Income tax rates in foreign countries in which the Group operates
Latvia

Income earned by resident legal persons is taxed at a rate of 20/80
upon distribution

Lithuania

Income earned by resident legal persons is taxed at an income tax rate
of 15%

Germany

Income earned by resident legal persons is taxed at an income tax rate
of 30-33% (corporate tax, trade tax and solidarity surcharge combined)

the USA

Income earned by resident legal persons is taxed at an income tax rate
of 21%

Jordan

Income earned by resident legal persons is taxed at an income tax rate
of 24%. Jordan Oil Shale Energy is fully exempted from income tax
according to the contracts concluded with the Hashemite Kingdom of
Jordan.

the Netherlands

Income earned by resident legal persons is taxed at an income tax rate
of 25%

Poland

Income earned by resident legal persons is taxed at an income tax rate
of 19%

Finland

Income earned by resident legal persons is taxed at an income tax rate
of 20%

Sweden

Income earned by resident legal persons is taxed at an income tax rate
of 21.4% (in 2018 22%)

(d) Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is recognised in foreign subsidiaries on temporary
differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities
and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements.
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are recognised under the
liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if they
arise from the initial recognition of goodwill; deferred income tax is
not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset and
liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at the
time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit
or loss. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date and
are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is

realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled.
Deferred income tax assets are recognised on deductible temporary
differences arising from investments in subsidiaries and associates only
to the extent that it is probable the temporary difference will reverse in
the future and there is sufficient taxable profit available against which
the temporary difference can be utilised.

2.23 Employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits include wages and salaries as well
as social security taxes, benefits related to the temporary halting of
the employment contract (holiday pay or other similar pay) when it
is assumed that the temporary halting of the employment contract
will occur within 12 months from the end of the period in which the
employee worked, and other benefits payable after the end of the
period during which the employee worked.
If during the reporting period the employee has provided services in
return for which benefits are expected to be paid, the Group will set up
a liability (accrued expense) for the amount of the forecast benefit, from
which all paid amounts are deducted.

Termination benefits
Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated
by the Group before the normal retirement date, or whenever an
employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for these
benefits. The Group recognises termination benefits at the earlier of
the following dates: (a) when the Group can no longer withdraw the
offer of those benefits; and (b) when the Group recognises costs for a
restructuring that is within the scope of IAS 37 and involves the pay-
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ment of termination benefits. In the case of an offer made to encourage
voluntary redundancy, the termination benefits are measured based on
the number of employees expected to accept the offer. Benefits falling
due more than 12 months after the end of the reporting period are
discounted to their present value. Redundancy provisions are set up for
redundancies occurring in the course of restructuring (Note 2.24).

Other employee benefits
Provisions have been set up to cover the benefits arising from
collective agreements and other agreements and the compensation for
work-related injuries (Note 2.24).

2.24 Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is probable that
an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, and
the amount has been reliably estimated. Provisions are measured
at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to
settle the obligation using an interest rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
obligation. The increase in the provision due to the passage of time is
recognised as interest expense.

that some outflow of resources will be needed to settle the class of
obligations as a whole. If that is the case, the provision is recognised (if
the other recognition criteria are met).
Provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and
adjusted to reflect current best estimates. The costs related to setting
up provisions are charged to operating expenses or are included within
the acquisition cost of an item of PPE when the provision is related to
the dismantlement, removal or restoration or other obligation, incurred
either when the item is acquired or as a consequence of use of the item
during a particular period.
Provisions are used only to cover the expenses for which
they were set up.
Where some or all of the expenditure required to settle a provision
is expected to be reimbursed by another party, the reimbursement
shall be recognised when, and only when, it is virtually certain that
reimbursement will be received if the Group settles the obligation. The
reimbursement shall be treated as a separate asset. The amount of the
reimbursement may not exceed the amount of the provision.
(a) Provisions for post-employment benefits and work-related
injury compensation

Provisions are recognised based on management’s estimates. If
required, independent experts may be involved. Provisions are not
recognised for future operating losses.

If the Group has the obligation to pay post-employment benefits to
their former employees, a provision is set up to cover these costs. The
provision is based on the terms of the obligation and the estimated
number of people eligible for the compensation.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an
outflow will be required in settlement is determined by considering the
class of obligations as a whole. Although the likelihood of an outflow
of resources may be small for any individual item, it may be probable

Provisions for work-related injuries are recognised to cover expenditure
related to future payments to former employees according to court
orders over the estimated period of such an obligation.
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(b) Environmental protection provisions

Environmental protection provisions are recognised to cover environmental damages that have occurred before the end of the reporting
period when this is required by law or when the Group’s past environmental policies have demonstrated that the Group has a constructive
present obligation to liquidate this environmental damage. Experts’
opinions and prior experience in performing environmental work are
used to set up the provisions.
(c ) Provisions for the termination of mining operations

Provisions for the termination of mining operations are set up to cover
the costs related to the closing of mines and quarries, if it is required by
law. Experts’ opinion and prior experience gained from the termination
of mining operations is used to set up the provisions.
(d) Provision for termination benefits

Provisions for termination benefits have been recognised to cover the
costs related to employee redundancy if the Group has announced
a restructuring plan, identifying the expenditure, the business or part
of a business concerned, the principal locations affected, the location,
function and approximate number of employees who will be compensated for termination of their services, the timing of the implementation
of the plan; and if the Group has raised a valid expectation among those
affected that it will carry out the restructuring by starting to implement
that plan or announcing its main features to those affected by it.
(e) Provision for the dismantling cost of assets

The provisions for the dismantling of assets are set up to cover the
estimated costs relating to the future dismantling of assets if the
dismantling of assets is required by law or if the Group’s past practice
has demonstrated that the Group has a present constructive obligation

to incur these costs. The present value of the dismantling costs of
assets is included within the cost of property, plant and equipment.
(f) Provisions for greenhouse gas emissions

A provision for greenhouse gas emissions is set up in the average
price of the greenhouse gas emission allowances that are owned by
the Group or that will be allocated to the Group free of charge to meet
the obligations arising from legislation relating to greenhouse gas
emissions. When the Group surrenders the greenhouse gas emission
allowances to the state for the greenhouse gases emitted, both the
provision and the intangible assets are reduced by equal quantities and
amounts (Note 2.9).
(g) Provisions for onerous contracts

A provision for onerous contract is set up if the Group has concluded
a contract in which the unavoidable costs of meeting the obligations
under the contract exceed the economic benefits expected to be
received under it. The provision is set up in the amount which is the
lower of the cost of fulfilling it (revenues received less expenses
occurred of fulfilling the contract) and any compensation or penalties
arising from failure to fulfill it.
(h) Provision for obligations arising from treaties

Provision for obligations arising from treaties is set up to meet the
obligations arising from treaties, in which realization of timing or
amount is uncertain.

2.25 Contingent liabilities
Possible obligations where it is not probable that an outflow of
resources will be required to settle the obligation, or where the amount
of the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability, but
which may become in certain circumstances liabilities, are disclosed in
the notes to the financial statements as contingent liabilities.
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2.26 Revenue recognition
Revenue is income arising in the course of the Group’s ordinary
activities. Revenue is measured in the amount of transaction price.
Transaction price is the amount of consideration to which the Group
expects to be entitled in exchange of transferring control over promised
goods or services to a customer, excluding the amounts collected on
behalf of third parties. The Group recognises revenue when it transfers
control of a good or service to a customer.
(a) Sale of goods - wholesale

The Group manufactures and sells shale oil and shale in the wholesale
market. Sales are recognised when control of the products has
transferred, being when the products are delivered to the wholesaler,
the wholesaler has full discretion over the channel and price to sell
the products, and there is no unfulfilled obligation that could affect
the wholesaler’s acceptance of the products. Delivery occurs when
the products have been shipped to the specific location, the risks of
obsolescence and loss have been transferred to the wholesaler, and
the wholesaler has accepted the products in accordance with the sales
contract, the acceptance provisions have lapsed, or the Group has
objective evidence that all criteria for acceptance have been satisfied.

considered to be a separate performance obligation and is recognised
over the time of the service rendering.
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received
or receivable for the sale of goods and provision of services in the
ordinary course of business. Revenue is shown net of value-added tax
and discounts after the elimination of intra-group transactions. Revenue is recognised only when the amount of revenue can be reliably
measured and it is probable that future economic benefits will flow
to the Group, all significant risks and rewards incidental to ownership
have been transferred from the seller to the buyer, and the additional
criteria presented below have been met. The amount of revenue can
be measured reliably only when all the conditions related to the
transaction are evident.
(b) Sale of services – electricity, gas, heat

No element of financing is deemed present as the sales are made with
a credit term of up to 90 days, which is consistent with market practice.

The Group provides electricity, gas and heat sale services under fixedprice and variable price contracts. Revenue from providing services is
recognised in the accounting period in which the services are rendered.
For fixed-price contracts, revenue is recognised based on the actual
service provided up to the end of the reporting period as a proportion
of the total services to be provided because the customer receives
and uses the benefits simultaneously. This is determined based on the
actual units delivered.

A receivable is recognised when the goods are delivered as this is the
point in time that the consideration is unconditional because only the
passage of time is required before the payment is due.

If the contract includes variable consideration, revenue is recognised
only to the extent that it is highly probable that there will be no significant reversal of such consideration.

If the Group provides any additional services to the customer after
control over the goods has passed, revenue from such services is

(c ) Connection fees

When connecting to the electricity network, the clients must pay a
connection fee based on the actual costs of infrastructure to be built in
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order to connect them to the network. The management has concluded
that the connection fees do not represent a separate performance
obligation from the sale of electricity or the ongoing provision of
network transmission services, and thus the revenue from connection
fees is deferred and recognised as revenue over the estimated average
useful lives of assets providing the service, being 32 years. Connection
fees received from customers are carried in the statement of financial
position as “Deferred income” within long-term liabilities.
(d) Financing component

The Group does not have any contracts where the period between the
transfer of the promised goods or services to the customer and payment by the customer exceeds one year. Consequently, the Group does
not adjust any of the transaction prices for the time value of money.

2.27 Government grants
Government grants are recognised at fair value, when there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and the Group will comply
with all attached conditions. Grants are recognised as income over
the periods necessary to match them with the costs which they are
intended to compensate.
Assets acquired through government grants are initially recognised
in the statement of financial position at cost. The amount received
as a government grant is recognised as deferred income related
to the government grant. Related assets are depreciated and the
grant is recognised as income over the estimated useful life of the
depreciable asset.

2.28 Leases
A lease is an agreement whereby the lessor conveys to the lessee
the right to use an asset for an agreed period of time in return for a

payment or series of payments. Leases which transfer all significant
risks and rewards incidental to ownership to the lessee are classified
as finance leases. Other leases are classified as operating leases.
(a) The Group as the lessee

Accounting policies from 1 January 2019
At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the contract
is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.
Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives received
from the lessor) are charged to the income statement on a straight-line
basis over the period of the lease.
The Group determines the lease term as the non-cancellable period
of a lease, together with both periods covered by an option to extend
the lease if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise that option;
and periods covered by an option to terminate the lease if the lessee
is reasonably certain not to exercise that option. A lessee reassesses
whether it is reasonably certain to exercise an extension option, or
not to exercise a termination option, upon the occurrence of either a
significant event or a significant change in circumstances that is within
the control of the lessee; and affects whether the lessee is reasonably
certain to exercise an option not previously included in its determination of the lease term, or not to exercise an option previously included
in its determination of the lease term. The Group revises the lease term
if there is a change in the non-cancellable period of a lease.
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2.28.1 Initial measurement
At the commencement date, a lessee shall recognise a right-of-use
asset and a lease liability.
At the commencement date, a lessee shall measure the right-of-use
asset at cost. The cost of the right-of-use asset shall comprise:
• the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;
• any lease payments made at or before the commencement date,
less any lease incentives received;
• any initial direct costs incurred by the lessee;
• an estimate of costs to be incurred by the lessee in dismantling and
removing the underlying asset, restoring the site on
which it is located or restoring the underlying asset to the condition
required by the terms and conditions of the lease.
Right-of-use asset is recorded on the separate line in the statement of
financial position.
At the commencement date, the Group measures the lease liability at
the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at that date.
The lease payments shall be discounted using the interest rate implicit
in the lease, if that rate can be readily determined. If that rate cannot
be readily determined, the lessee shall use the lessee’s incremental
borrowing rate, being the rate that the individual lessee would have to
pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value
to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment with similar
terms, security and conditions.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group:
• where possible, uses recent third-party financing received by the
individual lessee as a starting point, adjusted to reflect changes in
financing conditions since third party financing was received;
• uses a build-up approach that starts with the average interest margin of the industry adjusted with the credit risk of the Group;
• makes adjustments specific to the lease, eg lease term, country,
currency and security.
At the commencement date, the lease payments included in the
measurement of the lease liability comprise the following payments
for the right to use the underlying asset during the lease term that are
not paid at the commencement date:
a) fixed payments, less any lease incentives receivable;
b) variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially
measured using the index or rate as at the commencement date.
Variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate include, for
example, payments linked to a consumer price index, payments linked
to a benchmark interest rate (such as LIBOR) or payments that vary to
reflect changes in market rental rates;
c) amounts expected to be payable by the lessee under residual
value guarantees;
d) the exercise price of a purchase option if the lessee is reasonably
certain to exercise that option; and
e) payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term
reflects the lessee exercising an option to terminate the lease.
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2.28.2 Subsequent measurement
After the commencement date, a lessee measures the right-of-use
asset applying a cost model. To apply a cost model, a lessee measures
the right-of-use asset at cost less any accumulated depreciation
and any accumulated impairment losses and adjusted for any
remeasurement of the lease liability. Right-of-use assets are generally
depreciated over the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease
term on a straight-line basis. If the lease transfers ownership of the
underlying asset to the lessee by the end of the lease term or if the
cost of the right-of-use asset reflects that the lessee will exercise a
purchase option, the lessee shall depreciate the right-of-use asset from
the commencement date to the end of the useful life of the underlying
asset. Otherwise, the lessee shall depreciate the right-of-use asset
from the commencement date to the earlier of the end of the useful life
of the right-of-use asset or the end of the lease term.
After the commencement date, a lessee shall measure the
lease liability by:
a) increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the
lease liability;
b) reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease
payments made; and
c) remeasuring the carrying amount to reflect any reassessment
or lease modifications or to reflect revised in-substance fixed
lease payments.
Interest on the lease liability in each period during the lease term shall
be the amount that produces a constant periodic rate of interest on the
remaining balance of the lease liability. After the commencement date,
a lessee recognises in profit or loss interest on the lease liability and

variable lease payments not included in the measurement of the lease
liability in the period in which the event or condition that triggers those
payments occurs.
If there are changes in lease payments, there may be need to remeasure the lease liability. A lessee shall recognise the amount of the
remeasurement of the lease liability as an adjustment to the right-ofuse asset. However, if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset is
reduced to zero and there is a further reduction in the measurement of
the lease liability, a lessee shall recognise any remaining amount of the
remeasurement in profit or loss.
A lessee shall remeasure the lease liability by discounting the revised
lease payments using a revised discount rate, if either:
a) there is a change in the lease term. A lessee shall determine the
revised lease payments on the basis of the revised lease term; or
b) there is a change in the assessment of an option to purchase the
underlying asset. A lessee shall determine the revised lease payments
to reflect the change in amounts payable under the purchase option.
A lessee shall remeasure the lease liability by discounting the revised
lease payments, if either:
a) there is a change in the amounts expected to be payable under a
residual value guarantee. A lessee shall determine the revised lease
payments to reflect the change in amounts expected to be payable
under the residual value guarantee.
b) there is a change in future lease payments resulting from a change
in an index or a rate used to determine those payments, including for
example a change to reflect changes in market rental rates following
a market rent review. The lessee shall remeasure the lease liability
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to reflect those revised lease payments only when there is a change
in the cash flows (ie when the adjustment to the lease payments
takes effect). A lessee shall determine the revised lease payments
for the remainder of the lease term based on the revised contractual
payments. The lessee shall use an unchanged discount rate, unless
the change in lease payments results from a change in floating
interest rates.

(b) The Group as the lessor

A lessee shall account for a lease modification as a
separate lease if both:
a) the modification increases the scope of the lease by adding the right
to use one or more underlying assets;

Dividends are recognised as a reduction of retained earnings and a
payable to shareholders at the moment the dividends are announced.

b) the consideration for the lease increases by an amount commensurate with the stand-alone price for the increase in scope and
any appropriate adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect the
circumstances of the particular contract.
The Group has elected not to apply the requirements of IFRS 16 to
short-term leases and leases for which the underlying asset is of low
value. Payments associated with short-term leases and all leases of
low-value assets are recognised on a straight-line basis as an expense
in profit or loss. Short-term leases are leases with a lease term of 12
months or less. Low-value assets comprise of IT equipment

The accounting policies for items of property, plant and equipment
are applied to assets leased out under operating lease terms. Rental
income is recognised in the income statement on a straight-line basis
over the lease term.

2.29 Dividend distribution

2.30 Related party transactions
For the purposes of preparing the consolidated financial statements,
the related parties include the associates of the Group, the members of
the Supervisory and Management Boards of Eesti Energia AS and other
individuals and entities who can control or significantly influence the
Group’s financial and operating decisions. As the shares of Eesti Energia
AS belong 100% to the Republic of Estonia, the related parties also
include entities under the control or significant influence of the state.

Accounting policies until 31 December 2018
Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives received
from the lessor) are charged to the income statement on a straight-line
basis over the period of the lease.
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3. Financial risk management

Polish zloty

3.1. Financial risks

The Group has subsidiaries in Poland whose functional currency is the
zloty.

The Group’s activities are accompanied by a variety of financial risks:
market risk (which includes currency risk, cash flow and fair value
interest rate risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s
overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of
financial markets and seeks to minimise adverse effects on the Group’s
financial performance. The Group uses derivative financial instruments
to hedge certain risk exposures.
The purpose of financial risk management is to mitigate financial risks
and minimise the volatility of financial results. The risk and internal
audit department under the Chairman of the Management Board and
auditing committee is engaged in risk management and is responsible
for the development, implementation and maintenance of the Group’s
risk management system. The Group’s financial risks are managed in
accordance with the principles established by the Management Board
at the Group level. The Group’s liquidity, interest rate and currency risks
are managed in the finance department of the Parent Company.

3.1.1 Market risks

At the end of reporting period, the Group had the following balances of
financial assets and liabilities denominated in Polish zloty.
in million EUR

31 DECEMBER
2019

2018

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 17)
Derivatives
Trade and other receivables

3.2

3.4

-

1.6

19.4

5.3

Liabilities
Derivatives

4.5

-

Trade and other payables

5.2

1.4

Had the Polish zloty’s exchange rate at 31 December 2019 been 3%
(31 December 2018: 6%) higher or lower (with other factors remaining
constant), the Group’s profit for the financial year would have been
EUR 0.4 million higher/lower (2018: EUR 0.5 million higher/lower) as a
result of the revaluation of the balances of cash and cash equivalents,
derivatives, trade and other receivables and trade and other payables.

3.1.1.1 Currency risk
Currency risk is the risk that the fair value of financial instruments or
cash flows will fluctuate in the future due to exchange rate changes.
The financial assets and liabilities denominated in euros are considered
to be free of currency risk. All long-term borrowings and electricity
export contracts are also concluded in euros to avoid currency risk. The
Group is exposed to currency risk in the following currencies.
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US dollar
Few procurement and other contracts have been concluded in a
currency other than the functional currency of the Group companies.
The majority of these transactions included the transactions concluded
in US dollars.
At the end of reporting period, the Group had the following balances of
financial assets and liabilities denominated in US dollars..
in million EUR

31 DECEMBER
2019

2018

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 17)
Derivatives

2.8

2.7

1.8

4.2

23.5

8.2

Derivatives

1.0

1.9

Trade and other payables

0.2

2.3

Trade and other receivables
Liabilities

Had the US dollar’s exchange rate at 31 December 2019 been 6% (31
December 2018: 10%) higher or lower (with other factors remaining
constant), the Group’s profit for the financial year would have been EUR
1.6 million higher/lower (2018: EUR 1.1 million higher/lower) as a result
of the revaluation of the balances of cash and cash equivalents, trade
and other receivables and trade and other payables.

3.1.1.2 Price risk
Price risk is the risk that the fair value and cash flows of financial
instruments will fluctuate in the future for reasons other than changes
in the market prices resulting from interest rate risk or foreign
exchange risk. The sale of goods produced and services provided by
the Group under free market conditions, the purchase of resources

used in production, and financial assets recognised at fair value through
profit or loss are impacted by price risk.

3.1.1.2.1 The price risk of commodities
The primary commodity price risks are the price risks associated with
the sale of shale oil, the purchase and sale of electricity and natural
gas, and the purchase of greenhouse gas emission allowances. The
Group uses various derivative instruments to mitigate those price risks.

Derivatives used to hedge the risks associated with the purchase
and sale of electricity
To hedge the risk of electricity price volatility, the Group uses derivatives (swaps and forward contracts), which are entered into for the
purchase or sale of a specific amount of electricity at each hour of trading. Transactions designed to hedge the risk of variability in electricity
prices are designated as hedging instruments in cash flow hedges. The
underlying hedged items are the risk components of highly probable
forecast electricity sales transactions: the Nord Pool system price,
and the difference between the system price and the Finnish area
price (the price spread). The volume of derivative instruments entered
into to hedge the price risk associated with the electricity produced
by the power plants of Enefit Energiatootmine depends on their
planned minimum monthly electricity output. The volume of derivative
instruments entered into to hedge the price risk associated with the
electricity sold to customers in Estonia, Latvia, Lithuania, Finland, and
Sweden under long-term fixed-price contracts depends on the electricity sales volumes forecast based on contracts signed for future periods.
The hedge ratio of the hedging relationships is one to one.
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The derivatives entered into to hedge the risks associated with
the purchase and sale of electricity will be settled in 2020–2024
(31 December 2018: 2019–2023). For the period, the Group has entered
into derivative contracts on 4.39 TWh (31 December 2018: 0.95 TWh)
to hedge exposure to the Nord Pool system price risk component and
2.8 TWh (31 December 2018: 1.2 TWh) to hedge exposure to the price
spread risk component. The fair value of the transactions is determined
based on the Nasdaq OMX quotes. Their weighted average underlying
price was 36.86 euros/MWh at 31 December 2019 (41.62 euros/MWh
at 31 December 2018).

Derivatives used to hedge the risks associated with the sale of
shale oil
The Group uses derivatives (swaps) to hedge the risk of variability in
shale oil prices. In these transactions, the Group or a counterparty
undertakes to pay the difference between a fixed price and the market
price in a given period of time. According to the Group’s hedging policy,
the purpose of hedging is to ensure a predefined amount of profit after
variable expenses. Contracts are concluded for the sale of specific
amounts of shale oil in subsequent periods and they are designated
as hedging instruments in cash flow hedges. The underlying hedged
item is the risk component of highly probable forecast shale oil sales
transactions: heavy fuel oil with 1% sulphur content, or its separately
identifiable subcomponents. The volume of derivative transactions
entered into to hedge the price risk of shale oil sales depends on
long-term sales contracts signed for future periods and the production
plan. Consistent with the Group’s hedging strategy, derivative contracts
are concluded for the next three years to the extent of 30% to 90% of
the volumes of highly probable forecast sales transactions. The hedge
ratio of the hedging relationships is one to one.

Derivatives entered into to hedge the risks associated with the sale of
shale oil will be settled in 2020–2022 (31 December 2018: 2019–2021).
For the period, the Group has entered into derivative contracts of 740
thousand Mt (31 December 2018: 619 thousand Mt) to hedge exposure
to the heavy fuel oil (1% sulphur content) risk component. The fair value
of the transactions is determined based on the ICE and Platts European
Marketscan quotes. Their weighted average underlying price was 306
euros/Mt at 31 December 2019 (291 euros/Mt at 31 December 2018).
The effective portion of the change in the fair value of a hedging
transaction is recognised in other comprehensive income and reclassified to profit or loss where it is recognised as revenue or a reduction
of revenue when the forecast sales transaction occurs, or as other
operating income or expense when it becomes clear that the occurrence of the forecast sales transaction in a given period is unlikely. The
Group has not identified any material sources of hedge ineffectiveness
that are expected to affect the hedging relationships.
Changes in the fair value of hedging instruments, which are recognised
in the hedge reserve, are disclosed in Note 20. Further information on
derivatives is provided in Notes 14 and 15.

Derivatives held for trading
Derivatives held for trading mainly include derivatives for the purchase
and sale of natural gas, and the purchase and sale of electricity in
Poland as the Group does not apply the principles of hedge accounting
to these products and markets. Liquidity swaps, which are designed
to transfer changes in the value of past transactions to counterparties
that can be traded with without covering market values on a daily basis,
are also classified as derivatives held for trading. In addition, natural
gas, electricity, and oil derivatives offered to customers through intermediation transactions are classified as derivatives held for trading.
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3.1.1.3 Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of financial instruments or
cash flows will fluctuate in the future due to changes in market interest
rates. Cash flow interest rate risk arises to the Group from floating
interest rate borrowings and lies in the danger that financial expenses
increase when interest rates increase.
Sensitivity analysis is used to assess the interest rate risk. For
managing the Group’s interest rate risks, the principle that the share
of fixed interest rate borrowings in the portfolio should be over 50% is
followed. The Group has predominantly locked the risk resulting from
fluctuations in the base interest rate. Taking into account the impact of
interest rate swaps, at the financial year-end, for 63.6% of the Group’s
borrowings the base interest rate was locked until maturity and 36.4%
had floating interest rate (31 December 2018: for 77.5% of the Group’s
borrowings the base interest rate was locked until maturity and 22.5%
had floating interest rate) (Note 21).
Due to that the changes in the market interest rate don’t have material
effect on the Group’s borrowings, however they may affect the fair
value of the borrowings. Overnight deposits and term deposits have
been entered into with fixed interest rates and they do not result in an
interest rate risk for cash flows to the Group. Any reasonably possible
change in the fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss would not have had significant impact on the Group’s net profit.

3.1.2 Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that the Group will incur a monetary loss caused
by the other party to a financial instrument because of that party’s
inability to meet its obligations. Cash in bank deposits, derivatives
with a positive value and trade and other receivables are exposed
to credit risk.

According to the principles of depositing of available monetary funds of
the Group, the following principles are followed
• preserving capital
• ensuring liquidity at the right moment for the needs of business;
• optimal return considering the previous two goals.
Short-term monetary funds can be deposited in the following domestic
and foreign financial instruments:
• money market funds and interest rate funds in which holdings or
shares can be redeemed or sell on a regular basis;
• deposits of credit institutions;
• freely negotiable bonds and other freely negotiable
debt instruments.
Requirements for the level of credit risk of issuers and partners of
financial instruments (including hedge transactions) and maximum
positions of each partner are approved by the Group’s committee of the
financial risks.
The available monetary funds can be deposited only in financial instruments nominated in euros. In addition there are certain requirements
for the maturities of the financial instruments and diversification.
The unpaid invoices of clients are handled on a daily basis in the
departments specifically set up for this purpose. The automated
reminder and warning system sends messages to customers about
overdue invoices with the warning that if they are not paid, the clients
will be cut off from the electricity network. After that, a collection
petition is filed at the court or a collection agency. Special agreements
are in the jurisdiction of special credit committees.
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The maximum amount exposed to credit risk was as follows as at the
end of the reporting period:
in million EUR

31 DECEMBER
2019

2018

194.5

163.3

Bank accounts and deposits recognised as cash
equivalents in banks (Note 12, 15 and 17)

34.6

61.5

Derivatives with positive value
(Notes 3.3, 12, 14 and 15)

14.3

50.6

243.4

275.4

Trade and other receivables (Notes 12 and 13)*

Total amount exposed to credit risk
* Total trade and other receivables less prepayments

Trade receivables are shown net of impairment losses. Although
the collection of receivables can be impacted by economic factors,
management believes that there is no significant risk of loss beyond
the provisions already recorded. The types of other receivables do not
contain any impaired assets.
More detailed information on credit risk is disclosed in Notes 13 and 15.

3.1.3 Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group is unable to meet its financial
obligations due to insufficient cash inflows. Liquidity risk is managed
through the use of various financial instruments such as loans, bonds
and commercial papers.
The Group’s liquidity risk has two dimensions. Short-term liquidity risk
is the risk that the Group’s bank accounts do not include sufficient cash
to meet the Group’s financial commitments. Long-term liquidity risk is
the risk that the Group does not have sufficient amount of unrestricted
cash or other sources of liquidity to meet its future liquidity needs in
order to carry out its business plan and meet its commitments, or that

for the above reason the Group needs to raise additional cash in a
hurry and on terms, which are less than optimal. Short-term liquidity
risk is mitigated so that the Group keeps certain amount of cash buffer
in its bank accounts in order to have sufficient amount of cash available
also in case there are deviations from the cash flow forecast. Longterm liquidity risk is mitigated by regular forecasts of liquidity needs for
the next 12 months (including cash requirement for investments, loan
repayments and dividends, and positive cash flow from operations) and
by keeping sufficient liquidity buffer in the form of unrestricted cash,
undrawn investment loans, and limits of liquidity loans. The Group’s
liquidity risk is managed at the Group level by the parent company’s
Financial Department.
As at 31 December 2019, the Group had spare monetary balances of
EUR 34.6 million (31 December 2018: EUR 61.5 million). Additionally, as
at the end of the financial year, the Group had undrawn loan facilities of
EUR 425.0 million (31 December 2018: EUR 481.5 million) (Note 21).
As at 31 December 2019, the Group’s current liabilities exceeded current
assets. Management estimates that there is no risk to the sustainability
of the Group as we plan to raise additional financing if necessary. In
December 2019, we signed a EUR 175 million loan agreement between
Eesti Energia and the EIB, with a maturity of two years. The duration of
the loan agreement is up to 20 years.
The following liquidity analysis includes the division between the
Group’s current and non-current liabilities (including derivatives with
net payments) by the maturity date of liabilities. All amounts shown
in the table are contractual undiscounted cash flows. The payables
due within 12 months after the end of the reporting period, except for
borrowings, are shown at their carrying amount.
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Division of liabilities by maturity date as at 31 December 2019 (in million EUR):
Less than 1 year

Between 1 and 5 years

Later than 5 years

Total undiscounted
cash flow

Carrying amount

229.9

981.6

25.2

1,236.7

1,135.8

24.1

6.0

-

30.1

30.1

Trade and other payables (Notes 12 and 22)

98.9

0.5

-

99.4

99.4

Tax liabilities and payables to employees (Note 22)

47.2

-

-

47.2

47.2

400.1

988.1

25.2

1,413.4

1,312.5

Less than 1 year

Between 1 and 5 years

Later than 5 years

Total undiscounted
cash flow

Carrying amount

159.2

989.5

90.5

1,239.2

1,109.5

Derivatives (Notes 3.3, 12 and 14)

20.5

2.8

-

23.3

23.3

Trade and other payables (Notes 12 and 22)

119.3

1.6

-

120.9

120.9

Tax liabilities and payables to employees (Note 22)

65.3

-

-

65.3

65.3

364.3

993.9

90.5

1,448.7

1,319.0

in million EUR
Borrowings (Notes 3.2, 12 and 21)*
Derivatives (Notes 3.3, 12 and 14)

Total

* Interest expenses have been estimated on the basis of the interest rates prevailing as at 31 December 2019.

Division of liabilities by maturity date as at 31 December 2018 (in million EUR):
in million EUR
Borrowings (Notes 3.2, 12 and 21)*

Total

* Interest expenses have been estimated on the basis of the interest rates prevailing as at 31 December 2018.

The information about the dividends that will be declared and become payable after the end of the reporting period is disclosed in Notes 18 and 19.
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3.2 Management of equity

3.3 Fair value

All shares of Eesti Energia AS belong to the state. Decisions concerning
dividend distribution and increases or decreases of share capital are
made by the Republic of Estonia through the Ministry of Finance. Each
financial year, the dividends payable by Eesti Energia AS to the state
budget are defined by order of the Government of the Republic of
Estonia (Notes 18 and 19).

The Group estimates that the fair values of assets and liabilities
reported at amortised cost in the statement of financial position as at
31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018 do not materially differ from
the carrying amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements,
with the exception of bonds (the fair value is calculated with the inputs
that are classified to Level 1 in the fair value hierarchy, Note 21). The
carrying amount of current accounts receivable and payable and loan
receivables less impairments is estimated to be approximately equal
to their fair value. For disclosure purposes, the fair value of financial
liabilities is determined by discounting the contractual cash flows at
the market interest rate which is available for similar financial instruments of the Group.

The Group follows a strategy according to which net debt in long term
should not exceed EBITDA more than 3.5 times (in 2018: 3.5 times) and
equity should be at least 50% of the total assets. As at the 31 December
2019 the net debt to EBITDA ratio was above the ceiling of 3.5 set out
in the financing policy. Eesti Energia’s strategy outlines measures for
meeting the target set out in the financing policy. As at 31 December
2019 and 31 December 2018, the net debt to EBITDA ratio and the
equity to assets ratio were as follows:
in million EUR

31 DECEMBER
2019

2018

1,135.8

1,109.5

Less: cash and cash equivalents
(Notes 3.1, 12 and 17)

(34.6)

(61.5)

Net debt

1,101.2

1,048.0

1,801.6

1,859.6

259.8

283.2

3,468.1

3,551.1

Debt (Notes 3.1, 12 and 21)

Total equity
EBITDA*
Assets
Net debt/EBITDA
Equity/assets
Total capital (net debt + equity)
Debt to equity ratio

4.2

3.7

52%

52%

2,902.8

2,907.6

38%

36%

* EBITDA profit before interest, tax, profit (loss) from associates using equity method, depreciation
and amortization

The tables below analyses financial instruments carried at fair value,
by valuation method. The different levels have been defined as follows:
• quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities (Level 1);
• inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that
are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly (Level 2);
• inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable
market data (Level 3).
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The following tables present the Group’s assets and liabilities that are
measured at fair value by the level in the fair value hierarchy as at 31
December 2019 and 31 December 2018:
31 DECEMBER 2019

in million EUR
Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Total

Assets

occurring market transactions on an arm’s length basis. The quoted
market price used for financial assets held by the Group is the
current bid price.
In level 1 are classified the Group’s electricity derivatives that are
cleared in Nasdaq OMX.

-

13.5

-

13.5

(b) Financial instruments in level 2

Cash flow hedges (Notes 12, 14 and 15)

0.1

0.7

-

0.8

Total financial assets (Notes 3.1, 12, 14 and 15)

0.1

14.2

-

14.3

5.0

18.7

-

23.7

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active
market is determined using valuation techniques. These valuation
techniques maximise the use of observable market data where it is
available and rely as little as possible on entity specific estimates. An
instrument is included in level 2 if all the significant inputs required
to establish the fair value of the instrument are observable. If one or
more significant inputs are not based on observable market data, an
instrument is included in level 3. The value of trading derivatives and
cash flow hedges are found using notations of Nasdaq OMX, ICE, Platt’s
European Marcetscani and Nymex.

Trading derivatives (Notes 12, 14 and 15)

Liabilities
Trading derivatives (Notes 12, 14 and 15)
Cash flow hedges (Notes 12, 14 and 15)

0.1

6.4

-

6.5

Total financial liabilities (Notes 3.1, 12 and 14)

5.1

25.1

-

30.2

31 DECEMBER 2018

in million EUR
Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Total

Assets
Trading derivatives (Notes 12, 14 and 15)

0.6

42.3

-

42.9

Cash flow hedges (Notes 12, 14 and 15)

0.6

7.1

-

7.7

Total financial assets (Notes 3.1, 12, 14 and 15)

1.2

49.4

-

50.6

Liabilities
Trading derivatives (Notes 12, 14 and 15)

-

18.3

-

18.3

Cash flow hedges (Notes 12, 14 and 15)

-

1.2

-

1.2

Interest rate swap

-

3.8

-

3.8

Total financial liabilities (Notes 3.1, 12 and 14)

-

23.3

-

23.3

• The fair value of forward, swap and future contracts is determined
using forward prices at the balance sheet date, with the resulting
value discounted back to present value.
(c ) Financial instruments in level 3

At the end of reporting period the Group had no financial instruments in level 3.

(a) Financial instruments in level 1

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets is
based on quoted market prices at the balance sheet date. A market is
regarded as active if quoted prices are readily and regularly available
from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry group, pricing service, or
regulatory agency, and those prices represent actual and regularly
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3.4 Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities
(a) Financial assets

The following financial assets are subject to offsetting:
31 DECEMBER 2019

in million EUR

Derivative financial instruments

Gross amounts of recognised
financial assets

Gross amounts of recognised
financial liabilities set off in
the balance sheet

Net amounts of financial assets presented in the balance
sheet (Notes 3.1, 3.3, 12, 14
and 15)

Related amounts not set off in
the balance sheet

Net amount

24.8

(10.5)

14.3

(3.1)

11.2

31 DECEMBER 2018

in million EUR

Derivative financial instruments

Gross amounts of recognised
financial assets

Gross amounts of recognised
financial liabilities set off in
the balance sheet

Net amounts of financial assets presented in the balance
sheet (Notes 3.1, 3.3, 12, 14
and 15)

Related amounts not set off in
the balance sheet

Net amount

57.3

(6.7)

50.6

(5.7)

44.9

(b) Financial liabilities

The following financial liabilities are subject to offsetting:
31 DECEMBER 2019

in million EUR

Derivative financial instruments

Gross amounts of recognised
financial liabilities

Gross amounts of recognised
financial assets set off in the
balance sheet

Net amounts of financial
liabilities presented in the
balance sheet (Notes 3.1, 3.3,
12, 14 and 15)

Related amounts not set off in
the balance sheet

Net amount

40.7

(10.5)

30.2

3.1

33.3

31 DECEMBER 2018

in million EUR

Derivative financial instruments

Gross amounts of recognised
financial liabilities

Gross amounts of recognised
financial assets set off in the
balance sheet

Net amounts of financial
liabilities presented in the
balance sheet (Notes 3.1, 3.3,
12, 14 and 15)

Related amounts not set off in
the balance sheet

Net amount

30.0

(6.7)

23.3

(5.7)

17.6

Agreements between the Group and the counterparties allows for offsetting in concrete single transaction when mutual claims are in the same
currency. In some agreements offsetting between two or more transactions is allowed.
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4. Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
Accounting estimates and assumptions
The preparation of the financial statements requires the use of
estimates and assumptions that impact the reported amounts of assets
and liabilities, and the disclosure of off-balance sheet assets and
contingent liabilities in the notes to the financial statements. Although
these estimates are based on management’s best knowledge of current
events and actions, actual results may ultimately differ from these
estimates. Changes in management’s estimates are recognised in the
income statement of the period of the change.
The estimates presented below have the most significant impact on the
financial information disclosed in the financial statements
(a) Determination of the useful lives of items of property,
plant and equipment

The estimated useful lives of items of property, plant and equipment
are based on management’s estimate of the period during which the
asset will be used. Previous experience has shown that the actual
useful lives have sometimes been longer than the estimates. As at 31
December 2019, the net book amount of property, plant and equipment
of the Group totalled EUR 2,913.4 million (31 December 2018: EUR
2,955.5 million), and the depreciation charge of the reporting period
was EUR 185.4 million (2018: EUR 151.9 million) (Note 6). If depreciation
rates were changed by 10%, the annual depreciation charge would
change by EUR 18.5 million (2018: EUR 15.2 million).
(b) Evaluation of the recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment and intangible assetse

As needed, the Group performs impairment tests to determine the
recoverable amount of items of property, plant and equipment and

intangible assets. When carrying out impairment tests, management
uses various estimates for the cash flows arising from the use of the
assets, sales, maintenance, and repairs of assets, as well as estimates
for inflation and growth rates and likelihood of getting grants. The
estimates are based on forecasts of the general economic environment,
consumption and the sales price of electricity, for estimating the fair
value also the expert evaluations are used. If the situation changes in
the future, either additional impairment could be recognised, or previously recognised impairment could be partially or wholly reversed.
The recoverable amounts of fixed assets used for network services are
impacted by the Competition Board which determines the reasonable
rate of return to be earned on these assets. If the income, expenses
and investments related to the sale of network services remain within
the expected limits, the revenue derived from the sale of goods and
services guarantees a reasonable rate of return for these assets.
Information about impairment losses incurred in the comparative
period is disclosed in Notes 6 and 8.
(c ) Recognition and revaluation of provisions

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had set up provisions for environmental protection, termination of mining operations, dismantling of
assets, employees and contracts related totalling EUR 36.3 million
(31 December 2018: EUR 38.7 million) (Note 24). The amount and/or
timing of the settlement of these obligations is uncertain. A number of
assumptions and estimates have been used to determine the present
value of provisions, including the amount of future expenditure, inflation
rates, and the timing of settlement of the expenditure. The actual
expenditure may also differ from the provisions recognised as a result
of possible changes in legislative norms, technology available in the
future to restore environmental damages, and expenditure covered
by third parties.
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(d) Contingent assets and liabilities

When estimating contingent assets and liabilities, the management
considers historical experience, general information about the
economic and social environment and the assumptions and conditions
of possible events in the future based on the best knowledge of the
situation. Further information is disclosed in Note 33.

5. Segment reporting
For the purposes of monitoring the Group’s performance and making
management decisions, the Management Board uses product-based
reporting. The Group has determined main products and services, i.e.
value-creating units that generate external revenues and profit, and
has built up a methodology of allocation of revenues and expenses,
and assets to the products.
The Group has distinguished three main products and services, which
are presented as separately reportable segments, and a number
of minor products and services that are presented together as
“Other segments”:
1) electricity (production and sale of electricity generated from
renewable and non-renewable sources, and electricity trading);
2) distribution (sale of electricity distribution network services on
regulated market and sale of additional services by Elektrilevi);
3) shale oil (production and sale of liquid fuels);
4) other products and services (including production and sale of
heat, construction of power engineering equipment and services,
sale of old metal, sale of mining products, sale of gas, other products and services).
Other segments include co-products which individual share of the
Group’s revenue and EBITDA is immaterial. None of these co-products

meet the quantitative thresholds that would require reporting separate disclosure.
Segment revenues include revenues from external customers only,
generated by the sale of respective products or services.
All operating expenses of the Group are allocated to the products and
services to which they relate. If a product (e.g. electricity) is created
by several Group entities in a vertically integrated chain, then the
related expenses include the production cost of each entity involved in
preparation of the product (e.g. the cost of electricity includes the cost
of oil shale used for its production). Group overheads are allocated to
products and services proportionally to the services provided.
The Management Board assesses the performance of the segments
primarily based on EBITDA and it also monitors operating profit.
Finance income and expenses, and income tax are not allocated
to the segments.
The Group’s assets are allocated to the segments based on their
purpose of use. Liabilities are not allocated to the segments as they are
managed centrally by the Group’s finance department.
As the segments are based on externally sellable products and services (as opposed to legal entities), there are no transactions between
segments to be eliminated.
The sales prices of network charges need to be approved by the
Estonian Competition Authority as stipulated by the Electricity Market
Act of Estonia. The Estonian Competition Authority has an established
methodology for approving the prices that considers the costs necessary to fulfil the legal obligations and ensures justified profitability on
invested capital. Generally, the Estonian Competition Authority considers the annual average carrying amount of non-current assets plus
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5% of external sales revenue as invested capital. The rate for justified
profitability is the Company’s weighted average cost of capital (WACC).
The sales prices for all other segments are not regulated by the law.
Also according to the District Heating Act the heating undertakings
which sell heat to customers or to network operators who sell heat to
customers or produce heat in the process of combined generation of
heat and power must obtain the approval of the Competition Authority
regarding the maximum price of the heat to be sold.

Revenue
The revenue from external customers reported to the management
board of the parent company is measured in a manner consistent with
that in the consolidated income statement.

in million EUR

31 DECEMBER
2019

2018

505.1

437.1

Network Services

219.3

240.6

Liquid Fuels

125.3

113.1

Other

106.7

84.4

Total

956.4

875.3

Revenue from external customers
Electrical Energy

EBITDA
in million EUR

31 DECEMBER
2019

2018

Electrical Energy

132.8

131.2

Network Services

79.7

99.6

Liquid Fuels

45.8

43.6

1.5

8.7

EBITDA

Other
Total

259.8

283.2

Depreciation and amortisation (Notes 6 and 8)

(188.0)

(154.5)

(36.8)

(24.7)

(0.1)

6.6

34.9

110.6

Net financial income (-expense)
using equity method (Note 9)
Profit before tax

* EBITDA profit before finance expenses, profit (loss) from associates using equity method,
tax-, depreciation- and impairment expenses

The result for the 2019 electricity segment includes profits from the
sale of greenhouse gas emission allowances. Because of the decline
in production volume, the Group sold the emission allowances that
had been planned for production, earning profit of EUR 49.8 million
(Notes 16 and 26).
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Other profit and loss disclosures
in million EUR

Electrical Energy
Network Services
Liquid Fuels
Other
Total (Notes 6, 8 and 24)

1 JANUARY – 31 DECEMBER 2019

1 JANUARY – 31 DECEMBER 2018

Depreciation and amortisation

Recognition (-) and reversal (+) of
provisions

Depreciation and amortisation

Recognition (-) and reversal (+) of
provisions

(99.2)

60.8

(71.6)

75.3

(47.1)

-

(45.9)

-

(20.8)

8.3

(18.4)

6.6

(20.8)

1.9

(18.6)

1.5

(188.0)

71.1

(154.5)

83.4

Interest income and expenses, corporate income tax expense and profit (loss) from associates using equity method are not divided between
segments and the information is not provided to the management board of the parent company.
Additional information about the impairment, depreciation and amortisation is disclosed in Notes 6 and 8 and recognition and change of provisions in Note 24.
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Assets
The amounts reported to the management board of the parent company with respect to total assets are measured in a manner consistent with that
of the consolidated financial statements.
in million EUR

1 JANUARY – 31 DECEMBER 2019
Total assets

Investments in
associates (Note 9)

Electrical Energy

1,649.3

Network Services

1,075.4

1 JANUARY – 31 DECEMBER 2018
Capital expenditure
(Notes 6 and 8)

Total assets

Investments in
associates (Note 9)

Capital expenditure
(Notes 6 and 8)

3.5

36.1

1,884.0

5.4

90.9

-

84.6

1,015.4

-

87.2

Liquid Fuels

339.4

0.8

8.1

304.1

0.5

10.9

Other

404.0

39.1

7.2

355.5

38.4

5.6

3,468.1

43.4

136.0

3,559.1

44.2

194.6

Total (Notes 6,8 and 24)

The Group operates mostly in Estonia, but electricity, liquid fuels and some other goods and services are also sold in other countries.
In “Other” segments there are no segments which results amounted to 10% or more of the Group’s results.
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Entity-wide information
Allocation of non-current assets by location*

External revenue by location of clients
in million EUR

in million EUR

31 DECEMBER
2019

2018

Estonia

536.7

715.8

Singapore

128.9

18.5

Estonia
Lithuania

31 DECEMBER
2019

2018

2,659.5

2,693.3

243.4

253.7

Latvia

115.4

64.0

Latvia

39.1

41.3

Poland

76.8

18.7

USA

26.3

25.8

Lithuania

Poland

15.0

-

2.0

2.6

2,985.3

3,016.7

65.8

44.8

Switzerland

17.3

11.1

Nordic countries

15.0

2.0

Other countries

0.5

0.4

956.4

875.3

Total external revenue (Note 25)

Other countries
Total (Notes 6 and 8)

* other than financial instruments, deferred tax assets and investments in associates

In 2019 the Group had one client, whose revenue from transactions
amounted to 10% or more of the Group’s revenues. Sales to this
customer totalled EUR 109.9 million in 2019 (in 2018 the Group had
one client, whose revenue from transactions amounted to 10% or
more of the Group’s revenues, sales to this customer totalled EUR 95.7
million in 2018).
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6. Property, plant and equipment
in million EUR

Land

Buildings

Facilities

Machinery and
equipment

Other

Construction in
progress and
prepayments

Total

42.9

248.4

1,041.5

2,116.9

6.2

605.2

4,061.1

-

(105.2)

(432.3)

(1,044.2)

(4.9)

-

(1,586.6)

42.9

143.2

609.2

1,072.7

1.3

605.2

2,474.5

Property, plant and equipment as at 31.12.2017
Cost
Accumulated depreciation
Carrying amount at 31.12.2017 (Note 4)
Changes occurred in 2018
Purchases (Note 5)
Depreciation charge and write-downs (Notes 4, 5 and 32)
Disposals
Acquisition of subsidiary (Note 35)

0.1

0.1

0.1

22.0

0.2

168.0

190.5

-

(6.4)

(29.6)

(115.2)

(0.4)

(0.3)

(151.9)

(0.2)

(0.1)

(0.1)

(0.5)

-

-

(0.9)
443.2

-

-

-

435.9

-

7.3

0.1

-

-

-

-

-

0.1

Transfers

-

79.1

115.4

503.0

0.1

(697.7)

(0.1)

Total changes occurred in 2018

-

72.7

85.8

845.2

(0.1)

(522.7)

480.9

42.9

327.4

1,153.8

3,057.0

6.3

82.5

4,669.9

-

(111.5)

(458.8)

(1,139.1)

(5.1)

-

(1,714.5)

42.9

215.9

695.0

1,917.9

1.2

82.5

2,955.4

Exchange differences

Property, plant and equipment as at 31.12.2018
Cost
Accumulated depreciation
Carrying amount at 31.12.2018 (Note 4)
Changes occurred in 2019
Purchases (Note 5)
Depreciation charge and write-downs (Notes 4, 5 and 32)
Disposals
Acquisition of subsidiary (Note 35)
Exchange differences
Other changes

1.4

0.2

0.6

5.8

0.1

120.9

129.0

-

(7.2)

(31.5)

(146.1)

(0.5)

(0.1)

(185.4)

(0.5)

(0.5)

(0.2)

(0.6)

-

-

(1.8)
12.3

-

0.1

0.2

12.0

-

-

0.1

-

-

-

-

-

0.1

-

-

-

3.9

-

-

3.9

Transfers

0.5

3.4

45.8

78.9

-

(128.7)

(0.1)

Total changes occurred in 2019

1.5

(4.0)

14.9

(46.1)

(0.4)

(7.9)

(42.0)

44.4

330.0

1,196.8

3,140.9

6.1

74.6

4,792.8

-

(118.1)

(486.9)

(1,269.1)

(5.3)

-

(1,879.4)

44.4

211.9

709.9

1,871.8

0.8

74.6

2,913.4

Property, plant and equipment as at 31.12.2019
Cost
Accumulated depreciation
Carrying amount at 31.12.2019 (Note 4)

As at 31 December 2019, the total carrying amount of the assets acquired with finance lease was EUR 0.2 million (in 2018 EUR 31.3 million).
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As at 31 December 2019, the total carrying amount of the
assets acquired with finance lease was EUR 0.2 million (in 2018
EUR 31.3 million).
In 2019, the Group tested the Auvere power plant and the Eesti and
Balti power plants for impairment. The Auvere power plant is considered as a separate production unit and the Eesti and Balti power plants
are considered as one production unit. They are treated as separate
cash generating units because the Auvere power plant is considerably
more efficient than other generating units and has a different cost
base. In the Group’s sales strategy, the Auvere power plant cannot be
replaced with other production units. Therefore, any decisions regarding the Auvere power plant’s maintenance and investment plans are
made primarily based on market forecasts and separately from those
of the other production units.
As at 31 December 2019, the total carrying amount of the assets of
the Auvere power plant was EUR 529.2 million (31 December 2018:
EUR 551.8 million). The results of the impairment test did not reflect
the need for recognising an impairment loss or reversing previously
recognised impairment losses because the assets’ value in use was
comparable to their carrying amount. The recoverable amount of the
assets was estimated based on their value in use. The expected future
cash flows were discounted using a discount rate of 9.0% (comparative
figure for 2018: 9.0%). A 1% rise in the discount rate would have an
impact of EUR 57 million (2018: EUR 59 million) on the recoverable
amount of the assets.
The recoverable amount of the assets of the Auvere power plant is
sensitive to changes in the prices of electricity, fuel (oil shale) and CO2
emission allowances as well as the implementation, timing, price and
volume of flexible cooperation mechanisms. The factor which has

the strongest impact on the recoverable amount of the assets is the
electricity price.
In conducting the impairment test, the near-term market price of
electricity was forecast by relying on both a third party consultant’s
estimates and the projections made based on relevant forward prices.
It was assumed that from 2022 the price levels in the Estonian and
the neighbouring electricity markets would gradually equalise. If this
assumption did not apply, the impact on the recoverable amount of the
assets would be up to EUR 195 million (2018: up to EUR 463 million).
Thanks to the Group’s sales strategy according to which it strives to sell
more electricity during peak hours, in 2019, the average quarterly sales
price achieved by the Group on the Nord Pool Spot power exchange
was 4-10% (2018: 6-10%) higher than the Nord Pool Spot market
price in the Estonian price area. The Group plans to pursue the same
strategy in subsequent years. In addition, the test took into account the
impacts of the following years’ hedging transactions.
The market price of CO2 emission allowances was forecast for the near
term based on relevant forward prices and thereafter assuming that
from 2025 the price would increase at the rate of 2.0% per year (based
on the Ministry of Finance forecast of the consumer price index dated
30 October 2019) (2018: 2.0% per year based on the growth rate). As
regards the oil shale price, it was assumed that in the future the fuel
price could be kept stable by improving the efficiency of the production
process. If the assumption about the oil shale price did not apply, the
impact on the recoverable amount of the assets would amount to EUR
14 million (2018: up to EUR 21 million).
The share of renewable energy revenues was forecast assuming
that from 2021 it would be possible to export renewable energy to
other European countries with a view to earning additional revenue
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(Europe-wide auctions of renewable energy units for countries whose
legislation supports this in accordance with Directive 2009/28/EC,
henceforth “flexible cooperation mechanisms”). Accordingly, up to
50% (up to 1 TWh) of electricity generated at the Auvere power plant
could be produced from biomass and the Group could earn additional
revenue through flexible cooperation mechanisms. It was assumed that
the rate of additional revenue from electricity generated from biomass
would fall within the range of 6-12 €/MWh (2018: 5 €/MWh). If this
assumption did not apply, the impact on the recoverable amount of the
assets would be up to EUR 1 million (2018: up to EUR 11 million).

plants are the same as those used in the impairment test on the Auvere
power plant. The factor which has the strongest impact on the recoverable amount of the assets of the Eesti and Balti power plants is the
electricity price. If the assumption that the price levels in the Estonian
and neighbouring electricity markets will equalise did not apply, the
impact on the recoverable amount of the assets would be EUR 195
million (in 2018 EUR 250 million). If this assumption did not apply, the
carrying amount of the assets would exceed their recoverable amount
by up to EUR 171 million (in 2018 the carrying amount of the assets
would exceed their recoverable amount by up to EUR 194 million) .

As at 31 December 2019, the total carrying amount of the assets of the
Eesti and Balti power plants was EUR 171.4 million (31 December 2018:
EUR 194.0 million). The results of the impairment test on the assets of
the Eesti and Balti power plants did not reflect the need for recognising
an impairment loss (2018: the impairment test did not reflect the need
for recognising an impairment loss). The recoverable amount of the
assets was estimated based on their value in use. The expected future
cash flows were discounted using a discount rate of 9.0% (comparative
figure for 2018: 9.0%). A 1% rise in the discount rate would have an
impact of EUR 42 million (2018: EUR 42 million) on the recoverable
amount of the assets. At a 1% higher discount rate the carrying
amount of the assets of the Eesti and Balti power plants would exceed
their recoverable amount up to EUR 12 million (in 2018 the carrying
amount of the assets would exceed their recoverable amount up to
EUR 5 million).

In 2019, the assets of Eesti Energia’s wind farms were tested for
impairment by estimating their recoverable amounts. The results of the
impairment test did not reflect the need for recognising an impairment
loss (in 2018: the impairment test did not reflect the need for recognising an impairment loss). The recoverable amount of the assets was
estimated based on their value in use. The expected future cash flows
were discounted using a discount rate of 6.0% (comparative figure
for 2018: 6.0%). The impairment test was conducted by applying the
above forecasts of the market price of electricity. Above all, the assets
of wind farms are sensitive to changes in the market price of electricity.
If the assumption that the price levels in the Estonian and Lithuanian
and the neighbouring electricity markets will equalise did not apply,
the total impairment loss of the Estonian and Lithuanian wind farms
would amount to EUR 4 million and EUR 1 million respectively (2018:
the impairment loss of the Estonian wind farms would have amounted
to EUR 8.0 million). In addition to the carrying amount of wind farms,
goodwill has been included in the valuation of wind farm assets.

The recoverable amount of the assets of the Eesti and Balti power
plants is sensitive to changes in the market prices of electricity and
CO2 emission allowances, changes in fuel prices and the rate of the
implementation of flexible cooperation mechanisms. The market
assumptions used in the impairment test on the Eesti and Balti power

In 2019 the assets of Enefit American Oil were tested for impairment.
The results of the impairment test did not reflect the need for recognising an impairment loss or reversing previously recognised impairment
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losses. The recoverable amount of the assets was estimated based
on same methodology as in 2018, i.e. the assets were revalued to the
value of the land. For this, the average price of ten similar plots of land,
which were for sale in Utah state in the vicinity (20 miles) of Vernal
area was found (input Level 3). The valuation was based on an analysis
of the enterprise value of Enefit American Oil prepared by Hard Rock
Consulting LLC in 2015.
In the reporting period, borrowing costs of EUR 2.0 million (2018: EUR
13.2 million) were capitalised and included in the carrying amount of
the assets. In 2019, the capitalisation rate of borrowing costs was 2.3%
(2018: 3.8%) (Note 30).

7. Related party transactions
The sole shareholder of Eesti Energia AS is the Republic of Estonia. In
preparing the Group’s financial statements, the related parties include
associates, members of the management and supervisory boards of
the parent company, and other companies over which these persons
have control or significant influence. Related parties also include
entities under the control or significant influence of the state.

Transactions with associates
in million EUR
Purchase of goods

Buildings and facilities leased out under
operating lease terms
31 DECEMBER
2018

7.4

6.7

Accumulated depreciation at the beginning of
the financial year

(5.1)

(4.5)

Depreciation charge

(0.1)

(0.1)

Net book amount

2.2

2.1

Cost

Assets which have been leased out are used partly in operating activities and partly for earning rental income. The cost and depreciation of
the assets have been calculated based on the proportion of the parts
that have been leased out.

2018

11.9

18.5

1.0

-

Proceeds from sale of services

1.7

2.7

-

0.1

0.2

-

Purchase of property, pland and equpiment

2019

2019
Purchase of services
Proceeds from sale of goods

in million EUR

1 JANUARY – 31 DECEMBER

Transactions with entities over which the members of Supervisory
and Management Board have significant influence
in million EUR
Purchases of goods and services

1 JANUARY – 31 DECEMBER
2019

2018

1.0

1.1

The sales of electricity, network services and heat to the entities over
which the state has control or significant influence have been taken
place under normal business activity. The Group has performed in the
reporting and comparative period purchase and sales transactions
in the material amounts with Elering AS, which is fully stateowned enterprise.
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Transactions with Elering AS
in million EUR

1 JANUARY – 31 DECEMBER
2019

2018

Purchase of services

78.5

82.9

Purchase of goods

13.2

11.4

4.3

5.5

37.2

23.0

Purchase of property, pland and equpiment and
prepayments
Sale of goods and services (incl. renewable energy grant)

Receivables from Elering AS and payables to Elering AS
in million EUR
Receivables (Note 13)
Payables (Note 22)

1 JANUARY – 31 DECEMBER
2019

2018

6.3

3.5

19.8

22.6

The remuneration paid to the members of the Supervisory and
Management Boards is disclosed in Note 28. Receivables from
associates are disclosed in Note 13 and payables to associates in
Note 22. No impairment loss from receivables was recognised in the
comparative period.
Upon premature termination of the service contract with a member of
the Management Board, the service contracts stipulate the payment of
3 months’ remuneration as termination benefits.
In purchasing and selling network services, the prices set by the
Estonian Competition Authority are used.

141
| Eesti Energia Annual Report | Consolidated financial statements |

8. Intangible assets
in million EUR

Goodwill

Computer
software

Right of use of
land

Exploration
and evaluation
assets

Contractual
rights

Development
costs

Total

Intangible assets as at 31.12.2017
Cost
Accumulated amortisation
Carrying amount at 31.12.2017
Intangible assets not yet available for use
Total intangible assets as at 31.12.2017

3.5

39.9

2.6

2.0

20.8

0.1

68.9

-

(32.2)

(0.9)

-

(0.2)

-

(33.3)

3.5

7.7

1.7

2.0

20.6

0.1

35.6

-

3.1

-

-

-

-

3.1

3.5

10.8

1.7

2.0

20.6

0.1

38.7

Changes occurred in 2018
Purchases (Note 5)

-

3.8

0.1

-

-

-

3.9

Amortisation charge and write-downs (Notes 5 and 32)

-

(2.4)

(0.1)

-

(0.1)

-

(2.6)

Acquisition of subsidiary (Note 35)
Exchange differences
Transfers
Total changes occurred in 2018

19.9

-

-

-

0.3

-

20.2

-

-

-

-

1.0

-

1.0

-

0.1

-

-

-

-

0.1

19.9

1.5

-

-

1.2

-

22.6

Intangible assets as at 31.12.2018
Cost
Accumulated amortisation
Carrying amount at 31.12.2018
Intangible assets not yet available for use
Total intangible assets as at 31.12.2018

23.4

41.1

2.6

2.0

22.4

0.1

91.6

-

(34.6)

(0.9)

-

(0.6)

-

(36.1)

23.4

6.5

1.7

2.0

21.8

0.1

55.5

-

5.8

-

-

-

-

5.8

23.4

12.3

1.7

2.0

21.8

0.1

61.3

-

6.9

-

0.1

-

-

7.0

Changes occurred in 2019
Purchases (Note 5)
Amortisation charge and write-downs (Notes 5 and 32)

-

(2.1)

(0.1)

-

(0.2)

-

(2.4)

2.8

-

-

-

-

-

2.8

Exchange differences

-

-

-

-

0.4

-

0.4

Transfers

-

0.2

-

-

(0.1)

-

0.1

2.8

5.0

(0.1)

0.1

0.1

-

7.9

Acquisition of subsidiary (Note 35)

Total changes occurred in 2019
Intangible assets as at 31.12.2019
Cost
Accumulated amortisation
Carrying amount at 31.12.2019
Intangible assets not yet available for use
Total intangible assets as at 31.12.2019

26.2

43.9

2.6

2.1

22.6

0.1

97.5

-

(36.4)

(1.0)

-

(0.7)

-

(38.1)

26.2

7.5

1.6

2.1

21.9

0.1

59.4

-

9.8

-

-

-

-

9.8

26.2

17.3

1.6

2.1

21.9

0.1

69.2
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Goodwill

The expected future cash flows of cash generating units of goodwill
acquired on acquisition of Nelja Energia are sensitiive to forecasts
of the market price of electricity (Note 6), production outputs
and discount rate.

Allocation of goodwill to cash generating units
in million EUR
Goodwill acquired on acquisition of Nelja Energia

31 DECEMBER
2019

2018

19.9

19.9

Goodwill acquired on acquisition of solar parks
in Poland

2.8

-

Others

3.5

3.5

26.2

23.4

Total goodwill

As at the balance sheet date, the Group tested goowill for impairment
by estimanting recoverable amount of the goodwill acquired on acquisition of Nelja Energia. The results of the impairment test did not reflect
the need for recognising an impairment loss. The recoverable amount
of the assets was estimated based on their value in use. The expected
future cash flows of goodwill acquired on acquisition of Nelja Energia
were discounted using a discount rate of 6.0%, future cash flows of
other goodwills were discounted using a discount rate of 7.0%-10.0% (in
2018 7.0%-10.0%).

Mineral resource exploration and evaluation assets
Mineral resource exploration and evaluation assets comprise the costs
incurred in the exploration for and evaluation of oil shale resources
acquired in the state of Utah, USA.

Contractual rights
Contractual right comprise the value of mining rights acquired in the
state of Utah, the estimated useful life of which is 20 years.
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9. Investments in associates
Nature of investments in associates 2019 and 2018:
Place of business

Ownership as at
31.12.2019

Ownership as at
31.12.2018

Nature of the relationship

Measurement method

Estonia, the Netherlands

35.0%

35.0%

Note 1

Equity

Oisu Biogaas OÜ

Estonia

-

28.0%

Note 2

Equity

Vinni Biogaas OÜ

Estonia

-

32.5%

Note 2

Equity

Empower 4Wind OÜ

Estonia

40.0%

40.0%

Note 3

Equity

Team Paldiski OÜ

Estonia

20.0%

20.0%

Note 4

Equity

Wind Controller JV Oy

Finland

10.0%

10.0%

Note 5

Equity

Enefit Jordan B.V. Group

Jordan, Estonia

65.0%

65.0%

Note 6

Equity

Attarat Mining Co BV**

the Netherlands

10.0%

10.0%

Note 7

Equity

Attarat Power Holding Co BV Group**

the Netherlands

10.0%

10.0%

Note 7

Equity

Attarat Operation & Maintenance Co BV**

the Netherlands

10.0%

10.0%

Note 7

Equity

Name of the company
Orica Eesti OÜ*

* The financial year of associate is from 1 October to 30 September.
**The financial year of associate is from 1 July to 30 June
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Note 1:

Orica Eesti OÜ manufactures and sales explosives and is a
strategic partner for Eesti Energia Kaevandused AS.

Note 2:

Oisu Biogaas OÜ ja Vinni Biogaas OÜ are two largest
biogas plants in Estonia, producing electricity and heat.
Until October 2019 the majority shareholder of Oisu
Biogaas OÜ and Vinni Biogaas OÜ was Enefit Green’s, a
Group company, subsidiary 4E Biofond OÜ. On October
2019 Enefit Green signed an agreement that involved a
100% sale of shares in 4E Biofond OÜ (Note 10).

Note 3:

Empower 4Wind OÜ is a maintenance company for wind
farms. The company maintains wind farms in Estonia and
also offers them construction, installation, troubleshooting
and other related services.

Note 4:

Team Paldiski OÜ is engaged with the development of the
renewable energy technology.

Note 5:

Wind Controller JV Oy is engaged with the maintenance of
wind farms in Finland.

Note 6:

Enefit Jordan B.V. Group is engaged with the oil shale
development project in Jordan. Enefit Jordan B.V. Group is
recognised as associate as according to the Shareholders’
Agreement, the Group does not have the right to make
any relevant decisions regarding Enefit Jordan B.V. Group
without the consent of one or, in cases, both of other
shareholders who hold the remainder of the 35% shares.
Based on voting quorom requirements for different
decisions joint control is not established.

Note 7:

Attarat Mining Co. BV was established to provide mining
services in Jordan. Attarat Operation & Maintenance Co.
BV is engaged with the mine management activities and
Attarat Power Holding Co. BV Group is engaged with the
development of an oil shale power plant in Jordan.

Reconciliation of summarised financial information of associates
in million EUR

31. DECEMBER

Summarised net assets of associates at
the beginning of the period
Profit/loss for the period
Other comprehensive income

2019

2018

32.0

24.8

12.6

13.9

(36.5)

(0.1)

Contribution to the share capital

92.3

26.5

Dividends declared

(17.9)

(16.4)

-

4.2

(2.4)

-

Net assets of the associate acquired in the reporting
period
Net assets of the associate sold in the reporting period
Other adjustments

-

(20.9)

Summarised net assets of associates at the e
nd of the period

80.1

32.0

Interest in associates

23.5

21.8

Notional goodwill

12.3

12.3

Group's share in negative net assets not recognised by
the Group using the equity method

14.4

10.1

Other adjustments

(6.7)

-

Carrying amount at the end of the period (Note 5)

43.5

44.2

Group's share of associates profit/loss for the period
(Notes 5 and 32)

(0.1)

6.6
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10. Principal subsidiaries
Name

Country of
incorporation

Nature of business

Proportion of ordinary shares held by
the Group (%)

Proportion of ordinary shares held by
noncontrolling interests (%)

31 DECEMBER

31 DECEMBER

2019

2018

2019

2018

Elektrilevi OÜ

Estonia

Network operator

100.0

100.0

-

-

Enefit Kaevandused
AS

Estonia

Oil shale mining

100.0

100.0

-

-

Enefit
Energiatootmine AS

Estonia

Production of electrical energy

100.0

100.0

-

-

AS Narva Soojusvõrk

Estonia

Distribution and sale of heat

100.0

100.0

-

-

Enefit Solutions AS

Estonia

Manufacture and supply of metal structures, energy industry
machinery and other industrial equipment

100.0

100.0

-

-

Enefit Green AS

Estonia

Establishment and operation of wind farms

100.0

100.0

-

-

Attarat Holding OÜ

Estonia

Holding

100.0

100.0

-

-

Enefit Outotec
Technology OÜ

Estonia and
Germany

Developing and licensing the new generation of Enefit shale oil
production technology

60.0

60.0

40.0

40.0

Hiiumaa Offshore
Tuulepark OÜ

Estonia

Development of wind farms

100.0

100.0

-

-

100.0

Tootsi Tuulepark OÜ

Estonia

Development of wind farms

100.0

Enefit Wind OÜ

Estonia

Production of electrical energy

100.0

-

-

-

-

Enefit SIA

Latvia

Selling electricity to end consumers

100.0

100.0

-

-

Enefit Power & Heat
Valka SIA

Latvia

Production and sale of heat and electrical energy

100.0

100.0

-

-

Enercom SIA

Latvia

Technological
Solutions SIA

Development of wind farms

100.0

100.0

-

-

Latvia

Cogeneration plant

100.0

100.0

-

-

Pellet 4Energia SIA

Latvia

Production of pellets

100.0

100.0

-

-

4ENERGIA SIA

Latvia

Management services

100.0

95.0

-

5.0

Enefit UAB

Lithuania

Selling electricity to end consumers

100.0

100.0

-

-

Šilutės Vėjo Projektai
UAB

Lithuania

Production of electrical energy

100.0

100.0

-

-

Enefit Green UAB

Lithuania

Establishment and operation of wind farms

100.0

-

-

-

Šilalės vėjas UAB

Lithuania

Development of wind farms

100.0

100.0

-

-

Šilutės vėjo parkas 2

Lithuania

Development of wind farms

100.0

100.0

-

-

Šilutės vėjo parkas 3

Lithuania

Development of wind farms

100.0

100.0

-

-

Energijos Žara

Lithuania

Development of wind farms

100.0

100.0

-

-
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Name

Country of
incorporation

Nature of business

Proportion of ordinary shares held by
the Group (%)

Proportion of ordinary shares held by
noncontrolling interests (%)

31 DECEMBER

31 DECEMBER

2019

2018

2019

2018

Vėjo Parkai UAB

Lithuania

Development of wind farms

100.0

100.0

-

-

4Energia UAB

Lithuania

Management services

100.0

100.0

-

-

Baltic Energy Group
UAB

Lithuania

Research related to the development of the offshore wind farm

100.0

100.0

-

-

Enefit U.S., LLC

USA

Holding

100.0

100.0

-

-

Enefit American Oil
Co.

USA

Developing of liquid fuels production

100.0

100.0

-

-

Enefit Sp. z o.o.

Poland

Selling electricity to end consumers

100.0

100.0

-

-

Enefit Green sp z.o.o

Poland

Production of electrical energy from sun

100.0

-

-

-

Cirrus sp z.o.o

Poland

Production of electrical energy from sun

100.0

-

-

-

Velum sp z.o.o

Poland

Production of electrical energy from sun

100.0

-

-

-

Incus sp z.o.o

Poland

Production of electrical energy from sun

100.0

-

-

-

Humilis sp z.o.o

Poland

Production of electrical energy from sun

100.0

-

-

-

Energy Solar 15 sp
z.o.o

Poland

Production of electrical energy from sun

100.0

-

-

-

Enefit AB

Sweden

Selling electricity to end consumers

100.0

100.0

-

-

Enefit OY

Finland

Selling electricity to end consumers

100.0

100.0

-

-

Nelja Energia AS

Estonia

Management services

-

100.0

-

-

Hanila Tuulepargid
OÜ

Estonia

Production of electrical energy from wind

-

100.0

-

-

Oceanside OÜ

Estonia

Production of electrical energy from wind

-

100.0

-

-

Pakri Tuulepargid OÜ

Estonia

Production of electrical energy from wind

-

100.0

-

-

Aseriaru Tuulepark
OÜ

Estonia

Production of electrical energy from wind

-

100.0

-

-

VV Tuulepargid OÜ

Estonia

Production of electrical energy from wind

-

100.0

-

-

4E Biofond OÜ

Estonia

Management services/Biogas plant

-

69.9

-

30.1

Iverneta UAB

Lithuania

Production of electrical energy from wind

-

100.0

-

-

Naujoji Energija UAB

Lithuania

Production of electrical energy from wind

-

100.0

-

-

Sūdėnų vėjo elektra
UAB

Lithuania

Production of electrical energy from wind

-

100.0

-

-

Šilalės vėjo elektra
UAB

Lithuania

Production of electrical energy from wind

-

100.0

-

-
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On November 6 2018, after approval from the Latvian-, Lithuanian- and
Estonian Competition Authorities, Enefit Green AS purchased 100% of
shares of Nelja Energia AS. The value of the shares was EUR 281.3
million. 77 % of the shares of Nelja Energia belonged to Vardar Eurus,
which is a company owned 90 % by Norwegian local authorities and
10 % NEFCO. 23% of Nelja Energia’s shares belonged to investors of
Estonian origin. Right after completion of the acquisition, Enefit Green
as acquired minority stakes in Hiiumaa Offshore Tuulepark OÜ and
4Eenergia UAB. Minority shareholders’ holdings were 5.03% and 20%,
respectively. The total purchase price was EUR 1.7 million (Note 35).
Enefit Wind OÜ was established on 19 February 2019 as a subsidiary of
Enefit Green AS. Enefit Wind OÜ was established by a non-monetary
contribution, as a result of which the wind farms previously registered
with Enefit Green AS - Narva Wind farm, Paldiski Wind farm, Virtsu Wind
farm and Aulepa Wind farm - were transferred to Enefit Wind OÜ. On
6 May 2019, the following wind energy production companies were
merged with Enefit Wind OÜ: Hanila Tuulpargid OÜ, Oceanside OÜ, Pakri
Tuulepargid OÜ, Aseriaru Tuulepargid OÜ and VV Tuulpargid OÜ.
Enefit Green UAB was established on 22 February 2019 as a subsidiary
of Enefit Green AS. In July 2019, Enefit Green AS sold its stakes in
Lithuanian wind farm development companies to Enefit Green UAB.
In March 2019 5% of minority stake of 4Energia SIA was acquired. The
purchase price was EUR 0.1 million.
On 2 April 2019 Nelja Energia AS was merged with Enefit Green AS.
On 31 May2019, the restructuring took effect, resulting in the new business name Enefit Wind UAB for Šilutės Vėjo Projektai UAB. Lithuanian
wind farm companies Iverenta UAB, Naujoji Energija UAB, Sūdėnų vėjo
elektra UAB, Šilalės vėjo elektra UAB were merged with Enefit Wind UAB.

On 18 June 2019 Eesti Energia renewable energy subsidiary Enefit
Green signed an agreement to acquire 20 solar park projects in Poland.
By the end of the reporting period Enefit Green has acquired 18 solar
parks in a sum EUR 16.0 million, which is managed by six companies:
Enefit Green sp z.o.o, Cirrus sp. z o.o, Velum sp. z o.o., Incus sp. z o.o.,
Humilis sp. z o.o. ja Energy Solar 15 Sp. z o.o. The remaining solar parks
will be acquired during next year (Note 35).
On 18 October 2019 Eesti Energia renewable energy subsidiary Enefit
Green signed an agreement that involved a 100% sale of shares in 4E
Biofond OÜ. 4E Biofond OÜ was a minority shareholder in Vinni Biogaas
OÜ and Oisu Biogaas OÜ, owners and operators of the Vinni and Oisu
biogas combined heat and power (CHP) plants. The majority shareholders of both associations were local agricultural companies (Note 36).
All subsidiary undertakings are included in the consolidation. The proportion of the voting rights in the subsidiary undertakings held directly
by the parent company do not differ from the proportion of ordinary
shares held. The parent company does not have any shareholdings in
the preference shares of subsidiary undertakings included in the Group.
None of the carrying amounts of the non-controlling interests as at 31
December 2019 and 31 December 2018 was material.

Significant restrictions
Until the investments of the network operator (Elektrilevi OÜ) do not
exceed the limits of the approved financing plan, according to the
Electricity Market Act of Estonia the parent company may not intervene
in the everyday economic activities of the network operator or in the
decisions concerning the construction or upgrades of the network.
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11. Inventories
in million EUR

31 DECEMBER
2019

2018

52.5

46.6

48.3

35.5

Stripping works in quarries

3.1

2.4

Other work-in-progress

0.1

0.1

51.5

38.0

Shale oil

4.7

5.5

Other finished goods

2.3

0.4

Raw materials and materials at warehouses
Work-in-progress
Stored oil shale

Total work-in-progress
Finished goods

Total finished goods
Total inventories (Notes 32)

7.0

5.9

111.0

90.5

There were no inventory write-downs during the reporting period (in
2018 EUR the Group wrote down damaged and slow-moving inventories of raw materials and materials totalling EUR 0.4 million).
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12. Division of financial instruments by category
in million EUR

Loans and
receivables

Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss

Derivatives for which hedge
accounting is applied

Total

As at 31 December 2019
Financial asset items in the statement of financial position
Trade and other receivables excluding prepayments (Notes 3.1 and 13)
Derivative financial instruments (Notes 3.1, 3.3, 14 and 15)
Cash and cash equivalents (Notes 3.1, 3.2, 15 and 17)
Total financial asset items in the statement of financial position

194.5

-

-

194.5

-

13.5

0.7

14.2

34.6

-

-

34.6

229.1

13.5

0.7

243.3

163.3

-

-

163.3
50.6

As at 31 December 2018
Financial asset items in the statement of financial position
Trade and other receivables excluding prepayments (Notes 3.1 and 13)
Derivative financial instruments (Notes 3.1, 3.3, 14 and 15)
Cash and cash equivalents (Notes 3.1, 3.2, 15 and 17)
Total financial asset items in the statement of financial position

in million EUR

-

42.9

7.7

61.5

-

-

61.5

224.8

42.9

7.7

275.4

Loans and
receivables

Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss

Derivatives for which hedge
accounting is applied

Total

1,135.8

-

-

1,135.8

99.5

-

-

99.5

As at 31 December 2019
Financial liability items in the statement of financial position
Borrowings (Notes 3.1, 3.2 and 21)
Trade and other payables (Notes 3.1 and 22)
Derivative financial instruments (Notes 3.1, 3.3 and 14)
Total financial liability items in the statement of financial position

-

23.7

6.5

30.2

1,235.3

23.7

6.5

1,265.5

1,109.5

-

-

1,109.5

120.9

-

-

120.9

As at 31 December 2018
Financial liability items in the statement of financial position
Borrowings (Notes 3.1, 3.2 and 21)
Trade and other payables (Notes 3.1 and 22)
Derivative financial instruments (Notes 3.1, 3.3 and 14)
Total financial liability items in the statement of financial position

-

22.1

1.2

23.3

1,230.4

22.1

1.2

1,253.7
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13. Trade and other receivables
in million EUR

Analysis of accounts receivable
31 DECEMBER
2019

2018

Short-term trade and other receivables

Allowance for doubtful receivables

137.1

123.2

(2.5)

(1.6)

134.6

121.6

3.5

3.6

3.5

3.6

Prepayments

7.1

5.3

Receivables from associates (Note 7)

0.1

2.2

Total trade receivables
Accrued income
Other accrued income
Total accrued income

Cash restricted from being used
Other receivables
Total short-term trade and other receivables

52.3

34.1

2.2

0.2

199.7

167.0

Long-term receivables
Loan receivables from associates (Note 7)
Allowance for doubtful loan receivables (Notes 29 and 32)
Other long-term receivables
Total long-term receivables
Total trade and other receivables (Notes 3.1 and 12)

31 DECEMBER

Accounts receivable not yet due (Notes 4 and 15)

Trade receivables
Accounts receivable (Note 32)

in million EUR

11.7

11.8

(11.7)

(11.5)

1.8

1.3

1.8

1.6

201.5

168.6

Under cash restricted from being used are recognised financial
resources that are held on accounts of different financial partners as
a guarantee for the transactions. The fair values of receivables and
prepayments do not significantly differ from their carrying amounts.
Collection of receivables and prepayments for services and goods
is not covered by securities. Most of the Group’s receivables and
prepayments are in euros. The amount of receivables denominated in
US dollars and Polish zloty is disclosed in Note 3.1. Information about
the credit quality of the receivables is disclosed in Note 15.

2019

2018

124.1

111.1

Accounts receivable due but not classified as doubtful
1-30 days past due

7.0

8.5

31-60 days past due

0.8

0.8

61-90 days past due

1.1

0.4

8.9

9.7

3-6 months past due

0.7

0.5

more than 6 months past due

3.4

1.9

4.1

2.4

137.1

123.2

Total accounts receivable due but not classified as doubtful
Accounts receivable partially written down

Total accounts receivable that are more than 3 months past due
Total trade and other receivables

To measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables and contract
assets have been grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics
and the days past due. The expected loss rates are based on the
payment profiles of sales over a period of 36 month before 31 December 2019 or 31 December 2018 respectively and the corresponding
historical credit losses experienced within this period. The historical
loss rates are adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking information on macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of the customers
to settle the receivables. The Group has identified the GDP and the
unemployment rate of the countries in which it sells its goods and
services to be the most relevant factors, and accordingly adjusts the
historical loss rates based on expected changes in these factors.
On that basis described above, the loss allowance as at 31 December
2019 and 31 December 2018 determined immaterial. The Group has

151

| Eesti Energia Annual Report | Consolidated financial statements |

identified the expected credit losses of the trade receivables not yet
due and until 90 days past due and the indentified impairment loss
was immaterial.
While cash and cash equivalents are also subject to the impairment
requirements of IFRS 9, the identified impairment loss was immaterial
as at 31 December 2019 and as at 31 December 2018.
Under the accounting policies of the Group, receivables 90 days past
due are usually written down in full. The total amount of allowance
for receivables 90 days past due is adjusted using prior experience of
how many of the receivables classified as doubtful are collected in a
later period and how many of the receivables not more than 90 days
past due are not collected in a later period. Also other individual and
extraordinary impacts like the global economic recession are taken into
account during evaluation.

Changes in allowance for doubtful trade receivables
in million EUR

31 DECEMBER
2019

2018

(1.6)

(1.7)

Classified as doubtful and collections during the
accounting period

(1.4)

(0.2)

Classified as irrecoverable

0.5

0.3

(2.5)

(1.6)

Allowance for doubtful trade receivables at the
beginning of the period

Allowance for doubtful trade receivables at the end
of the period

The other receivables do not contain any impaired assets.

Receivables from associates are assessed and analyzed separately
from other receivables based on their probability of collection.
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14. Derivative financial instruments
in million EUR

31 DECEMBER 2019

31 DECEMBER 2018

Assets

Liabilities

Assets

Liabilities

Forward- and future contracts for buying and selling electricity as cash flow hedges

0.6

0.2

1.1

1.2

Forward- and future contracts for buying and selling electricity as trading derivatives

0.2

8.0

2.0

9.1

Future contracts for buying and selling greenhouse gas emissions allowances as trading derivatives

0.1

0.2

21.2

0.2

11.0

13.5

7.4

5.8

Swap and forward contracts for selling fuel oil as cash flow hedges

0.1

6.3

6.6

-

Swap and forward contracts for selling fuel oil as trading derivatives

2.2

2.0

12.3

3.2

-

-

-

3.8

14.3

30.2

50.6

23.3

0.1

-

0.1

-

-

0.4

0.1

Future contracts for buying and selling greenhouse gas emissions allowances as trading derivatives

0.1

0.2

-

-

Swap and future contracts for buying and selling gas as trading derivatives

4.0

4.2

-

-

-

-

5.2

-

0.1

1.3

6.1

-

-

-

2.1

4.3

6.1

11.5

2.8

10.0

24.1

39.1

20.5

Swap and future contracts for buying and selling gas as trading derivatives

Interest rate swap
Total derivative financial instruments (Notes 3.1, 3.3, 12, 15 and 20)
including non-current portion:
Forward- and future contracts for buying and selling electricity as cash flow hedges
Forward contracts for buying and selling electricity as trading derivatives

Swap and forward contracts for selling fuel oil as cash flow hedges
Swap and forward contracts for selling fuel oil as trading derivatives
Interest rate swap
Total non-current portion
Total current portion
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15. Credit quality of financial assets

in million EUR

The basis for estimating the credit quality of financial assets not due
yet and not written down is the credit ratings assigned by rating
agencies or, in their absence, the earlier credit behaviour of clients and
ohter parties to the contract.
in million EUR

31 DECEMBER
2019

2018

Receivables from new clients (client relationship shorter than
6 months)

14.2

Receivables from existing clients (client relationship longer
than 6 months), who in the last 6 months have not exceeded
the due date

60.6

Receivables from existing clients (client relationship longer
than 6 months), who in the last 6 months have exceeded the
due date

49.2

49.2

0.1

0.1

124.1

111.1

Total trade receivables (Note 13)

2019

2018

At banks with Moody's credit rating of Aa3

0.2

0.2

At banks with Moody's credit rating of Aa2

29.7

56.9

At banks with Moody's credit rating of A2

2.0

3.8

At banks with Moody's credit rating of A3

2.7

-

-

0.6

34.6

61.5

18.8

8.0

Bank accounts and short-term deposits in banks

At banks with Moody's credit rating of Baa1
Total bank accounts and short-term deposits in banks (Notes 3.1,
3.2, 12 and 17)

Trade receivables

Receivables from existing clients (client relationship longer
than 6 months), with who have not had any transactions in
the last 6 months

31 DECEMBER

3.1

Other receivables and accrued income
Other receivables with Moody's credit rating of Aa2

58.7

Other receivables with Moody's credit rating of B2
Other receivables through Nasdaq OMX clearing house
Receivables without credit rating from an independent party
Total other receivables (Note 13)

-

1.4

24.9

24.7

16.2

7.6

59.9

41.7

1.8

0.6

Derivative financial instruments
Derivatives with positive value with Moody’s credit rating of Aa3
Derivatives with positive value with Moody’s credit rating of Aa2

0.1

-

Derivatives with positive value with Moody’s credit rating of A1

0.5

24.8

Derivatives with positive value with Moody’s credit rating of A2

-

11.2

Derivatives with positive value with Moody’s credit rating of A3

9.9

2.8

Derivatives with positive value with Moody’s credit rating of
Baa2

0.4

2.0

-

1.6

0.5

1.7

1.1

5.9

14.3

50.6

Derivatives with positive value with Moody’s credit rating of B2
Derivatives with positive value through Nasdaq OMX clearing
house
Derivatives with positive value without credit rating from an
independent party
Derivatives with positive value (Notes 3.1, 3.3, 12 and 14)
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Nasdaq OMX constitutes a clearing house that is subject to official
financial regulation, in relation to whom various risk management
measures are applied, the most important of which is the requirement
for the clearing house members to issue warrants for their liabilities.
Also the requirements for minimum equity amounts are applied on
clearing houses and based on that the credit risk is considered.
While cash and cash equivalents are also subject to the impairment
requirements of IFRS 9, the identified impairment loss was immaterial.
According to the estimate of the management the other receivables and
accrued income without a credit rating from an independent party do
not involve material credit risk, as there is no evidence of circumstances
that would indicate impairment loss.

16. Greenhouse gas allowances and certificates of origin
in million EUR

31 DECEMBER

Greenhouse gas allowances at the beginning of the period

2019

2018

123.3

96.8

Acquired

83.9

86.8

Sold

(47.9)

-

Returned to state for the greenhouse gas emissions (Note
24)

(87.4)

(60.3)

71.9

123.3

Greenhouse gas allowances at the end of the period
Certificates of origin at the beginning of the period

3.1

0.3

3.6

2.8

Sold

(0.3)

-

Surrendered

(2.4)

-

0.1

-

4.1

3.1

76.1

126.4

Acquired

Exchange differences
Certificates of origin at the end of the period
Total greenhouse gas allowances and certificates of origin at
the end of the period

The value of greenhouse gas allowances acquired is recognised as
intangible current assets. In 2019 4,446,000 tonnes (2018: 6,515,000
tonnes) of greenhouse gas allowances were acquired and 3,897,000
tonnes (2018: 0 tonnes) were sold. In 2019 11,294,984 tonnes (2018:
12,183,437 tonnes) of greenhouse gas emission allowances were
returned to state.
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17. Cash and cash equivalents
in million EUR
Bank accounts
Short-term deposits
Total cash and cash equivalents
(Notes 3.1, 3.2, 12 and 15)

18. Share capital, statutory reserve capital
and retained earnings

31 DECEMBER
2019

2018

32.8

52.2

1.8

9.3

34.6

61.5

Cash and cash equivalents by currencies
in million EUR

31 DECEMBER
2019

2018

27.4

55.0

Polish zloty

3.1

3.4

US dollar

2.8

2.7

Swedish krona

1.3

0.4

34.6

61.5

Euro

Total cash and cash equivalents (Notes
3.1, 3.2, 12 and 15)

As at 31 December 2019, Eesti Energia AS had 621,645,750 registered
shares (31 December 2018: 621,645,750 registered shares). The nominal
value of each share is 1 euro. The sole shareholder is the Republic of
Estonia. The administrator of the shares and the exerciser of the rights
of shareholders is the Estonian Ministry of Finance, represented by the
Minister of Finance at the General Meeting of Shareholders. According
to the articles of association of Eesti Energia AS, the minimum share
capital is EUR 250.0 million and the maximum share capital is EUR
1,000.0 million.
As at 31 December 2019, the Group’s statutory reserve capital totalled
EUR 62.1 million (31 December 2018: EUR 62.1 million).
As at 31 December 2019, the Group’s distributable equity was EUR 879.1
million (31 December 2018: EUR 913.7 million). On distribution of profits
to shareholders, dividends that amounts to up to three preceding years’
average dividend distribution are subject to income tax of 14/86 of the
net amount. The remaining dividends are subject to a tax rate of 20/80
of the net amount.
If all retained earnings were distributed as dividends, the corporate
income tax would amount to EUR 174.4 million (31 December 2018: EUR
182.7 million). It is possible to pay out EUR 704.7 million (31 December
2018: EUR 731.0 million) as net dividends.
The Management Board proposes to pay EUR 23.2 million as dividends
after the approval of the 2019 Annual Report by the General Meeting
of Shareholders. The corresponding income tax is up to EUR 5.8
million (Note 19).
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The following table presents the basis for calculating the distributable
shareholders’ equity, potential dividends and the accompanying
corporate income tax:
in million EUR

31 DECEMBER
2019

Retained earnings (Note 38)

2018

879.1

913.7

Distributable shareholder's equity

879.1

913.7

Corporate income tax on dividends if distributed

174.4

182.7

Net dividends available for distribution

704.7

731.0

19. Dividends per share
In 2019, Eesti Energia paid dividends of EUR 57.0 million to the Republic
of Estonia or EUR 0.09 per share (in 2018 EUR 15.8 million, dividends
per share EUR 0.03) (Note 38).
The Management Board proposed to the Annual Meeting to pay
dividends of EUR 0.04 per share for the financial year ended 31
December 2019, totalling EUR 23.2 million (Note 18). These financial
statements do not reflect this amount as a liability as the dividend had
not been approved as at 31 December 2019.

20. Other reserves
in million EUR

31 DECEMBER

Other reserves at the beginning of the period (Note 3.1)
Change in fair value of cash flow hedges
of which electricity cash flow hedges

2019

2018

0.8

(3.6)

(5.5)

13.5

9.5

(13.4)

(15.0)

26.9

(18.2)

(10.1)

of which recognised as an increase/decrease of revenue
of electricity

8.0

(6.7)

of which recognised as an increase/decrease of revenue
of shale oil

(26.2)

(3.4)

0.7

1.0

(22.2)

0.8

of which shale oil cash flow hedges
Recognised as an increase/decrease of revenue

Currency translation differences attributable to foreign
subsidiaries
Other reserves at the end of the period (Note 3.1)
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21. Borrowings
Borrowings at amortised cost
in million EUR

Short-term borrowings

Long-term borrowings

Bank loans

Bonds issued

Lease liabilities

Bank loans

Bonds issued

Lease liabilities

Total

17.9

152.0

-

156.5

554.7

-

881.1

-

0.2

-

0.1

8.0

-

8.3

Borrowings received

120.0

-

-

150.0

-

0.2

270.2

Repayments of borrowings

(42.2)

-

(0.5)

(18.0)

-

-

(60.7)

Borrowings at amortised cost 31.12.2017 (Notes 3.1,
3.2 and 12)
Changes occurred in 2018
Amortization of borrowing expenses

Redemption of bonds

-

(200.5)

-

-

-

-

(200.5)

Acquisition of subsidiary (Note 36)

12.9

48.3

11.6

138.3

-

-

211.1

Transfers

23.0

-

-

(23.0)

-

-

-

Total changes occurred in 2018

113.7

(152.0)

11.1

247.4

8.0

0.2

228.4

131.6

-

11.1

403.9

562.7

0.2

1,109.5

-

-

-

4.1

8.7

-

12.8

267.1

-

-

222.9

-

-

490.0

-

-

0.2

-

-

2.7

2.9

(348.8)

-

(11.2)

(119.4)

-

-

(479.4)

Borrowings as at 31.12.2018
Borrowings at amortised cost 31.12.2018 (Notes 3.1,
3.2 and 12)
Changes occurred in 2019
Amortization of borrowing expenses
Borrowings received
Reclassification of operational leases on IFRS 16 adoption
Repayments of borrowings
Transfers
Total changes occurred in 2019

55.2

106.3

0.2

(55.2)

(106.3)

(0.2)

(0.0)

(26.5)

106.3

(10.8)

52.4

(97.6)

2.5

26.3

105.1

106.3

0.3

456.3

465.1

2.7

1,135.8

Borrowings as at 31.12.2019
Borrowings at amortised cost 31.12.2019 (Notes 3.1,
3.2 and 12)
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In the previous year, the Group only recognised lease liabilities in
relation to leases that were classified as ‘finance leases’ under IAS 17
Leases. Adjustments recognised on adoption of IFRS 16 on 1 January
2019 are disclosed in Note 2.3
Lease agreements as of 31 December 2019 are related to the right-ofuse assets (ground lease). All these leases are classified as right-of-use
assets due to the implementation of IFRS.
Lease agreements as of 31 December 2018 are related to finance lease
liabilities arising from the acquisition of Nelja Energia AS. Finance
leases were related to wind farms in Lithuania and purchases of
machinery and equipment. All these leases were classified as finance
lease because the ownership of leased assets passes to the Group at
the end of lease term.
In the first quarter of 2019 the Group completed the refinancing of the
bank loans and finance lease liabilities taken over on the acquisition of

Nelja Energia AS, using the loan agreements of EUR 260 million signed
by Enefit Green with SEB (EUR 200.0 million) and Swedbank (EUR 60.0
million) in December 2018. The refinancing involved repaying Nelja
Energia’s loans of EUR 153.1 million and finance lease liabilities of EUR
11.0 million and raising new loans of EUR 260.0 million for Enefit Green.
Out of the new loans, EUR 37.1 million euros was repaid in 2019 in line
with the contractual settlement schedules.
In addition the Group made scheduled loan repayments of EUR
18 million to the EIB and loan repayment to OP Corporate Bank of
EUR 80.0 million.
At the reporting date, the Group had taken out a liquidity loan of EUR
50.0 million provided by SEB, which is reported within current liabilities.

The fair value of bonds, bank loans and
finance lease liabilities:
in million EUR

31 DECEMBER
2019

2018

Nominal value of bonds (Note 3.1)

606.3

606.3

Market value of bonds on the basis of quoted sales price (Note 3.3)

642.1

637.0

Nominal value of bank loans with fixed interest rate (Note 3.1)

138.8

156.7

Fair value of bank loans with fixed interest rate (Note 3.3)

142.0

159.5

Nominal value of bank loans with floating interest rate and lease
liabilities (Note 3.1)

425.8

394.4

Fair value of bank loans with floating interest rate and lease
liabilities (Note 3.3)

425.8

394.4

The bonds are denominated in euros and listed on the London Stock
Exchange. The fair value of the bonds is based on the input that is
within level 1 of the fair value hierarchy.
Management estimates that the fair value of the loans with a floating
interest rate at the end of comparative period does not differ from
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their carrying amounts as the risk margins have not changed. The fair
values of bank loans with fixed interest rate are based on cash flows
discounted using discount rates between 0.374%-0.6685% (2018:
0.485%-1.005%) that are within level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.

Commitments in relation to leases are
payable as follows:
in million EUR

31 DECEMBER
2019

2018

Long-term bank loans at nominal value by due date
in million EUR

31 DECEMBER
2019

2018

< 1 year

105.1

131.6

1 - 5 years

431.8

319.8

> 5 years
Total

24.7

88.6

561.6

539.8

All loans are denominated in euros. As at 31 December 2019 the
interest rates of loans were between 0.2 and 3.1% (31 December
2018: 0.4-6.3%).
As at 31 December 2019, the weighted average nominal interest rate on
loans was 1.14% (31 December 2018: 1.1%).
As at 31 December 2019 the total volume of the Group’s bonds were
EUR 606.3 million in nominal value, of which EUR 106.3 million were
with the maturity date in 2020 and other long-term bonds were with
the maturity date in 2023.
As at 31 December 2019 the Group had undrawn loan facilities of EUR
425.0 million (31 December 2018: EUR 481.5 million).

< 1 year

0.3

11.1

1–5 years

0.9

0.2

> 5 years

1.8

-

Total

3.0

11.3

Borrowings by period that interest rates are fixed for
in million EUR

31 DECEMBER
2019

2018

< 1 year

546.6

408.2

1 - 5 years

561.6

664.3

> 5 years
Total (Notes 3.1, 3.2 and 12)

24.7

37.0

1,132.9

1,109.5

Period until earlier of next interest rate repricing date and maturity date.

Weighted average effective interest rates of borrowings
in million EUR

31 DECEMBER
2019

2018

Bank loans

1.2%

1.0%

Bonds

4.5%

4.5%

Finance lease liabilities

2.4%

2.4%
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22. Trade and other payables
in million EUR

23. Deferred income
31 DECEMBER
2019

2018

Financial payables within trade and other
payables
Trade payables

84.2

103.6

Accrued expenses

6.9

7.0

Payables to related party (Note 7)

2.0

3.1

Other payables

6.4

7.2

99.5

120.9

Total financial payables within trade and other
payables (Note 3.1 and 12)
Payables to employees (Note 3.1)

19.6

21.0

Tax liabilities (Note 3.1)

27.6

44.2

Prepayments
Total trade and other payables
of which short-term trade and other payables
of which long-term trade and other payables

1.3

28.1

148.0

214.2

147.5

212.6

0.5

1.6

Connection and other service fees
in million EUR
Deferred connection and other service fees at
the beginning of the period
Connection and other service fees received

31 DECEMBER
2019

2018

207.6

189.9

22.3

23.3

The value of assets transferred for
connection fees

2.8

2.6

Connection and other service fees recognised
as income (Notes 25 and 32)

(9.1)

(8.2)

223.6

207.6

Deferred connection and other service fees at
the end of the period

Other deferred income in the amount of EUR 11.1 million (in 2018: EUR
5.4 million) is related to government grants.

Under trade payables as at 31.12.2019 is recognised trade payables
for property, plant and equipment of EUR 24.8 million (at 31.12.2018
EUR 37.4 million).
As at 31.12.2018, prepayments included EUR 27.2 million of futures
contracts for the sale of greenhouse gas emission allowances used in
production activities. As at 31.12.2019, the volume of similar transactions
was EUR 0.3 million.
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24. Provisions
in million EUR

Environmental protection provisions (Note 29)

Closing balance 31 December 2019

Opening balance 31
December 2018

Recognition
and reversal of
provisions (Note 5)

Interest charge
(Note 30)

Use

Short-term
provision

Long-term
provision

25.2

(2.3)

0.7

(1.3)

3.2

19.1

Provision for termination of mining operations (Note 29)

0.7

-

-

-

-

0.7

Employee related provisions (Note 28)

6.7

1.5

0.1

(1.9)

1.8

4.6

Provision for dismantling cost of assets

5.1

-

0.3

-

-

5.4

87.6

69.0

-

(87.4)

69.2

-

0.2

-

-

-

0.2

-

-

0.1

-

-

0.1

-

Provision for greenhouse gas emissions (Notes 8 and 27)
Provision for onerous contracts
Provision for obligations arising from treaties
Provision for renewable energy certificates

0.8

2.8

-

(2.4)

1.2

-

126.3

71.1

1.1

(93.0)

75.7

29.9

Opening balance 31
December 2018

Recognition
and reversal of
provisions (Note 5)

Interest charge
(Note 30)

Use

Short-term
provision

Long-term
provision

28.7

(3.2)

0.8

(1.1)

4.4

20.8

Provision for termination of mining operations (Notes 28
and 29)

0.8

(0.1)

-

-

-

0.7

Employee related provisions (Note 28)

5.3

2.2

0.1

(0.9)

1.9

4.8

Provision for dismantling cost of assets

3.7

1.2

0.2

-

-

5.1

Provision for greenhouse gas emissions (Notes 8 and 27)

65.1

82.8

-

(60.3)

87.6

-

Provision for onerous contracts

0.5

(0.3)

-

-

0.2

-

-

0.8

-

-

0.8

-

104.1

83.4

1.1

(62.3)

94.9

31.4

Total provisions (Note 4)

in million EUR

Environmental protection provisions (Note 29)

Provision for renewable energy certificates
Total provisions (Note 4)

Closing balance 31 December 2018

Recognition and change in the provisions during financial year 2019 in the amount of EUR 2.3 million (2018: EUR 0.2 million) resulted from the change
in discount rate.
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Environmental protection provisions
and provisions for the termination of mining
operations have been set up for:

Employee related provisions have been set up for:
• payment of benefits laid down in collective agreements
and other acts;

• restoring land damaged by miningrestoring land
damaged by mining;

• compensation of work-related injuries;

• cleaning contaminated land surfaces;

• payment of termination benefits;

• restoring water supplies contaminated as a result of
mining activities;

• payments of scholarships.

• ascertainment and compensation of damages caused
by blasting work;
• closing landfills and neutralising excess water;
• maintenance of closed ash fields;
• closing of industrial waste dump;
• eliminating asbestos in power plants;
• for payment of mining rights fee;
• for dismantling and gathering of equipment and facilities.
Long-term environmental protection provisions will be settled at the
Eesti Energia Kaevandused in 2020-2044, and at Narva Elektrijaamad
in 2020-2058. Provisions related to the termination of mining operations will be settled in 2020-2044.

Long-term employee related provisions will be settled during the
periods specified in the contracts or during the remaining life expectancy of the employees, period of which is determined using data from
Statistics Estonia on life expectancies by age groups. The provisions
for payments of termination benefits in mines and quarries will be set
up when the detailed plans for the closure of these mines and quarries
have been announced.
The provision for the dismantling costs of assets has been set up to
cover the future dismantling costs of the renovated power blocks No.
8 and 11 and industrial waste dump of the Narva power plants. The
present value of the dismantling costs of the assets was included in the
cost of property, plant and equipment. The provision for the dismantling
costs is expected to be settled in 2034-2035.
The provision for greenhouse gas emissions has been set up in the
average price of the greenhouse gas emission allowances that are
owned by the Group or that are allocated to the Group free of charge
for heat production or for the purpose of modernisation of electricity
production. In the reporting and comparative period the following
amounts of the greenhouse gas emission allowances have been
allocated to the Group free of charge:
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a) the purpose of modernisation of electricity production – no
greenhouse gas emission allowances for the investmets in 2019;
1,997,203 tonnes for the investements made in 2017 that were
transferred to the Group in the beginning of 2018.
b) In September 2018, the European Commission approved the
application of Enefit Energiatootmine AS for the allocation of free
greenhouse gas emission allowances to the oil industry devices
E-140 and E-280 that produces liquid fuels from oil shale for the
period 2013-2020. In February 2019 555,536 tonnes of greenhouse gas emissions were received for 2019. In November 2018,
3,251,951 tonnes of greenhouse gas emissions were received for
the period 2013-2018.
c) for heat production following amounts of greenhouse gas
emission allowances have been allocated to the Group free of
charge - 163,507 tonnes for heat production in 2019 (in 2018
184,796 tonnes).
The greenhouse gas emission allowances allocated free of charge
are taken into account for the purpose of calculating the provisions in
the period for which the allowances are allocated irrespective of their
actual transfer (Note 33)
The provision are discounted at the rate of 0.09%-3.46% (2018:
0.15%-4.05% ). The discount curve is used for discounting provisions
that allows more accurate evaluation of the provisions in different time horizons.

25. Revenue
in million EUR

1 JANUARY – 31 DECEMBER
2019

2018

125.3

113.1

19.5

3.0

By activity
Sale of goods
Shale oil
Pellets
Oil shale

7.4

4.5

Other goods

9.9

11.3

162.1

131.9

Total sale of goods
Sale of services
Electricity

500.8

434.5

Sales of services related to network

212.1

230.9

Heat

24.5

32.5

Gas energy

23.7

16.3

Waste reception and resale

12.5

9.9

9.1

8.2

Connection fees (Notes 23 and 32)
Rental and maintenance income
Other services
Total sale of services
Total revenue (Note 5)

1.3

1.2

10.3

9.9

794.3

743.4

956.4

875.3

26. Other operating income
in million EUR

1 JANUARY – 31 DECEMBER
2019

2018

Gain on greenhouse gas emission allowances sold

49.8

-

Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment
(Note 32)

4.4

1.1

Fines, penalties and compensations

3.2

10.0

Government grants (Note 23)

0.6

0.4

Gain from revaluation of derivatives

0.4

9.7

Foreign exchange gain

0.2

0.5

Other operating income
Total other operating income

3.5

0.6

62.1

22.3
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27. Raw materials and consumables used
in million EUR
Electricity

28. Payroll expenses

1 JANUARY – 31 DECEMBER

in million EUR

2019

2018

206.7

51.5

Number of employees
Number of employees at the beginning of the
period

Transmission services

77.4

79.4

Maintenance and repairs

46.8

45.5

Technological fuel

33.3

21.3

Materials and spare parts for production

23.5

31.2

Greenhouse gases emissions expense (Note 24)

72.0

82.8

Resource tax on mineral resources

20.8

25.0

Gas bought for resale

19.7

16.9

Environmental pollution charges

14.7

27.4

Recognition of environmental and mining termination provisions (Note 24)

(3.0)

(3.3)

Other raw materials and consumables used

39.6

47.2

Total raw materials and consumables used

551.5

424.9

The increase in the market price of CO2 emission allowances by nearly
50% resulted in a significant increase in the cost of production and a
decrease in the volume of electricity production, which resulted in a
significant increase in the external costs of electricity.

1 JANUARY – 31 DECEMBER
2019

2018

5,763

5,708

Number of employees at the end of the period

5,020

5,763

Average number of employees

5,300

5,678

in million EUR

1 JANUARY – 31 DECEMBER
2019

2018

Payroll expenses
Wages, salaries, bonuses and vacation pay
Average monthly pay (in euros)
Other payments and benefits to employees
Payroll taxes
Recognition/reversal of employee related
provisions (Note 24)
Total calculated payroll expenses

120.3

122.6

1,891.5

1,799.3

5.7

3.5

41.5

42.0

1.5

2.2

169.0

170.3

Of which remuneration to management and
supervisory boards (Note 37)
Salaries, bonuses, additional remuneration

3.1

2.9

Fringe benefits

0.1

0.1

Total paid to management and supervisory
boards

3.2

3.0

Capitalised in the cost of self-constructed assets

(10.6)

(14.6)

-

(0.1)

158.4

155.6

Covered from the provisions for the termination
of mining operations and environmental
protection (Note 24)
Total payroll expenses

The Management Board members are appointed by the Supervisory
Board. The term of appointment for 5 years.
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29. Other operating expenses
in million EUR

31. Corporate income tax
1 JANUARY – 31 DECEMBER

Foreign exchange losses
Miscellaneous office expenses

2019

2018

15.1

0.3

10.0

8.1

Rental expense

5.2

5.0

Research and development costs

2.4

2.7

Loss on disposal of subsidiary

1.4

-

Other operating expenses

28.6

29.0

Total other expenses

62.7

45.1

30. Net financial income (-expense)
in million EUR

1 JANUARY – 31 DECEMBER
2019

2018

0.1

0.3

-

0.1

0.1

0.4

Financial income
Interest income
Foreign exchange gain
Total financial income (Note 32)
Interest expenses on borrowings
Amounts capitalised on qualifying assets
(Note 6)
Total interest expenses on borrowings
(Note 32)
Interest expenses on provisions (Note 24)

Average effective income tax rate
in million EUR

Financial expenses
Interest expenses on bonds and loans

According to the Income Tax Act, the companies are taxed in Estonia
upon distribution of dividends. From 2019, dividend distributions may be
eligible to a 14% tax rate, calculated as 14/86 of the net distribution. The
more favourable tax rate can be applied to a dividend distribution that
amounts to up to three preceding years’ average dividend distribution
that has been taxed at 20%, calculated as 20/80 of the net distribution.
In calculating the three preceding years’ average dividend distribution,
2018 is the first year that is taken into account. Dividends distributed
by Estonian company are exempt, if these are paid out of dividends
received from other companies in which Estonian company has at least
10% participation.

(34.3)

(36.4)

2.0

13.2

(32.3)

(23.2)

1 JANUARY – 31 DECEMBER
2019

2018

Estonia
57.0

15.8

of which dividends subject to reduced income
tax 14/86

5.2

-

dividends subject to income tax rate of 20/80

47.7

15.8

4.1

-

Theoretical income tax at applicable rates

12.8

4.0

Net dividends

tax-exempt dividends
Impact of dividends paid by associates

(0.6)

(0.6)

Effective income tax on dividends

12.2

3.4

Average effective income tax rate

18%

17%

1.5

-

(1.1)

(1.1)

(33.4)

(24.3)

Foreign exchange losses

(0.1)

-

Other financial expenses

(3.4)

(0.8)

Income tax expense

13.7

3.4

Total financial expenses

(36.9)

(25.1)

Deferred tax income

(1.9)

1.0

Net financial income (-expense)

(36.8)

(24.7)

of which deferred tax income

Total interest expenses

Income tax expense arising from the subsidiaries

deferred tax expense
Total income tax expense

(1.0)

1.1

(0.9)

(0.1)

11.8

4.4

166

| Eesti Energia Annual Report | Consolidated financial statements |

As at 31 December 2019, the Group has a deferred tax liability of EUR
12.2 million (2018: EUR 13.0 million) relating to the difference between
the fair values and the carrying amount of the Lithuanian wind farms
identified in the purchasing analysis on acquisition of Nelja Energia AS.

32. Cash generated from operations
in million EUR

1 JANUARY – 31 DECEMBER
2019

2018

34.9

110.6

185.4

151.9

Amortisation and impairment of intangible assets (Notes 5
and 8)

2.6

2.6

Deferred income from connection and other service fees
(Notes 23 and 25)

(9.1)

(8.2)

Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment

(4.4)

(1.1)

1.4

-

(0.6)

(0.4)

0.1

(6.6)

19.4

(41.7)

Profit before income tax
Adjustments
Depreciation and impairment of property, plant and
equipment (Notes 5 and 6)

Loss on disposal of associate (Notes 29 and 36)
Amortisation of government grant received to purchase
non-current assets (Note 23)
Profit (loss) from associates using equity method (Note 9)
Unpaid/unsettled gain/loss on derivatives
Profit (loss) from other non-cash transactions
Interest expense on borrowings (Note 30)
Interest and other financial income (Note 30)

0.1

(0.7)

35.8

23.3

(0.7)

(0.3)

265.0

229.4

Change in receivables related to operating activities (Note
13)

(12.8)

(7.6)

Change in inventories (Note 11)

(20.5)

(17.0)

30.4

(47.7)

(2.9)

(72.3)

Adjusted net profit before tax
Net change in current assets relating to operating
activities

Net change in other current assets relating to operating
activities
Total net change in current assets relating to operating
activities
Net change in current liabilities relating to operating
activities
Change in provisions (Note 24)

(20.8)

21.0

Change in trade payables (Note 22)

(6.9)

(6.7)

Net change in liabilities relating to other operating
activities

(45.1)

37.1

Total net change in liabilities relating to operating activities

(72.8)

51.4

Cash generated from operations

189.3

208.5
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33. Off-balance sheet assets, contingent liabilities and
commitments

The increase in the Estonian oil shale resources is attributable to the
fact that we received the mining permit in Uus-Kiviõli.

(a) Off-balance sheet assets

Emission rights

Oil shale Resources
The overview of the resources of oil shale in the possession of the
Group and its associates is presented in the table below. The resources
of oil shale of Estonian Republic represent the resources of oil shale
in the official balance of natural resources. The resources of oil shale
of international development projects are recognised based on the
disclosure requirements of international standards of evaluation of
resources and reserves. The classification of the resource is performed
by the authorized experts and is proved appropriate according to the
standard both by the level of exploration and economical perspective.
Depending on the development phase the known technical, environmental and social-economical restrictions have been adjusted and
taken into account when recognising the resources.
in millions EUR

31 DECEMBER
2019

2018

392

268

Estonia
Measured*
Jordan
APCO***
Measured*

924

924

Inferred**

295

295

JOSE
Measured*

-

-

2,309

2,309

Measured **

3,500

3,500

Indicated**

2,300

2,300

230

230

Inferred**
USA**

Inferred**

* Resource represents a part of in place Resource, after it has been modified by desired cut-off grade, technical,
economical and already defined modifying factors.
** Resource is defined as amount of total in place oil shale, that has high possibility for commercial interest. This
definition is applied for resources before the pre-technical analyses, to which possible modifying factors have
not been applied.
*** Eesti Energia has 10% ownership of the company

On implementation of article 10c of EU Emissions Trading System the
Group may receive for the purpose of modernization of electricity
production up to 17.7 million tonnes of greenhouse gas emission allowances free of charge in the period 2013 to 2017. In addition it is possible
for the Group according to the article 10a to receive in the period 2013 to
2020 up to 2.3 million tonnes of greenhouse gas emission allowances
free of charge for heat production and in 2020 up to 0.5 million tonnes
of greenhouse gas emission allowances free of charge for oil industry
devices, that produces liquid fuels from oil shale (Notes 16 and 24).
(b) Contingent liabilities

Litigation in progress
Enefit Kaevandused AS is involved in an ongoing closed-door legal
action in which a claim of 35,520,677.46 euros has been filed against
Enefit Kaevandused AS and Enefit Kaevandused AS has filed a
counterclaim of 38,536,463 euros. The county court made a ruling
on 18 June 2019, denying both claims. On 15 January 2020 the circuit
court overturned the ruling of the county court, making a new ruling
by which it granted the claim in part and ordered Enefit Kaevandused
AS to settle the principal liability in an amount of 25,358,887 euros and
late payment interest in an amount of 10,161,790.46 euros. The ruling of
the circuit court has not entered into force because Enefit Kaevandused
AS filed an appeal in cassation to the Supreme Court on 14 February
2020. At the date this report is authorised for issue, it is not possible
to estimate with reasonable certainty whether the Supreme Court will
accept the appeal. Therefore, no provision has been recognised for the
legal action and the claim is disclosed as a contingent liability.
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Contingent liabilities arising from potential tax audit

Contracts for buying greenhouse gas emissions allowances

Estonia

As at 31 December 2019 the Group had concluded contracts for buying
greenhouse gas emissions allowances in 2020 in the amount of EUR
65.7 million (31 December 2018: EUR 83.8 million).

Tax authorities have neither started nor performed any tax audits or
single case audits at any Group company. Tax authorities have the right
to review the company’s tax records within 5 years after the reported
tax year and if they find any errors they may impose additional taxes,
interest and fines. The Group’s management considers that there are
not any circumstances which may give rise to a potential material
liability in this respect.

Foreign countries
The tax authorities have neither started nor performed any tax audits or
single case audits at any foreign Group entity. In other countries where
the Group’s subsidiaries are operating, the tax authorities have the right
to review the company’s tax records up to 6 years after the reported tax
year. The Group’s management considers that there are not any circumstances which may give rise to a potential material liability in this respect.
(c ) Financial covenants

The loan agreements concluded by the Group set certain covenants on
the Group’s consolidated financial indicators. The covenants have been
adhered to (Note 21).
(d) Commitments

Capital commitments arising from construction contracts

Payments for utility networks on facilities
Payments for tolerating utility networks are regulated by the Law of
Property Act by which real estate owners have the right to request
payment for accommodating utility networks on their property. As at 31
December 2019 the Group had liabilities for utility network payments
of EUR 0.2 million for the year 2020 (in 2018 EUR 0.1 million for
the year 2019).

Obligation to make a contribution in the equity of the oil shale
power plant in Jordan
After transaction of the Attarat Power Company (APCO) financial close
for its oil shale fired power plant in Jordan, APCO’s shareholders are
YTL Power International (Malaysia) with 45% interest, Guangdong
Yudean Group Co. Limited (China) with 45% interest, and Eesti Energia
with 10% interest.
The shareholders have undertaken to contribute USD 528 million to
the equity of the electricity project. Eesti Energia’s financing obligation
amounts to USD 53 million. To date, Eesti Energia has financed the
project to the extent of USD 41.9 million (in 2018 USD 37.1 million) (EUR
38.3 million (in 2018 EUR 34.1 million)).

As at 31 December 2019 the Group had contractual liabilities relating
to the acquisition of non-current assets totalling EUR 37.3 million (31
December 2018: EUR 69.0 million).
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34. Earnings per share

solar parks and to the development of the wind farms (Note 8).

Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing profit attributable to
the equity holders of the company by the weighted average number of
ordinary shares outstanding. As there are no potential ordinary shares,
diluted earnings per share equal basic earnings per share in all the
periods. In 2018 and 2019 there were no changes in the share capital.

The following table summarises the consideration paid for solar
parks, the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed on
acquisition date.

1 JANUARY – 31 DECEMBER
2019

2018

Profit attributable to the equity holders of the
company (million EUR)

22.4

106.0

Weighted average number of shares (million)

621.6

621.6

Basic earnings per share (EUR)

0.04

0.17

Diluted earnings per share (EUR)

0.04

0.17

Recognised amounts of identifiable assets acquired
and liabilites assumed:
in million EUR

Fair value

ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Total assets

12.3
0.4
0.6
13.3

LIABILITIES

35. Acquisition of subsidiary
Solar Parks in Poland
On 18 June 2019 Eesti Energia renewable energy subsidiary Enefit
Green signed an agreement to acquire 20 solar park projects in Poland.
The total capacity of the solar power plants to be acquired is 19.15
megawatts. Of the 20 projects to be acquired, 9 solar parks are already
completed. The remaining plants are in the final stages of construction.
By the end of the reporting period Enefit Green has acquired 18 solar
parks in a sum EUR 16.0 million, which is managed by six companies:
Enefit Green sp z.o.o, Cirrus sp. z o.o, Velum sp. z o.o., Incus sp. z o.o.,
Humilis sp. z o.o. ja Energy Solar 15 Sp. z o.o. The remaining solar parks
will be acquired during next year.
The goodwill arising from the acquisition, that did not qualify for
separate recognition, amounted to EUR 2.8 million and is attributable to

Trade and other payables
Total liabilities

0.1
0.1

Total identifiable net assets

13.2

Total cost of acquisition

16.0

Goodwill
Cash flow from acquisition of subsidiary
Deposit (will be paid in 2020)

2.8
(13.8)
(1.6)

The revenue included in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income from 18 June 2019 to 31 December 2019 contributed by Polish
solar parks was EUR 0.5 million, contributed loss was immaterial.
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Nelja Energia AS
On 29 May 2018 Eesti Energia AS’s fully owned subsidiary Enefit Green
AS entered into a Share Purchase Agreement regarding all the shares
in Nelja Energia AS, a renewable energy producer and developer in
the Baltic countries. In November 2018 after approval by the County
Executive Board of Buskerud County Administration, and customary
approvals and clearances by relevant competition authorities in
Estonia, Latvia and Lithuania, Enefit Green became full owner of Nelja
Energia AS. Enefit Green bought Nelja Energia as it supports the
Group’s strategic goal of producing 40% of electricity from renewable
and alternative sources in 2022.
The goodwill arising from the acquisition, that did not qualify for
separate recognition, amounted to EUR 19.9 million and is attributable
to wind farms and to the development of the wind farms (Note 8).
The following table summarises the consideration paid for Nelja
Energia AS, the fair value of assets acquired, liabilities assumed and the
non-controlling interest at the acquisition date.

Recognised amounts of identifiable assets acquired
and liabilites assumed:
in million EUR

Fair value

ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets

443.2
0.3

Long-term financial investments

3.5

Other long-term receivables

0.3

Inventories

5.6

Trade and other receivables

15.6

Cash and cash equivalents

31.4

Total assets

499.9

LIABILITIES
Borrowings
Derivative financial instruments
Trade and other payables
Deferred tax liabilities
Total liabilities
Non-controlling interest

211.1
3.6
8.1
13.0
235.8
2.7

Total identifiable net assets

261.4

Total cost of acquisition

281.3

Goodwill
Cash flow from acquisition of subsidiary

19.9
(249.9)
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The revenue included in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income from 6 November 2018 to 31 December 2018 contributed by
Nelja Energia AS was EUR 13.4 million. Nelja Energia AS also contributed profit of EUR 2.0 million over the same period.
The deferred tax liability of EUR 13.0 million was determined by
the difference between fair values and the carrying amount of the
Lithuanian wind farms identified in the purchasing analysis, which
were calculated on the basis of the current tax rates. In the Republic
of Lithuania corporate income tax is 15%. In the reporting period, the
change in income tax liability totaled EUR 0.6 million (in 2018 EUR 1.0
million) in income statement. Deferred income tax liability arises on the
sale of wind farms.
Goodwill includes non-identifiable assets, which values can not
be accounted on the balance sheet in accordance with IFRS 3
recognition criteria. Therefore as goodwill is recognized intellectual
property (labor), strong reputation of the company and market share
of the company.

36. Sale of subsidiary
In October 2019 Eesti Energia renewable energy subsidiary Enefit
Green signed an agreement that involved to sell 100% of shares in 4E
Biofond OÜ. Enefit Green acquired a 69.88% stake in 4E Biofond last
November as part of Nelja Energia transaction. 4E Biofond OÜ was a
minority shareholder in Vinni Biogaas OÜ and Oisu Biogaas OÜ, owners
and operators of the Vinni and Oisu biogas combined heat and power
(CHP) plants. The majority shareholders of both associations were local
agricultural companies.

18 October 2019

in million EUR
ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment

3.0

Cash and cash equivalents

0.5

Total net assets of the subsidiary disposed

3.5

Non-controlling interest

(1.0)

Sales price

1.1

Loss on sale

(1.4)

Cash inflows in transaction
Proceeds from sale

1.1

Cash and cash equivalents of subsidiary in bank accounts
Total cash inflows in transaction

(0.5)
0.6

37. Event after the reporting date
At the auction held at the State Forest Management Centre (RMK) on
18 February 2020, Eesti Energia AS made the best bid for the Tootsi
Wind Farm registered immovable, bidding EUR 51.5 million. The Group
have been developing the Tootsi Wind Farm project since 2010. The
Group started the construction activities in Tootsi in 2016 under a
building permit and after an official confirmation to the auction results
from RMK it is possible to move on with the project.
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38. Financial information on the parent company

Statement of comprehensive income

Financial information disclosed on the parent company includes
the primary separate financial statements of the parent company,
the disclosure of which is required by the Accounting Act of Estonia.
The primary financial statements of the parent company have been
prepared using the same accounting policies that have been used in
the preparation of the consolidated financial statements. Investments
in subsidiaries and associates are reported at cost in the separate
financial statements of the parent company.

Income statement
in millions EUR
Revenue
Other operating income
Raw materials and consumables used

2019

2018

285.7

297.0

53.2

49.9
(275.6)

(18.4)

(16.3)

Payroll expenses

(40.0)

(35.2)

(2.3)

(2.2)

Other expenses

(80.2)

(50.4)

OPERATING PROFIT

(53.6)

(32.8)

Financial income

85.7

51.3

(29.0)

(30.5)

56.7

20.8

PROFIT BEFORE TAX

3.1

(12.0)

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

3.1

(12.0)

Net financial income (expense)

2018

3.1

(12.0)

Revaluation of hedging instruments

(7.7)

3.5

Other comprehensive income for the year

(7.7)

3.5

(4.6)

(8.5)

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR
Other comprehensive income

-

1 JANUARY – 31 DECEMBER

(251.5)

Financial expenses

1 JANUARY – 31 DECEMBER
2019

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR

Other operating expenses
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment

in millions EUR
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Statement of financial position
in million EUR

in million EUR

2019

1 JANUARY – 31 DECEMBER
2019

1 JANUARY – 31 DECEMBER

2018

2018

EQUITY

ASSETS
Non-current assets

Share capital

621.6

621.6

Property, plant and equipment

32.7

29.4

Share premium

259.8

259.8

Intangible assets

10.3

7.4

62.1

62.1

4.4

0.1

Derivative financial instruments
Investments in subsidiaries

929.3

529.3

Receivables from subsidiaries and other
receivables

184.0

219.2

1,160.7

785.4

Total non-current assets

Statutory reserve capital
Hedge reserve
Retained earnings
Total equity

(2.0)

5.7

215.9

269.9

1,157.4

1,219.1

735.8

851.2

4.8

0.7

LIABILITIES
Non-current liabilities

Current assets
Inventories

Borrowings
4.7

3.2

Greenhouse gas allowances

72.0

123.3

Trade and other receivables

933.5

1,336.2

Derivative financial instruments

13.6

56.3

Cash and cash equivalents

10.1

16.2

Borrowings

174.3

97.9

1,033.9

1,535.2

Trade and other payables

100.7

123.4

2,194.6

2,320.6

Derivative financial instruments

21.0

27.7

0.2

0.1

Total current assets
Total assets

Derivative financial instruments
Provisions
Total non-current liabilities

0.4

0.5

741.0

852.4

Current liabilities

Provisions

296.2

249.1

Total liabilities

Total current liabilities

1,037.2

1,101.5

Total liabilities and equity

2,194.6

2,320.6
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Cash flow statement
in million EUR

in million EUR
1 JANUARY – 31 DECEMBER
2019

2018

Cash flows from operating activities
Profit before tax

3.1

(12.0)

Adjustments
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

1.7

1.6

0.6

0.6

(3.5)

-

(16.2)

(15.6)

Gain/loss on unpaid/unsettled derivatives

28.1

(29.9)

Interest expense on borrowings

29.9

33.1

Interest income

(28.7)

(35.6)

Adjusted net profit

15.0

(57.8)

Amortisation of intangible assets
Profit/loss from sale of property, plant and equipment
Other gains/losses on investments

Net change in current assets relating to operating
activities
Change in receivables relating to operating activities

(8.3)

Change in inventories

(1.4)

(2.1)

Net change in current assets relating to other operating
activities

13.4

(43.6)

19.2

(54.0)

Change in provisions

(0.1)

(0.2)

Change in trade payables

(1.6)

(1.4)

Net change in liabilities related to other operating
activities

9.2

31.7

Total net change in liabilities relating to operating
activities

7.5

30.1

Interest paid and borrowing costs

(21.1)

(26.7)

Interest received

24.6

29.2

45.2

(79.2)

Net change in liabilities relating to operating activities

Net cash flows from operating activities

2019

2018

(8.8)

(8.0)

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment
Dividends received from financial investments
Contribution to the share capital of subsidiaries
Repayments of loans granted to subsidiaries
Change in overdraft granted to subsidiaries
Net cash used in investing activities

4.5

0.3

57.0

15.6

(400.0)

(4.5)

1.5

-

399.4

(206.7)

53.6

(203.3)

Cash flows from financing activities
Received long-term loans
Redeemed bonds
Repayments of bank loans

7.2

Total net change in current assets relating to operating
activities

1 JANUARY – 31 DECEMBER

Dividends paid
Net cash used in financing activities

230.0

270.0

-

(152.0)

(277.9)

(57.9)

(57.0)

(15.8)

(104.9)

44.3

(6.1)

(238.2)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the
period

16.2

254.4

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period

10.1

16.2

(6.1)

(238.2)

Net cash flows

Net increase/(-)decrease in cash and cash equivalents
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Statement of changes in equity
in million EUR
Equity as at 31 December 2017

Share
capital

Share
premium

Statutory
reserve
capital

Hedge
reserve

Currency
translation
differences

621.6

259.8

62.1

2.2

-

Carrying amount of holdings under controlling and significant influence
Carrying amount of holdings under controlling and significant influence using equity method
Adjusted unconsolidated equity as at 31 December 2017 (Note 19)
Profit for the year

-

-

-

Retained
earnings

Total

297.7

1,243.4

(524.7)

(524.7)

(14.4)

8.6

1,074.4

1,068.6

(12.2)

8.6

847.4

1,787.3

-

-

(12.0)

(12.0)

Other comprehensive income for the year

-

-

-

3.5

-

-

3.5

Total comprehensive income for the year

-

-

-

3.5

-

(12.0)

(8.5)

Dividends paid

-

-

-

-

-

(15.8)

(15.8)

Total contributions by and distributions to owners of the company, recognised directly in
equity

-

-

-

-

-

(15.8)

(15.8)

621.6

259.8

62.1

5.7

-

Equity as at 31 December 2018
Carrying amount of holdings under controlling and significant influence

269.9

1,219.1

(529.3)

(529.3)

Carrying amount of holdings under controlling and significant influence using equity method

(14.5)

9.6

1,202.8

1,197.9

Adjusted unconsolidated equity as at 31 December 2018 (Note 19)

(8.8)

9.6

943.4

1,887.7

-

-

3.1

3.1

Profit for the year

-

-

-

Other comprehensive income for the year

-

-

-

(7.7)

-

-

(7.7)

Total comprehensive income for the year

-

-

-

(7.7)

-

3.1

(4.6)

Dividends paid

-

-

-

-

-

(57.0)

(57.0)

Total contributions by and distributions to owners of the company, recognised directly in
equity

-

-

-

-

-

(57.0)

(57.0)

-

-

-

-

-

-

621.6

259.8

62.1

(2.0)

-

215.9

1,157.4

(929.3)

(929.3)

Carrying amount of holdings under controlling and significant influence using equity method

(30.5)

10.3

1,637.8

1,617.6

Adjusted unconsolidated equity as at 31 December 2019 (Note 19)

(32.5)

10.3

924.4

1,845.7

Equity as at 31 December 2019
Carrying amount of holdings under controlling and significant influence

Under the Accounting Act of Estonia, adjusted unconsolidated retained earnings are the amount from which a public limited company can make
payments to its shareholders.
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Independent auditor’s report
To the Shareholder of Eesti Energia AS
(Translation of the Estonian original)

Report on the audit of the consolidated financial statements
Our opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of Eesti Energia AS
(“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (together – “the Group”) as at 31 December 2019, and its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash
flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union.
Our opinion is consistent with our additional report to the Audit Committee dated 21 February 2020.
What we have audited
The Group’s consolidated financial statements comprise:
• the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2019;
• the consolidated income statement and the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended;
• the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended;
• the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended; and
• the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Independence
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
(IESBA Code) and the ethical requirements of the Auditors Activities Act of the Republic of Estonia. We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the IESBA Code and the ethical requirements of the Auditors Activities Act of the Republic of Estonia.
To the best of our knowledge and belief, we declare that non-audit services that we have provided to the Group are in accordance with the applicable law
and regulations in the Republic of Estonia and that we have not provided non-audit services that are prohibited under § 591 of the Auditors Activities Act of
the Republic of Estonia. The non-audit services that we have provided to the Group in 2019 are disclosed in the management report.

Our audit approach
Overview

Materiality

Group
scoping

Overall group audit materiality is EUR 6.7 million, which represents approximately 2,5% of underlying earnings before
interest, tax, depreciation and amortization (“EBITDA”).
We tailored our audit scope based on the risk and size of entities within the Group and performed either a full scope
audit or specific audit procedures over material income statement or balance sheet line items. At the Group level we
tested the consolidation process and performed separate analytical procedures over the components not covered by
the above procedures to confirm our conclusion that no material misstatements exist that may affect the consolidated
financial statements.

Key audit
matters

• Property, plant and equipment impairment assessment

As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and assessed the risks of material misstatement in the consolidated financial statements. In
particular, we considered where the Management Board made subjective judgments; for example, in respect of significant accounting estimates that
involved making assumptions and considering future events that are inherently uncertain. As in all of our audits, we also addressed the risk of management
override of internal controls, including among other matters, consideration of whether there was evidence of bias that represented a risk of material
misstatement due to fraud.
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Materiality
The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of materiality. An audit is designed to obtain reasonable assurance whether the consolidated
financial statements are free from material misstatement. Misstatements may arise due to fraud or error. They are considered material if individually or in
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the consolidated financial statements.
Based on our professional judgment, we determined certain quantitative thresholds for materiality, including the overall Group materiality for the consolidated
financial statements as a whole as set out in the table below. These, together with qualitative considerations, helped us to determine the scope of our audit
and the nature, timing and extent of our audit procedures and to evaluate the effect of misstatements, both individually and in aggregate on the financial
statements as a whole.
Overall group audit materiality

EUR 6.7 million

How we determined it

Approximately 2.5% of underlying earnings before interest, tax,
depreciation and amortization (EBITDA).

Rationale for the materiality
benchmark applied

We have applied the EBITDA benchmark, as we believe that is the
key measure used both internally by management and by external
stakeholders in evaluating the performance of the Group.

Key audit matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Property, plant and equipment impairment assessment

We began our procedures by assessing whether impairment indicators exist
for the assets not identified by management. We took into account our
knowledge of the Group and its business activities as well as the
accumulated knowledge related to the industries where the Group operates.
In addition, we performed inquiries with management and key employees
and inspected internal documents of the Group. We found the
management’s conclusions regarding assets with impairment indicators to
be consistent with the evidence we obtained.

The significant assumptions used by the management and their impact on
the recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment are described in
notes 4 and 6 of the financial statements.
As at 31 December 2019 the Group has EUR 2,913 million of property, plant
and equipment, the majority of which relate to the shale mining, shale oil
production and power generation assets in Estonia. Volatile market prices
for electricity and CO2 emissions quotas and uncertainty regarding their
future are an indication that the recoverable amount of the assets related to
the production of electricity may be below their carrying amount.
The recoverable amount of the Group's property, plant and equipment is
determined by their value in use which is based on discounted future cash
flows.
Impairment assessment of these assets is subjective and requires significant
judgments due to the inherent uncertainty involved in the forecasting and
discounting of future cash flows. Many of the key underlying assumptions
are impacted by global and country-specific political and economic factors.
Consequently, there is a high risk that due to the judgemental factors,
potential impairment may be unidentified, or the impairment loss be
miscalculated. Due to the above reasons we considered this area to be a
key audit matter.

We evaluated management's key assumptions and estimates used in the
calculation of the recoverable value of the assets identified for impairment,
including the assumptions related to operational performance, such as
operating cost forecasts, electricity production volumes and reliability of
production assets. We challenged management’s assumptions by
corroborating the information with the information received from operational
level management and by referencing them to the actual performance of the
Group and to internal documents of the Group, such as budget forecasts
and minutes of meetings of governing bodies. Where management had used
market inputs, such as electricity and CO2 emissions quota prices, we
reconciled them to available third-party information sources. We involved
PwC valuation specialists to help us assess the reasonableness of the
discount rates used by management. We benchmarked these to external
data and challenged the assumptions based on our knowledge of the Group
and its industry. Based on the audit evidence obtained from the above
procedures we did not identify any material misstatements, contradictions or
omissions in the key assumptions and estimates used by management in
the calculation of the recoverable value of property, plant and equipment.
Based on our audit procedures we found the management’s judgment to be
consistent with available information and the disclosures to appropriately
reflect the sources of sensitivity and related impacts on the recoverable
value in accordance with the requirements of IAS 36 and IAS 1.
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How we tailored our Group audit scope
We tailored the scope of our audit in order to perform sufficient work to enable us to provide an opinion on the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
taking into account the structure of the Group, the accounting processes and controls, and the industry in which the Group operates.
Accordingly, based on the size and risk characteristics, we performed a full scope audit of the financial information for the following entities within the Group:
Enefit Energiatootmine AS (electricity generation and shale oil production), Enefit Kaevandused AS (oil shale mining), Elektrilevi OÜ (transmission grid),
Eesti Energia AS (parent company), Enefit Green AS (electricity generation from renewable sources), and its subsidiaries (electricity generation from
renewable sources). In addition, specific audit procedures over significant balances and transactions were performed for sales revenue of Enefit SIA
(electricity sale in Latvia) and Enefit UAB (electricity sales in Lithuania) and for the potential impairment of assets of Enefit American Oil (oil shale mining
development rights in USA), Enefit Solutions AS (manufacturing of metal structures) and Enefit Outotec Technology OÜ (Enefit technology testing facility). At
the Group level we tested the consolidation process and performed separate analytical procedures over the components not covered by the above
procedures to confirm our conclusion that no material misstatements exist that may affect the consolidated financial statements. Information describing the
structure of the Group is included in note 10 of the consolidated financial statements.

Other information
The Management Board is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the Management report (but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon).
Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information identified above and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Management Board and those charged with governance for the consolidated financial statements
The Management Board is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union, and for such internal control as the Management Board determines is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
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In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Management Board is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Management Board either intends to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:
•

•
•
•

•
•

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.
Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the
Management Board.
Conclude on the appropriateness of the Management Board’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the
date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.
Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated
financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities within the Group to express an
opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the Group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

182

6
| Eesti Energia Annual Report | Consolidated financial statements |

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.
We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to
communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related
safeguards.
From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law
or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.
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Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
Appointment and period of our audit engagement
We were first appointed as auditors of Eesti Energia AS, as a public interest entity, for the financial year ended 31 December 2005. Our appointment has
been renewed by tenders and shareholder resolutions in the intermediate years, representing the total period of our uninterrupted engagement appointment
for Eesti Energia AS, as a public interest entity, of 15 years.
AS PricewaterhouseCoopers

Tiit Raimla
Certified auditor in charge, auditor’s certificate no.287
21 February 2020


This version of our report is a translation from the original, which was prepared in Estonian. All possible care has been taken to ensure that the translation
is an accurate representation of the original. However, in all matters of interpretation of information, views or opinions, the original language version of our
report takes precedence over this translation.
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Profit Allocation proposal
The retained earnings of Eesti Energia Group as at 31 December 2019 were EUR 879,094,457.63, of
which the net profit for the year 2019 amounted to EUR 22,415,933.74.

The Management Board proposes under section 332 of the Commercial Code of Estonia to allocate
the retained earnings of Eesti Energia Group as at 31 December 2019 as follows:
1. to pay EUR 23,200,000 as dividends to the shareholder;
2. not to distribute the remaining retained earnings of EUR 855,894,457,63 due to the continuing
financing needs of the Eesti Energia Group.
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Signatures of the Management Board
to the Annual Report for Financial
Year 2019
In the 2019 financial year, the Eesti Energia Management Board
complied as required with the duties of members of the Management
Board, and led the Eesti Energia Group to achieve its targets. The
Management Board has regularly reported to the Supervisory Board,
has acted within its powers and has submitted all of the information
necessary for decision-making to the Supervisory Board. The Management Board is aware of and hereby confirms its responsibility for the
preparation of the annual report and for the data therein.

The Annual Report of the Eesti Energia Group for the financial year
ended on 31 December 2019 consists of the management report, the
consolidated financial statements, the auditor’s report and the profit
allocation proposal. The Management Board has prepared the management report, the consolidated financial statements and the profit
allocation proposal.

Members of the Management Board
Andri Avila

21 February 2020
Chairman of the Management Board
Hando Sutter

Raine Pajo

Agnes Roos

Margus Vals
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Glossary
Circulating fluidised bed (CFB) technology – Circulating fluidised bed combustion technology whereby larger (unburnt) particles are returned to the furnace
Clean Dark Spread (CDS) – Eesti Energia’s margin between the price of electricity (in NP
Estonia) and oil shale costs and CO2 costs (taking into account the price of CO2 allowance
futures maturing in December and the amount of CO2 emitted in the generation of a MWh
of electricity)
CO2 emission allowance – According to the European Union Emissions Trading System (ETS),
one emission allowance gives the holder the right to emit one tonne of carbon dioxide (CO2).
The limit on the total number of emission allowances available gives them a monetary value
Controllable production assets – Production assets which operate on energy sources such
as oil shale, oil shale gas, wood chips, peat and tyre chips

1,000,000 MWh = 1,000 GWh = 1 TWh
Net debt – Debt obligations (amortised) less cash and cash equivalents (incl. bank deposits
with maturities exceeding 3 months), units in money market funds and investments in
fixed income bonds
Network losses – The amount of electricity delivered to customers is somewhat smaller
than the amount supplied from power plants to the network because during transfer a
part of electricity in the power lines and transformers converts into heat. To a lesser extent,
network losses are caused by power theft and incorrect measuring. The network operator
has to compensate energy losses and for this a corresponding amount of electricity has to be
purchased every hour
NP system price – The price on the Nord Pool power exchange that is calculated on the basis
of all purchase and sale bids without taking into account transmission capacity limitations

EBITDA – Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortisation

OHSAS, ISO 14001 – International standards which deal with risk management in the
area of occupational health and safety, the environment management system, and
accident prevention

EBITDA margin – Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortisation
divided by revenue

Oil shale resource charge – A charge to be paid to the state for the use of 1 tonne of oil shale
located in the mineral deposit

FFO – Funds from operations. Cash flow from operations, excluding changes in
working capital

Position hedged with forward transactions – The quantity of electricity and shale oil to
be sold and emission allowances to be purchased in future periods whose average price is
previously fixed

Financial leverage – Net debt divided by the sum of net debt and equity
Future – A contract between counterparties which obligates to buy or sell an underlying
asset (e.g. a commodity) at a pre-agreed price
Green paper on industrial policy – A document prepared by the state and employers’
associations which outlines the bottlenecks of industrial development and suggests solutions
for their elimination and improving industrial development
Level of water reservoirs – The level of water in the reservoirs of hydro power plants as a
percentage of the maximum possible level. Most of the Nordic countries’ electricity production
is based on hydro power whose output depends on the level of water reservoirs

RAB – Regulated Asset Base, which represents the value of assets used to provide
regulated services
Return on Fixed Assets (ROFA) – Operating profit (rolling 12 months) divided by average fixed
assets excluding assets under construction (allocated to specific products)
ROIC – Return on Invested Capital, calculated by dividing operating profit by average
invested capital
SAIDI – System Average Interruption Duration Index. The sum of all customer interruption
durations in minutes divided by the total number of customers served

Liquidity – Amount of liquid assets. Sum of cash and cash equivalents, short-term financial
investments and deposits with a maturity of more than 3 months

SAIFI – System Average Interruption Frequency Index. The total number of customer
interruptions divided by the total number of customers served

Maintenance and repair expenditures – Expenditures incurred to maintain the existing
production capacities

Tax footprint – An indicator which reflects the contribution made to society through taxes

MWh – megawatt hour. 1 MWh is the unit of energy generated (or consumed) in one hour by
a device operating at a constant power of 1 MW (megawatt)

Variable profit – Profit after deducting variable costs from sales revenue
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Investor information
The Group’s results for the financial year 2020 are released as follows:
• Q1 interim report – 5 May 2020
• Q2 interim report – 30 July 2020
• Q3 interim report – 29 October 2020
• Audited results for financial year 2020 – 26 February 2021

Eesti Energia’s financial results and investor relations contacts are
available on the Group’s website at
https://www.energia.ee/en/ettevottest/investorile
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Eesti Energia AS
Lelle 22, 11318, Tallinn
tel: +372 46 52 222
info@energia.ee
www.energia.ee
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